



Thesis for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

PERSONALIZED COALESCED MODEL BASED ON MULTIDIMENSIONAL HEALTHY BEHAVIOR INDEX FOR LIFESTYLE ADAPTATION

Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal

Department of Computer Science and Engineering Graduate School Kyung Hee University Republic of Korea

August 2021

PERSONALIZED COALESCED MODEL BASED ON MULTIDIMENSIONAL HEALTHY BEHAVIOR INDEX FOR LIFESTYLE ADAPTATION

Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal

Department of Computer Science and Engineering Graduate School Kyung Hee University Republic of Korea

August 2021



PERSONALIZED COALESCED MODEL BASED ON MULTIDIMENSIONAL HEALTHY BEHAVIOR INDEX FOR LIFESTYLE ADAPTATION

by

Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal

Supervised by

Prof. Sungyoung Lee

Submitted to the Department of Computer Science and Engineering and the Faculty of Graduate School of Kyung Hee University in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

712 134

Dissertation Committee:
Prof. Tae-Choong Chung
Prof. Tae-Seong Kim (m, Turum)
Prof. Sung-Ho Bae
Prof. Seok-Won Lee
Prof. Seong-Bae Park
Prof. Sungyoung Lee



Alhamdulillah! by the grace of almighty Allah, I am dedicating this achievement to my late *Father* (may Allah rest his soul in Jannah), *Mother, Father-in-Law, Mother-in-Law, Wife, Daughters, Sister, Brothers*, and *Teachers*, who have strengthened my resolve with their continuous support for facing all hard phases to complete *Ph.D.* degree. I will remain indebted to their patience and support.





Acknowledgement

All praises and thanks be to Allah, the Lord of all existence for all his blessings upon me. The Almighty gave me the strength, valor, and persistence during my doctoral study.

I would like to express my immense gratitude to my supervisor Prof. Sungyoung Lee who guided, strengthened, supported and encouraged me to overcome the difficult challenges during my time as his student. His immense wealth of knowledge and meticulous attention to detail are an inspiration to me, and his standards always make me aim higher than I thought possible. His firm yet gentle hand has guided me to where I am today. His dynamic personality, unconditional help, and excellent guidance made me finish my thesis. His experience and constructive criticism proved invaluable during my research. I am eternally grateful to him for his great role in improving my skills such as thinking, creativity and technical soundness which are the foundation of quality research.

I thank my co-supervisor Prof. Seong-Bae Park for his support and consideration. I also thank the dissertation evaluation committee for their insightful comments and valuable suggestions during the dissertation defense. Their valuable comments improved the presentation and content of this dissertation.

I am very thankful to all of my current and former Ubiquitous computing lab fellows and colleagues for their kind support in my personal and academic life at Kyung Hee University. I am extremely grateful to them for their time, expertise, and encouragement in my course of research. They were always present to navigate me in difficult situations of my PhD duration. I am highly obliged to brilliant researchers Dr. Asad Masood Khattak, Dr. Wajahat Ali Khan, Dr. Bilal Amin, Dr. Saeed Ullah, Dr. Kifayat Ullah, Dr. Maqbool Hussain, Dr. Muhammad Afzal, Dr. Shujaat Hussain, Dr. Rahman Ali, Dr. Mahmood Ahmad, Dr. Ahsan Raza Kazmi, Dr. Muhammad Hameed



Siddiqi, Dr. Taqdir Ali, Dr. Muhammad Idris, Dr. Maqbool Ali, Dr. Jamil Hussain, Dr. Junaid Rehman, Dr. Muhammad Asif Razzaq, Mr. Syed Imran Ali, Dr. Usman Akhtar, Mr. Musarrat Hussain, Mr. Anees Ul Hassan, Mr. Sadiq, Mr. Muhammad Zaki Ansaar, Mr. Ubaid Ur Rehman, Mr. Fahad Satti, Mr. Asim Abbas, Mr. Cam-Hao Hua, Dr. Mugahed Al-antari and Dr. Tri Dao-Tan Nguyen. They have contributed a lot in my personal and academic life inside and outside lab. I would also like to give a special thanks to all my incredible Korean lab colleagues. Especially Mrs. Seoungae Kim, Dr. Taeho Hur, and Dr. Jaehun Bang, who worked with me as a team and made my stay in South Korea memorable and splendid. This journey would not have been possible without their support.

I would like to extend my thanks to MS advisor in School of Electrical Engineering and Computer Science (SEECS), NUST, Islamabad especially Dr. Hafiz Farooq Ahmad, Dr. Arshad Ali, and Dr. Sohail Iqbal for their guidance and continuous support during my study in Korea.

In closing, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my father, mother, and siblings. Their endless love, support, prayers, and encouragement have made this dissertation possible. To my wife, Mrs. Omema Syed, I would like to thank her for her trust in me, her love, support and patience during this time. Finally, to my daughters Aaira and Azbah, my greatest gift from Allah, for being my constant source of inspiration and motivation.

> Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal August, 2021

Collection @ khu

Table of Contents

now	ledgment	i
le of	Contents	iii
of F	Tigures	vi
of T	Tables	ix
traci	t Transfil a glader affer and the second sec	xi
Intro	oduction	1
1.1	Motivation	2
1.2	Problem Statement	5
1.3	Key Contributions	6
	1.3.1 Behavior quantification	7
	1.3.2 Healthy behavior index development	7
	1.3.3 Behavioral stage identification	8
	1.3.4 Bridging behavioral stage and healthy behavior index	8
	1.3.5 Feedback driven intervention adaptation	9
1.4	Thesis Organization	9
pter	2 Related Work	12
2.1	Critical Lifestyle Factors	12
2.2	Lifestyle assessment and Indexing	14
2.3	Theories for Behavior Adaptation	17
	now e of of F of 7 	nowledgment e of Contents of Figures of Tables rract ntroduction .1 Motivation .2 Problem Statement .3 Key Contributions .1.3.1 Behavior quantification .1.3.2 Healthy behavior index development .1.3.3 Behavioral stage identification .1.3.4 Bridging behavioral stage and healthy behavior index .1.3.5 Feedback driven intervention adaptation .4 Thesis Organization .2 Lifestyle Factors .2 Lifestyle assessment and Indexing .3 Theories for Behavior Adaptation



2.4	4 Intervention Types and Impact		
2.5	.5 Health Behavior Adaptation Interventions - HBAIs		
	2.5.1 Adaptive Interventions - AI		21
	2.5.2 Just-in-Time Interventions - JITIs		25
Chanta	an 2 Quantification of Contributing Poherica Factors		77
Chapte	er 5 Quantification of Contributing Benavior Factors		21
3.1	Overview		27
3.2	2 Existing work		28
3.3	Mapping of HBI with behavior understanding and change related	theories	31
3.4	Proposed methodology for healthy behavior index derivation		32
	3.4.1 Factors' Weight-age Identification		33
	3.4.2 System architecture: healthy behavior quantification an	d index (HBQI)	
	modeling		40
	3.4.3 Integration of healthy behavior index with wellness appli	cation	45
3.5	Results and discussion		46
	3.5.1 Study Participants		46
	3.5.2 Participants experience evaluation		47
3.6	5 Summary		49
Chapte	ter 4 Behavior Context based Intervention Mapping		51
4.1	Overview		51
	4.1.1 Unhealthy Lifestyle Behavior		52
	4.1.2 Lifestyle impact on Chronic Diseases		52
	4.1.3 Wellness Management Applications		53
4.2	2 Background		54
4.3	User-Centric Adaptive Intervention (UCAI) Methodology for Be	havior Change .	57
	4.3.1 Lifestyle Behavior Quantification (LBQ)		58
	4.3.2 Behavior-Context Mapping		60
	4.3.3 Personalization of the Intervention: Intervention Selection	n	66
	4.3.4 Feedback Evaluation		67



4.4	Realization of Methodology through Wellness Management Platform	68	
	4.4.1 Mining Minds in a nut shell	68	
	4.4.2 Lifestyle Behavior Monitoring Framework	70	
4.5	Experimentation and Results: Evaluation of proposed Methodology	72	
	4.5.1 Prediction Model Accuracy and Recall	73	
	4.5.2 Experimental setup	73	
	4.5.3 Discussion	83	
4.6	Summary	85	
Chapte	r 5 Adaptation of Intervention for Behavior Change	87	
5.1	Overview	87	
5.2	Existing Work	88	
	5.2.1 Mobile Health	88	
	5.2.2 Wearable Health	89	
5.3	Wellness Management Platforms	90	
5.4	Mining Minds	92	
5.5	Methodology		
	5.5.1 Realization of Methodology through Wellness Management Platform-		
	Mining Minds	98	
	5.5.2 Adaptive Education	100	
	5.5.3 Adaptive Recommendations	103	
	5.5.4 Adaptive Q&A Selection	109	
5.6	Evaluation of methodology	112	
	5.6.1 Statistical Analysis of methodology evaluation	116	
5.7	Summary	123	
Chapte	r 6 Conclusion and Future Direction	124	
6.1	Conclusion	124	
6.2	Future Direction	126	



Bibliogr	aphy 1	27
Append	x A List of Acronyms 1	51
Append	x B List of Publications 1	54
B.1	International Journal Papers [12]	54
B.2	Domestic Journal Paper [4]	56
B.3	International Conference Papers [18]	56
B.4	Domestic Conference Papers [5]	59
B.5	Patents [6]	60





List of Figures

1.1	Idea diagram of the proposed research studies with chapters mapping	8
2.1	The details of contributing lifestyle factors.	15
2.2	Six categories of intervention by John Heron [1]	21
2.3	Categorical description of interventions.	22
3.1	A survey analysis for document selection	30
3.2	Healthy behavior index derivation and evaluation process	33
3.3	Work-flow of text mining methodology for concept identification	34
3.4	Integration Mining Minds framework with HBI methodology	41
3.5	Scale mean value per item	48
3.6	UEQ scale value	49
3.7	Grouped UEQ scale values	50
3.8	Benchmark of HBI service	50
4.1	Abstract flow of UCAI methodology	54
4.2	Architecture for behavior stage prediction model	63
4.3	The Mining Minds conceptual architecture with integration of lifestyle behavior	
	monitoring framework	67
4.4	Functional diagram of lifestyle behavior monitoring framework	69
4.5	Behavior status of volunteers for comparison	74
4.6	Relative change in healthy behavior index gain	76
4.7	Disease wise service utilization comparison	78



4.8	Questionnaire based survey result obtained from volunteers	79
4.9	Categories wise assessment of the wellness application from volunteers	79
4.10	The system usability score of MM++.	80
4.11	MM++ portfolio analysis based on Hedonic and Pragmatic qualities	81
4.12	AttrakDiff dimensions' average values for the MM++.	82
4.13	AttrakDiff adjective-pairs' mean values for MM++ [2]	83
5.1	Stage wise intervention for adaptation of behavior.	95
5.2	Real-life personalized intervention generation steps based on behavior stage	96
5.3	Realization of intervention generation through behavior observation and assessment.	99
5.4	Workflow of Adaptive Education and Q&A Selection.	103
5.5	Adaptive Recommendation for diet.	104
5.6	Work flow of Adaptation Recommendation for diet.	104
5.7	Work flow of Adaptive Recommendation for Physical Exercise	105
5.8	Multi-phases adaptive intervention management life cycle	111
5.9	User interfaces of designed application.	113
5.10	HBI results.	114
5.11	Change comparison of behavior and fitness factors.	117
5.12	Disease-wise change comparison of physical activity behavior of patients	119
5.13	Disease-wise change comparison of nutrition behavior of patients	120
5.14	Disease-wise change comparison of weight fitness factor of patients	122



List of Tables

2.1	Cause of Non-Communicable Diseases	13
2.2	Assessment of multiple lifestyle behavior in literature.	17
2.3	Behavior change techniques and their related contents	19
2.4	Catalogue of intervention type and mode for different lifestyle behaviors in literature.	23
3.1	Lifestyle factor based assessment process.	31
3.2	HBI service mapping to behavior change theories	32
3.3	Evaluation of key factors from experts	35
3.4	Evalution of Kappa for expert agreement	36
3.5	Kappa-based evaluation of inter-rater agreement.	37
3.6	Key factors definition along with expert agreement status	38
3.7	Categories of health behavior risks factors	39
3.8	Health behavior risks factors weight-age	40
3.9	Health Behavior Risks Factors	40
3.10	Evaluation of multiple cases from experts	45
3.11	Participants demographic Information	47
4.1	Contribution of lifestyle factors in chronic diseases	53
4.2	Important factors' definition, expert driven rank along with evaluation process .	55
4.3	Categories wise description and score of health behavior risk factors	57
4.4	HBSCQ questions related to TTM stages	64
4.5	Intervention categories to stimulate the user for behavior change	65
4.6	Classification recall and precision through behavior context prediction model	70



4.7	Accuracy of multiple classifier to predict behavior context	73
4.8	Multiple scenarios for the evaluation	75
5.1	Summary of most utilized wellness platforms	91
5.2	Data sources and sensors utilized in mining minds.	94
5.3	Activities with MET values	108
5.4	Comparative analysis of the proposed methodology.	115





Abstract

Industrial trends in the 21st century have greatly enhanced the positive efficacy and coverage of Healthcare services, to improve worldwide life-expectancy. Consequently in an aging society, the demand for increasing the depth and breadth of the healthcare services has led to unprecedented financial constraints. The enormity of these constraints, necessitate the transformation of current care models from disease-management to disease-avoidance. Preventive personalized healthcare and a proactive approach towards self-managing healthy lifestyle, has evolved the latest trends in societal development. Significant scientific evidence exists; establishing a strong correlation between cognitive lifestyle choices and many disease's triggers. Lifestyle behaviors and habits are the key predictors of illness, morbidity, premature mortality, and fitness. A large part of the healthcare service ecosystem has thus been transformed from cure to care. Optimization of this paradigm shift, in terms of its universal applicability, for various social-economic statuses, necessitates the usage of ubiquitous technologies, such as IoT, Green Computing, Edge Computing, and others. This requirement is favorably aligned with the growth of Smart Devices, in terms of their availability, usability, and unobtrusiveness. Advent of digital technologies in daily life, thus provides various sources of explicit and implicit user feedback data, which can be naively transformed into information and then be used for extracting customized healthcare and wellness knowledge.

However, an integrated and comprehensive approach towards building a multidimensional coalesced model of implicit and explicit knowledge is still lacking. This thesis report, provides a thorough design, implementation, verification, and validation strategy towards the realization of such a customizable, multidimensional, and scalable model, which is of utmost importance towards establishing a ubiquitous and healthy society.

Current state-of-the-art techniques, models, and frameworks, rely on parti pris and intermittent



combination of expert driven approaches with sensory data, which seldom moves beyond the confines of simple gamification strategies. Essentially, several health management applications, in the real world provide limited support for self-quantification based feedback and integration of wellness sensors, for achieving some predetermined and and constricted personalization of wellness goals. For these applications the notion of ubiquity is limited towards the availability and usability of various platforms, such as smartphones, fitness bands, and smart watches. The attraction and novelty of these applications stems from their collections of lifelog data and its visualization to provide goal-driven feedback. However, these applications use a one-size-fit-for-all strategy and are unable to discourage the adaptation of unhealthy and adoption of healthy behaviors, making them ineffective in the long run as their users lose interest. Nevertheless, the existing platforms, provide a stable scaffolding for the creation of the Healthy Behaviour Index, which provides an answer for each of the following three research questions:

(1) How can we provide scalability to quantify the complex behavior of a user for lifestyle assessment?

(2) How can we incorporate the changes in a user's current behavioral stage to form a personalized notion of differences between a healthy and unhealthy lifestyle?

(3) How can we amalgamate a user's implicit and explicit feedback to create a coalesced lifestyle management model?

The main contributions of the work are (1) Leveraging the user profile and the daily lifelog for accurately identifying the risk behavioral patterns, (2) Establishing a one-to-one mapping between a user's behavioral stage and the behavioral condition (3) A methodology for an adaptive recommendation targeting specific behavioral patterns (4) Divert the direction of fitness-oriented applications towards behavior-foundation applications (5) A comprehensive study evaluation based on users comprised of an elderly age group with non-communicable diseases.

A real-world user-centric statistical evaluation is applied through the User Experience Questionnaire (UEQ), System Usability Score, and AttrakDiff tools respectively. The study involves 103 registered participants (curious about chronic disease) for a Korean wellness management organization. They used the adaptive intervention service over 12 weeks, the results for which were evaluated through UEQ, SUS, and AttrakDiff. We observed an overall novelty of the value 0.88



Collection @ khu

showing the potential interest of participants. The gain in behavior change is drawn from implicit feedback, which depicts that behavior context-based methods have improved the adaptation in behavior at a steady pace for the long term. The explicit feedback of the wellness application based on the proposed methodology obtained "Good" and "Desired" status.





Introduction

Worldwide, non-communicable chronic diseases (NCDs) are the leading cause of morbidity and mortality. These NCDs are largely promoted by unhealthy behaviors. Indeed, malnutrition, alcohol abuse, addictive smoking, sedentariness, and stress are common modifiable risk factors, causing a great financial burden as healthcare costs. Currently, people are more and more suffering from these lifestyle-related NCDs, changing lifestyle behavior and preserving a healthy lifestyle are focusing area of public health sector. So, predictors and pathways of behavior adaptation are main focus of healthcare-industry research. The key concern is about right intervention to the right person at right time. The definition of term right intervention requires understanding of the purpose, consequences, and output of the intervention.

In this information and communication technologies (ICT) era, growing number of consumers and medical devices have shifted the focus of health and wellbeing of individuals and populations, through care coordination, information sharing, and behavior change, ultimately developing the Connected Health (CH) concept. It is a paradigm looks after the community wide health in a "comprehensive" and "linked" manner by leveraging a variety of technologies. The technological shift has a significant impact on conventional healthcare model design. These methods emphasize preventative-personalized health care rather than cure. Consequently, an opportunity for healthcare providers to focus critical person at right time for the appropriate medical cure.

Behavioral Informatics (BI) is a new shinning star of the CH galaxy. Recently, it is emerging as an independent scientific field which tackles the monitoring, assessment, modelling and inference of behavior so as to lead successful interventions that modify unhealthy behavioral patterns with the help of ubiquitous technology. It has the potential to guide individuals in behavior adaptation to improve mental and physical health. In particular, ubiquitous computing has several advan-



tages, including accessibility, personalization, cost-efficiency, and customization. Nowadays, the advancement in mobile computing brings new opportunities to generate health interventions and promote large improvements for behavior adaptation. Thus, the union of informatics and psychology is denoted as persuasive design and refers to all technological intervention.

The opening chapter will contain the main motivations for this process in Section 1.1, the problem statement along with research questions in Section 1.2, key contributions of this research in Section 1.3, and finally, the summary of dissertation is outlined in Section 1.4.

1.1 Motivation

We are living in an era of persuasive technology driven by interactive computing with the design intention of behavior adaptation. A number of research has demonstrated the usage of these technologies in a multiple contexts like advertising, promoting healthy nutrition, active routine, and managing energy consumption. Still, effectively influencing an individual's behavior is a challenging objective. Persuasive systems may be even more convincing than their counterparts since humans respond similarly to computers as they do to humans, whereas computers are more persistent and accessible than humans.

To be receptive intervention, system should intervene the right behavior, with right strategy, at the right time. The emphasized key elements for effective behavior adaptation: First, the objective of intervention attempt needs to be successfully receptive. Here, it refers to the targeted identified behavior that the intervention is intentionally designed to adapt. Second, a large variety of behavior-based strategies are available, in which a context based persuasive intervention can be framed: an intervention can be categorised into authoritative or facilitative. The facilitative intervention supports to fulfil the goal while authoritative indicate the unhealthy situation of the behavior. It is necessary to understand the situation of person with respect to the behavior and then select appropriate way of intervention for fruitful response. Finally, the intervention needs to be delivered at a time that enables the recipient to attend to it, and, if immediate action is required, one that provides the opportunity for the action.

The challenge is to identify the target behavior, appropriate intervention strategy and the right time for a persuasion. It is hard to determine in advance without knowing the person behavior



status, context and situation. The limitation of behavior understanding is the qualitative nature of the human behavior. It is observable that other person can see or hear. It is not the feeling but the expression how one should response to the antecedents and the consequences are the result of behaviors. So, it is accompanied by an antecedent (trigger) that initiates the behavior and is followed by a result, or a reaction to the behavior. Events or environments that precipitate a behavior can occur right before an action or as a result of a sequence of previous events. For adults and elderlies, the sequence of events for a particular behavior can be modified to avoid or change the behavior.

The measurement of the behavior drives for the quantification. It is necessary to understand the condition and status of the behavior for modification. The change without understanding may lead to confusion and not able to achieve the desired results. So, self quantification is a continuous process to track all aspects of their daily lives, including physical activities, sedentary hours, number of steps, dinning times, eating foods, amount of sleep, quality of sleep, alcohol consumption, smoking status, heart rate and many others. According to proponents of the campaign, such monitoring not only helps people to learn more about themselves, but it can also enable them to take steps to change unhealthy for their better health and lives. Now, the ambient intelligent world contains distributed smart devices which operate unobtrusively to understand the activity status and its context. In this case, context sensing may assist in deciding effective persuasive ends based on the user's context and activities. Users would be more likely to recognize the message if it is presented in a position that is important to their behavior and context.

The success of behavior adaptation lies in the understanding of behavior-stagechange.Researchers have identified in behavior adaptation, people pass through a series of phases. Every person spend different amount of time in each stage, however the necessary steps to progress the next stage remain same. The efficacy of change processes is uncertain depending on user context to promote improvement, prevent relapse and trigger transformation. So action-oriented interventions ignore the behavior-stage. The quantified behavior is mapped with the behavior-context based stage for the assessment of the behavioral stage. Behavioral stages can be categorized into multiple levels depending on the user's knowledge, mindset, and actions. According to Bloom's taxonomy, which is related to learning, the behavior can be classified into six different levels based on knowledge and comprehension. the stages are *Precontemplation, Contemplation, Preparation*,



Action, Maintenance, and Relapse.

Once a behavioral stage is identified, then appropriate intervention is selected based on the expert defined rule. According to Heron's intervention model, there are two styles of interventions authoritative and facilitative, which are further categorized into prescriptive, informative, confronting, supportive, catalytic, and cathartic. The authoritative interventions are suitable at the precontemplation and contemplation stages. When it is necessary to make the person understand through knowledge about the behavior, its pros & cons, challenges, and consequences. The purpose is to comprehend the behaviors and prepare mind for adaptation. The interventions a this stage mainly focused on the education. The educational intervention needs to be modified as per person behavior and context. Once initial stage is obtained then transfer the intervention to achieve the next level. The facilitative interventions support the consumer to achieve the actionable target. Hence improve the receptiveness of the interventions. The intervention guide step by step to achieve the goal towards desired behavior as per the response and feedback.

The feedback driven adaptation of intervention is the orchestrator of intervention management. The feedback is divided into implicit and explicit. The implicit feedback is the representation of the responsiveness of intervention and its impact. The lifelog analytics support to identify and judge the change in behavior after the intervention as an impact. The positive impact represents the attitude and behavior stage. On the basis of positive response, the adaptation in intervention can be to achieve the next level towards complete adoption of new behavior or change the unhealthy one. The explicit feedback is also necessary as there are limitation of the implicit feedback because of lifelog dependency on different devices and environment. The explicit feedback-based evaluation depends on user experience. It is a well-known and widely employed process to estimate the subjective perception of end-users towards the intervention. Generally, end-users have a different experience for the same intervention due to personal abilities, knowledge, liking, and requirements. However, it is necessary to infer the root cause of specific behavior. Sometimes, explicit feedback has some biasness due to human memory involvement, mental status, environmental context and many more. Thus, the mapping of implicit and explicit feedback against the particular intervention or behavior support for the change in intervention content and context.



1.2 Problem Statement

Current state-of-the-art techniques, models, and frameworks, rely on parti pris and intermittent combination of expert driven approaches with sensory data, which seldom moves beyond the confines of simple gamification strategies. Essentially, several health management applications, in the real world provide limited support for self-quantification based feedback and integration of well-ness sensors, for achieving some predetermined and and constricted personalization of wellness goals. For these applications the notion of ubiquity is limited towards the availability and usability of various platforms, such as smartphones, fitness bands, and smart watches. The attraction and novelty of these applications stems from their collections of lifelog data and its visualization to provide goal-driven feedback. However, these applications use a one-size-fit-for-all strategy and are unable to discourage the adaptation of unhealthy and adoption of healthy behaviors, making them ineffective in the long run as their users lose interest.

However, an integrated and comprehensive approach towards building a multidimensional coalesced model of implicit and explicit knowledge is still lacking. This thesis report, provides a thorough design, implementation, verification, and validation strategy towards the realization of such a customizable, multidimensional, and scalable model, which is of utmost importance towards establishing a ubiquitous and healthy society.

Nevertheless, the existing platforms, provide a stable scaffolding for the identification of daily life activities, visualization of activities status, goal based indication and support for community competition. The limitations of the existing system lead the following research question to emphasis the problem.

1. How to quantify the complex behavior of a user for lifestyle assessment? The lifestyle consists of multiple physical factors like addictive habits, nutrition habits, physical activities, sleeping routine, and many others. The impacting factors are social, environmental, financial, spiritual, and mental. The physical factors are the modifiable factors and maintaining healthy status support avoiding and prevent the NCDs. The quantified status of these modifiable factors guides the person either to improve or maintain the states. The self-defined and guidelines-based individual factors' quantification processes are well defined. However, to draw a combined impact of these complex behavior is still under investigation.



As a consequence, designing a comprehensive and scalable index to cope overall status of modifiable-lifestyle-factors is the non-trivial target.

- 2. How to identify the current behavioral stage from a quantified lifestyle? The receptivity of an intervention depends on the behavioral-context. The knowledge and understanding of the consequences of behavior triggers the adaptation. The interventional impact is temporary and chances of relapse of unhealthy behavior are very high with out educating and preparing the person. Currently, state-of-art wellness applications support the short term change in lifestyle behavior through virtualisation and community competition but lacking in developing the healthy behavior. So, the intermediate target is to intervene the unhealthy behaviors driven by behavioral stage to achieve long term impact.
- 3. How to analyse the user's satisfaction given the behavior stage-based intervention? Behavior adaptation is a slow and steady process that requires continuous monitoring and change in interventions to win the attention and interest of the person. The impact of human memory in explicit responses of the survey are not avoidable, so the hybrid approach of the implicit and explicit feedback is necessary to estimate the behavior status. The ultimate goal of behavior adaptation is to analyse the users' satisfaction through implicit and explicit feedback to maintain the attention and interest.

The main contributions of the work are (1) Leveraging the user profile and the daily lifelog for accurately identifying the risk behavioral patterns, (2) Establishing a one-to-one mapping between a user's behavioral stage and the behavioral condition, (3) A methodology for an adaptive recommendation targeting specific behavioral patterns, and finally (4) Divert the direction of fitness-oriented applications towards behavior-development applications .

1.3 Key Contributions

Behavior adaptation is complex and slow process requires a strict monitoring and intervention based on context and condition. The goal of this research work is to provide a methodological framework for behavior adaptation to achieve healthy lifestyle. The unhealthy lifestyle is a major factor of the non-communicable chronic diseases in elderlies and adult. While, these lifestyle



factors are the modifiable and adaptable. The challenges are to identification, indication and facilitation to adapt these unhealthy behaviors. Thus, the target of this research work is to: identification of the critical factors and behaviors essential for the healthy lifestyle, quantification of these critical factors to understand the stratus and their impact on human life, providing a comprehensive index that can present the current condition of the health related lifestyle behaviors, inferencing of the behavior stage based on the behavior index for the persuasive strategy to support unhealthy behavior, mapping of the behavior stage with type of intervention for personalized adaptive intervention generation, evaluate the response of intervention through implicit feedback for next iteration, and root cause analysis with the help of explicit feedback for intervention adaptation. Fig.1.1 represents the abstract idea of the proposed framework called Healthy Behavior Adaptation Framework with the main focus to achieve the above mentioned targets for lifestyle based behavior adaptation. The main contributions of the thesis in the proposed framework is described as follows in the subsequent sections.

1.3.1 Behavior quantification

Behavior is quantified for the understanding as well as to gain knowledge for an appropriate decision regarding the adaptation. The concept mining approach identifies the frequency of multiple health-related behaviors discussed in the literature. In this way, we are able to obtain the behaviors which are highly studied. It supports us in finding out their importance, which lays the foundation for our baseline concept list. The experts based evaluation of the identified factors is performed to verify the key impact factors and their sub-factors. The degree of agreement identified the critical factors which are contextually quantified on the basis of guidelines. The sub-factors are accumulated for a complex factor while simple factors are considered as it is.

1.3.2 Healthy behavior index development

Behavior is a very complex qualitative concept based on multiple micro factors. Therefore, a comprehensive behavior index is composed of multiple ingredient behaviors. The nature and metric of the behavior define its context, which helps to aggregate the behavior in an appropriate proportion. The concept of life expectancy and prediction for future mortality is adopted for the identification



of the critical factors' weight-age. The Mortality Population Risk Tool (MPoRT) risk algorithm based on the Cox proportional hazards model is used to estimate weight-age of risk factors through proportion from a difference of life gain and life loss because of a particular risk factor. The individual score, based on the severity mention in the definition, has been utilized to generate the index for healthy behavior.

1.3.3 Behavioral stage identification

Behavior status can be categorized into multiple levels depending on the user's knowledge, mindset, and actions. According to Bloom's taxonomy, which is related to learning, the behavior can be classified into six different levels based on knowledge and comprehension. Similarly, the TTM has identified different stages for behavior change and has become one of the most widely used models of the healthcare domain.



Figure 1.1: Idea diagram of the proposed research studies with chapters mapping.

1.3.4 Bridging behavioral stage and healthy behavior index

In Behavior-Context mapping, we have employed the Transtheoretical Model (TTM) to identify the different stages for behavior change through continuous monitoring of healthy behavior in-



dex. Habitual behaviors lay down the foundation of human health. Some behaviors require some instantaneous attention to achieve recommended health outcomes like vaccination, while many behaviors require continuous and repeated efforts and knowledge to attain the recommended outcomes related to routine habits. We have shaped the model to represent how individuals perform in adapting various behaviors, including initiating healthy regimens and quitting addictive unhealthy behaviors.

1.3.5 Feedback driven intervention adaptation

The response evaluation of the intervention is a very non-trivial task to improve the content as well as understand the context of the situation. There are two possibilities to record the responses either through end-user satisfaction or through end-user actions. The direction of the latest research is shifting towards implicit feedback from explicit feedback. The implicit feedback obtained from lifelog drives for the assessment and understanding of the attitude towards interventions. It supports the adaptation and analysis of the intervention-strategy selection for the next iterations.

1.4 Thesis Organization

The dissertation aims to investigate a user centric intervention adaptation methodology to adopt healthy behavior based on feedback drive intervention adaptation. Figure 1.1 depicts the dissertation abstract view, and outlines the structural flow.

This dissertation is organized into chapters as following.

- Chapter 1: Introduction. Chapter 1 provides the introduction of the research work for behavior quantification to map it with the behavioral stages for an effective intervention to adopt health behavior and adapt unhealthy behavior. It emphasizes on the challenges in particular fields, the goals for solving these issues, the study work's priorities, and finally the dissertation summary.
- Chapter 2: Related work. Chapter 2 presents existing research for behavior quantification for healthy behavior adoption. Initially, the identification of critical factors affecting lifestyle based behaviors are discussed. As these behaviors contribute in the development



of non-communicable lifestyle based chronic diseases. So, the evaluation and quantification techniques of these unhealthy behaviors are discussed in detail to build a comprehensive idea of the investigated field. The research portion is enriched with the behavior change theories that support the ideology of behavior adaptation. Finally, the state-of-art work of interventions, intervention adaptation, and Just-in-Time interventions is summarized to understand the concept of right intervention for right behavior at the right time.

- Chapter 3: Quantification of Lifestyle Behavior. This chapter has discussed that over the last decade, ubiquitous computing revolutionized personalized healthcare through many wellness applications based on self-quantification. These applications analyse routine activities but unable to depict the overall impact of habits on health. As a result, to assist individuals, we have proportionally associated lifestyle behaviors to influence human well-being. The methodology has focused on comprehensive Healthy Behavior Index (HBI) comprises of Behaviors' Weight-age Identification (BWI) process, and Healthy Behavior Quantification and Index (HBQI) modeling. It has demonstrated a positive user experience to stimulate healthy behavior adaptation.
- Chapter 4: Mapping of Human Behavior . The chapter has focused digital well-being supported by unobtrusive smart gadgets sources of information acquiring. A variety of personalized wellness applications, however, unable to induce healthy habits as users tend to loose their interest. Thus, User-Centric Adaptive Intervention methodology based on behavior change theory has introduced for enhancing users' interest. It compromises of quantification of behavior based on contributing factors governed by expert-driven rules, behavior-context based mapping for the identification of behavior status of the user, selection of appropriate way of intervention to get fruitful outcomes, and feedback based evaluation on the basis of recorded activities and questionnaires for satisfaction. The HBI supports the machine learning-based prediction model for behavior-context mapping.

• Chapter 5: Lifestyle Behavior Adaptation.

This Chapter has focused to adopt a healthy lifestyle by converging science and technology in this digital world for improving health and quality of life. The challenge of behavior



change is not only to indicate the issues but also provides step-by-step coaching and guidance in real-time. The realization of behavior change theories through digital technology has revolutionized lifestyle change systematically and measurably. The methodology understands the behavior for generating just-in-time intervention for adopting a healthy lifestyle through analysis of unbiased lifelog and questionnaires for qualitative assessment of behavior. Behavior stage-wise intervention is provided to adapt behavior for enhancing the quality of life and boost the socio-economic conditions. The healthy behavior index and behavior change theories through smart technologies have enhanced the functionality of wellness management systems and support behavior status sketching to adopt healthy activities for the betterment of long life. The results depict that education and recommendation as per person stage are more responsive and attractive to retain the attention of the users.

• Chapter 6: Conclusion and future directions.

This chapter summarizes the thesis and discussed main contribution in the domain of persuasive computing for behavior adaptation. Furthermore, it highlights the future directions of the proposed methodology and its applications.

Fring Hee Univer



Related Work

According to the latest World Health Organization (WHO) global status report, NCDs associated with lifestyle habits are currently the major causes of worldwide deaths. In reality, NCDs are responsible for more than 66% of the world's deaths, out of which 40% represents premature deaths under the age of 70. The WHO has identified the invisible epidemic of NCDs and defined a clear strategy to overcome the impact. It has laid forth a clear plan to change the course of the so-called "slow-moving public health disaster". The majority of the strategies' measures aim to improve an unhealthy lifestyle and adverse behaviors, such as alcohol and tobacco use, excessive salt and sugar intake, and poor physical activity, among others, by applying systematic methods of prevention and control. Traditional behavioral change approaches require users to engage in self-monitoring regularly. Notwithstanding the theoretically well-founded self-monitoring systems, many of them have proven to be unsuccessful in practice. The main reason for the ineffectiveness is the lack of motivation, planning, and diligence shown in these self-tracking systems by frequent users. People regularly encounter discomfort when calculating, analyzing, and annotating information, resulting in a lack of interest in the role of reporting.

2.1 Critical Lifestyle Factors

Nowadays, health care focuses proactive approach to avoid and delay the adverse impact of the different non-communicable chronic diseases (NCDs). So, ubiquitous computing supports the community in a very sophisticated manner to guide regarding the adaptation in behavior for quality life to challenge the impact of NCDs. Plethora of wellness applications are available to support for the enhancement of general public fitness-level but lacking in nurturing healthy behavior. Several risk factors contribute to the development and onset of NCDs. The various types of risks can be divided



Adaptable Risk Factors	Non-Adaptable Risk Factors	Metabolic Risk Factors
Tobacco consumption,		
Physical inactivity,	ivity,	High blood
Over weight (Obesity),	Age, Conotio or	pressure,
Unbalanced diet	Equily history	High lipids level
(Salt, Sugar, Fats),	Gender, Ethnicity	in blood,
Stress and Sleeping		Abnormal blood
issue,		glucose level
Alcohol consumption		

into three main categories of risk factors: adaptable behavioral risk factors, non-adaptable risk factors, and metabolic risk factors as discussed in Table 2.1. Usually, the NCDs have a long latency period, non-contagious origin, prolong illness, functional disability, and impairment. These stretch from years to decades as chronic which requires ultimately medical care and makes it difficult for a person to perform duties appropriately.

Wellness management organizations concentrate on behavior modification in order to strengthen human wellbeing, lengthen life spans, and reduce societal burdens [3]. In [4] authors looked at the effectiveness of sequential and overlapping interventions for improving physical activity (PA), diet, and sleep. Similarly in [5] authors consider the status of food, sleep and physical activity for intervene the person with motivation alerts and messages for behavior adaptation.

Lifestyle diseases are primarily affected by the people daily habits. Particularly, the sedentary habits can cause a number of health issues. These issues may lead to non-communicable life-threatening diseases (NCDs) [6]. These NCDs like obesity, diabetes hypertension, cardiovascular, hyperlipidemia are the most challenging issue for the global health organization. It causes an economical burden on developing countries, where 80% of deaths are related to NCDs [7]. Globally, the NCDs epidemic requires effective measures to stifle its emergence, which is a challenge for under developing countries having limited financial, technological and professional human resources [8]. These risk factors are unlikely to appear in isolation, but they will cluster and associate



to increase the risk of NCDs exponentially [9]. Although the presence of these risk factors may have a negative impact on morbidity and longevity, adopting healthier lifestyle habits can reduce the risks proportionately.

The adaptable or preventable causes like abuse of alcohol, unhealthy dietary habits, smoking, sedentary lifestyle, abnormal biological clock, restless sleep, and stressful working environment can enhance the probability of NCDs [10]. However, uncontrolled factors like age, race, family history, gender, and genetics cannot be intervened. Similarly, factors like high cholesterol level, blood sugar level, and blood pressure can be controlled and normalized with proper and regular medical intervention to avoid or delay the NCDs.

Latest technologies have been embedded in various smart commercial gadgets to monitor the sound sleeping hours, the intensive activity duration, and prolonged sedentary activities [11, 12]. Activity-based tracking technologies have shifted the phenomenon of "quantified self" from self-reporting to an unobtrusive manner. In self-reporting studies, surveys were conducted related to physical activities, leisure time sports, walking for commuting, and daily habits related to performing different tasks [13–19].

The diet is a composite concept based on different micro nutrients . Every micronutrient has its importance and criteria for assessment, which are discussed in different literature. The literature is concerned about the dietary pattern, regularity in dinning times, consumption of soft drinks, chocolates, saturated fats, whole grains, dairy products, fruits, vegetable, breakfast, water intake and many more depending on full day consumption [20–32]. The addictive behavior of tobacco consumption, alcohol abuse and urges for these addiction have been discussed in literature for the impact in NCDS [33–38].

2.2 Lifestyle assessment and Indexing

A new paradigm has recently emerged to support healthcare and wellness in this technology era. It refers to a revamped and revised version of what was previously known as Digital Health Care as Digital Health, which encompasses multi-disciplines to empower people to monitor and drive their wellbeing and health. Wellness is a lifelong process of making choices to live a more healthy and fulfilling life, not just the absence of sickness or pain. There are still ways to improve your overall





Figure 2.1: The details of contributing lifestyle factors.



health. A good place to start is by assessing your current situation and putting in place processes to help you achieve a greater sense of wellbeing. The Wellness Wheel explains how environmental, emotional, occupational, physical, intellectual, spiritual, and social aspects are intertwined.

The purpose of wellness management organizations is to focus on behavior change to improve health quality, increase the life span and reduce the burden on society [3]. In [4] authors estimated the impact of concurrent and consecutive intervention for physical activity (PA), nutrition, and sleep towards healthy behavior. Although, in [5] authors consider the physical activities status, nutrition condition, and sleeping hours for producing the interventions and modify the messages as per persons' context for the behavior adaptation.

Unfortunately, wellness related models don't consider the recurrent actions, so Self-Report Habit Index (SRHI) deduces the impact of consistent actions on behavior [39]. In the wellness domain, the behavior related to the activity is defined on the basis of time duration spend in performing multiple activities at different intensities. Physical activities and alcohol consumption are assessed on a weekly basis while nutrition and smoking are evaluated on a daily basis. So we consider the habitual on the basis of quantity in specified time duration. The diverse nature of habits makes them difficult to accurately assess them in a rigorous manner. Therefore, habit reports may be biased due to recall inaccuracies and human memory, which is catered in HBI. The SRHI is related to a specific behavior at a time such as smoking, junk food, and energy drinks, while HBI is based on the multiple behaviors, which are in tern composed of micro factors. In HBI, the index is calculated through the weighted contributing factors based on the life expectancy impact. The SRHI considers the intention and attention of a behavior, ignoring the chance of biasness. The relationship between health-related behavior and habit strength, as measured by the SRHI, diverts the discussion away from reflective effects on food intake and activity behaviors. However, a continuous behavior is one that someone frequently does or has, especially one that is considered to be a feature of the person [40]. It's important to differentiate between the characteristics of habitual behavior and the factors that influence habit formation and consequences. A history of past enactment in the presence of stable contextual signals is a prerequisite for the development of a habit.

In literature, studies focused on the dietary patterns and assessed dietary behavior through self-



Sr. #	Behavior	Domain	Assessment Process	Reference
	Total Inactivity, TV viewing		Self Report,	
1	Leisure-Time active sports,	Physical Activity	IPAQ: International	[14-19, 24, 25, 29, 48-51]
	Bicycle/ Walking		Physical Activity Questionnaire,	
	Fruit, Vegetables,			
	Soft \Energy Drinks,		Salf Deport Parent Deport	
2	Energy-dense $\ \$ Healthy Snacks,	Nutrition Food	EEO: Eood Fraquency Questionnaire	[20, 21, 52, 55]
	Sweets, Chocolates, Candies,		tion Food	[20, 21, 32-33]
	Total Fat, Saturated Fat, Red Meat,		24 hour recall	[20-28, 30-32, 30, 37]
	Carbohydrate, Fiber, Grains,		24-nour recan,	
	Fish, Protein, Dietary Pattern			
3	Nicotine Patch\Spray,	Smoking	Self Report,	[33 35 58 59]
5	Cigarettes	Smoking	Questionnaire of Smoking Urges	[33,35,36,37]
4	Oral Alcohol	Drinking	Self Report, Alcohol Urges Questionnaire	[35, 36, 38]

Table 2.2: Assessment of multiple lifestyle behavior in literature.

report questions of food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) [39, 41–43] as summarized in Table 2.2 under the section of diet to index the eating habits. Multiple studies summaries in Table 2.2 reflect which identify that most preventable cause of death are tobacco and alcohol which lead to thousands of deaths yearly [44]. 20% adults [45] consumed tobacco and alcohol together [46], which has been associated with fetal diseases [46, 47] are assessed through self-report questionnaires to get related urges index. The discussed literature under the purview of this research, focus on only some specific behaviors related to lifestyle instead of considering an array of pertinent behaviors, holistically. Furthermore, the quantification process depends on gathering explicit feedback in terms of self-reported health related questionnaires ignoring the chance of biasness due to human memory error and some social norm.

2.3 Theories for Behavior Adaptation

The differences in interventions' content have an impact on behavior change.Depending on the context and situation, a strategy based on a single technique or a combination of multiple techniques may improve intervention effectiveness. To increase life quality and span, wellness management companies focus on changing behavior to follow a healthier lifestyle. Multiple behavior change theories are used to monitor and explain the change. These ideas concentrate on an indi-



vidual's actions and mindset in order to encourage a shift in lifestyle toward healthier habits.

The theories related to behavior change are employed by multiple behavior change techniques (BCTs). Theories that describe the same behavior adaptation method must have the same BCTs. There are few available lists of discrete BCTs used in health behavior strategies. The mind transforming models are based on consciousness raising, counter conditioning, self-reevaluation, self-liberation, stimulus control, helping relationships, dramatic relief, reinforcement, social liberation, and environmental reevaluation. In healthcare the weight management is an important aspect where interventions are designed to lose weight or avoid weight gain through goal setting, contracting, self-monitoring, rewards, stress management, graded tasks, alerts, environment changing, persuasive interaction, peer encouragement, demonstrating a behavior, and experience sharing to motivate. The components of intervention for physical activity are behavioral modification, self-management, social competition, social encouragement, behavioral prescription, rewards, stimulus control, cognitive modification, self-monitoring, thought restructuring, and many others.

In BCTS the methods used to trigger the behavior can be: goal-setting, self-monitoring, contracting, incentives, tasks grading, increasing skills, stress management, planning, environment changing, encouragement, persuasive alerts, behavioral analytics, personalized messages, behavior modeling, and experiential tasks to change motivation. Providing knowledge about the implications of an action, can have an impact on attitudes toward a target behavior. Thus, theories like the theory of rational action, the theory of planned actions, social– cognitive theory, and the information–motivation– behavioral skills model could be used to develop technique.

The identified BCTs to these different theoretical structures, demonstrating how intervention content and efficacy could be used to evaluate a number of behavior change theories are discussed in Table 2.3. If interventions that included techniques like prompt intention forming, and provide outcome-information were found to be noticeably more successful in promoting a specific activity, this would support the theory of reasoned action. However, if interventions involving techniques similar to specific target setting, self-monitoring of actions, and goal review were found to be successful, this would be an affirmation of control theory.


Sr. #	Behavior Change Technique	Focused Contents
1	Information - Motivation- Behavioral Skills Model (IMB)	Provide information about: a- Behavior health link b- Susceptibility to poor health c- Behavioral risk d- Socail Approval e- To decide to act f- To set a general goal g- Benefits and costs of action
2	Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA)	Provide information about: a- Benefits and costs of action b- Socail approval c- To decide to act d- To set a general goal
3	Theory of Planned Be- havior (TPB)	Provide information about: a- Benefits and costs of action b- Socail Approval c- To set a general goal d- To decide to act
4	Social-Cognitive Theory (SCogT)	Provide information about: a- Benefits and costs of action b- Indicate challenges to performing the behavior c- Plan to meet challenges d- To decide to act e- To set a general goal f- Praising for effort g- Rewarding for effort h- Gradually increase the complexity of task to meet target i- Guide to do the task j- Demonstrate the task
5	Control Theory (CT)	 Provide information about: a- Planning of goal b- Intensity and Frequency of task c- Reevaluation of goal d- Self-monitoring of a behavior e- Evaluate the performance
6	Operant Conditioning (OC)	 Provide information about: a- Praise on target achievement b- Encouragement on gaol meeting c- Environmental cues to perform behavior d- Prompt to do action

Table 2.3: Behavior	change	techniques	and their	related	contents.

Collection @ khu

2.4 Intervention Types and Impact

Health behaviors have traditionally been described as actions taken by an individual in order to sustain, achieve, or restore good health and avoid illness. Physical activity, such as exercise, diet, alcohol intake, sleeping, socialization, and smoking are all examples of lifestyle and health-related habits. These can be directly and clearly measurable, or indirectly measurable such as physiological responses. Behavioral events are physical events in the body that are regulated by the brain. Unfortunately, unhealthy habits and behaviors tend to be easy to pick up but difficult to quit. Infact, continuous efforts are required to sustain the healthy habits over time, once developed. The expensive approach is Personal face-to-face coaching for addressing these problems. Behavioral informatics, which is a research and engineering field. This area is poised to advance a range of technologies and computational approaches that will allow scalable, cost-effective, and timely interventions. There is substantial evidence in the healthcare domain that health approaches targeted to individuals are more successful than generalize ones, and that timely input is crucial in improving and maintaining behavior.

The right intervention at the right stage to the right person is the key concerned of the study. However, the personalization of intervention is the target to attain user attention so that it becomes actionable and enhances the chances of behavior adaptation. The adaptation of modifiable behaviors related to diet, physical activity, alcohol, smoking, stress, and sleeping is necessary to avoid the probability of chronic non-communicable diseases.

Health interventions can be synthesized through prescriptive and proscriptive styles. The prescriptive style intervention focuses on what people should do, while proscriptive focuses on what people should not do [60]. Health guidelines usually advise either active participation in wellness activities (e.g., regular exercise; balanced diet having fruits and vegetables) or refraining from engaging in unhealthy activities (e.g., smoking, alcohol). As a result, health recommendations can be organized to support what people should adopt. The advice can evoke different motivational and behavioral outcomes by delivering prescriptive or proscriptive interventions.

The confronting and informative intervention challenge the thinking towards adapting behaviors. Individuals may be more likely to attempt an intrinsically motivating target despite the chal-





Figure 2.2: Six categories of intervention by John Heron [1].

lenge because intrinsically motivating objectives are ultimately satisfying to them [61]. Furthermore, intrinsic motivation has been linked to better learning and performance, which may help to accomplish the goals. These results indicate that a daunting target that is intrinsically rewarding could be more advantageous than a simple, effortless goal for behavior adaptation.

2.5 Health Behavior Adaptation Interventions - HBAIs

The widespread use of ubiquitous technologies, public health has prompted health professionals to investigate in HBAIs. Social media technologies have enhanced and incorporated social cognitive, social marketing theories, and social support into HBAIs to better understand how user access information through inspiration and social experiences. The major advantage of the technological intervention is the accessibility and greater impact as compared to face-to-face interventions. These interventions have limitation to reach a large population, which subside overall impact of face-to-face counselling despite of big effect size [62]. However, the major challenges of these interventions is to adapt them at real time. Therefore, we are in the need of personalized intervention at right time to change a target behavior.

2.5.1 Adaptive Interventions - AI

An adaptive intervention (AI) is a set of strategies that determines based on metric when, how, which and how much support is provided to achieve the targets. In literature, AIs are referred through "dynamic treatment regimes", "adaptive treatment strategies", "stepped-care interven-





Figure 2.3: Categorical description of interventions.

Collection @ khu

#uS	Target	Behavior	Intervention	Intervention	Intervention	Intervention	Reference
	Behavior	Goal		Frequency	Mode	Initiation	
-	Diet (Vegetable intake)	self-select goal from a range of daily vegetable servings (1-10 servings per dav)	graphical representation of progress toward goals by day, past 7 days, and past 7 weeks	Daily; immediate upon self-reported data	Mobile phone app	User-initiated	[63]
7	Diet (Fruit and vegetable intake), self-report	weekly goals set by participants and adjusted every other week	intake relative to the self-set weekly goal	Nightly: immediate upon self-reported data entry	SMS text messages	User-initiated	[64]
ŝ	PA.Steps per day, self-reported from a pedometer		social comparison feedback that corresponded their performance relative to a reference population	Daily: immediate upon selfreported data entry and (2) Twice-weekly 3-day summaries	 Studyspecific website and (2) Email 	User-initiated	[65]
4	PA: Steps per day, activity tracker	Incrementally increase steps per day each week until at least 8500 steps per day for 5+ days per week has been reached	 actionable messages simed at encouraging daily activity. messages regarding progress toward step goals, and (3) graph of the week's daily steps 	(1) Daily: within-day action plan in response to answered activity prompts (2) Daily: immediate pronset f-reported data entry (3) Weekly; based on self-reported data entry	Mobile phone app	User-initiated	[66]
5	Exercise min and intensity, daily Webbased diary	All groups: 600 activity units per week or 30 min of moderate PA 5 times per week	graphs showing progress toward the weekly goal based on diary entrice	Nightly: immediate upon selfreported entry	Website designed specifically for this study	User-initiated	[67]
9	Steps per day, mobile phone app- connected pedometer	30 min of activity or walking daily	steps relative to a goal, as well as distance, time, speed, and calories burned	Continuously available (mobilephone-enabled)	Mobile phone app	Passive	[68]
٢	MVPA and dietary intake, Webbased diaries or acceleromter, and accompanying Webbased software (intervention only)	personalized. 1200 to 1800 kcal per day calorie goal; 20 to 30% dietary fat intake; 100 min per week of MVPA that increased every 4 weeks was achieved was achieved	 (1) real-time summary of energy expenditure and total MVPA. (2) MVPA in durations of 10 min or longer, and (3) distary and PA feedback 	(1) Continuously available (via device display), (2) Real-time, continuous (via Web access), and (3) Weekly (months 1-6) and monthly (months 7-12)	 HT core device, HT core website, and Telephone 	Passive and userinitiated	[69]
~	Diet and activity, appbased selfreport	Eat a target ratio of protein to carbohydrates daily and complete three sessions each of core cardiovascular and resistance exercise every 7 to 10 days	(1) Graphical representation of weekly progress toward goal and (2) Motivational messages and advice based on answers to in app questions about diet and exercise behaviors	(1) Daily; immediate upon selfreported data entry and (2) Daily; immediate upon selfreported data entry (diet) or every 7 to 10 days per when an exercise level was completed (exercise)	Mobile phone app	User-initiated	[02]
6	Dietary intake, Webbased selfreport PA, activity monitor Glucosemonitoring, glucometer (selfmonitoring group) or Internet connected glucometer	All groups: static goals of maintaining or increasing daily activity to <i>i</i> 30 min at least 3 times per week, and measuring blood glucose levels at least 8 times per week	(1) actionable feedback in response to glucometer data aimed to raise glucose levels if ;50 mg/dl and lower glucose levels if \geq 140 mg/dl, (2) average glucose level, (3) time spent being physically active and caloric intake and carbohydrate, protein, and for commonst	(1) Within 1 min upon glucometer use. (2) Weekly at 10 AM on Mondays and monthly at 11 AM on the last day of the month. (3) Upon selfreported data entry, and (4) Automatically displayed upon data entry	 SMS text message. SMS text message. Website designed specifically for this study, and (4) SMS Text 	Passive and userinitiated	[17]

Table 2.4: Catalogue of intervention type and mode for different lifestyle behaviors in literature.

tion", and many more [72]. The stepped-care intervention is further divided into up and down based on the response of the target behavior. These interventions constitute of trigger condition, target behavior, decision rule and multiple alternative recommendations. The target behavior has multiple attributes that define the situation. The decision rule connects the personalized situation for the appropriate recommendation choice. In literature, there are multiple techniques involved to intervene the unhealthy habits and induce healthy habits as discussed in Table 2.4. In literature, multiple investigations have looked at the effectiveness of emerging fitness technologies in promoting weight loss, physical activity, and healthier eating habits. These studies largely advocate technology usage for intervention generation and self-monitoring, but they also recognize the importance of interventions' content for effectiveness. Mainly works are related to the physical activities, vegetables intake, fruits consumption and chronic disease management.

In [71], an individualized health management system based on ubiquitous technology was discussed for the regulation of blood sugar level of diabetic patients without causing hypoglycemia. It considered modern multidisciplinary techniques to combine physical activity monitoring and food reviews into a robust kit. Similarly, in [70] a coaching platform was discussed where participants took part in a 12-week experiment during which they got wellness interventions via an app on their mobile phones. They were tested every two weeks in physician's office environment regarding the physiological factors and data was compiled on a regular basis for analytics.

The aim of the study [73] was to examine the interest of participants in the SMS-based tracking and feedback system. It also studied that how effective the curriculum was at promoting healthy habits through interventions for greater fruit and vegetable intake, physical exercise, and less screen time. The authors of [68] evaluated the impact of intervention regarding the physical activity in-terms of the number of steps. The participants were assigned a regular walking target of 30 minutes, while the experimental group received intervention from the app that told them the corresponding goal in steps taken. The results demonstrated that an interactive app can significantly increase physical activity through feedback, setting specific goals, and self-monitoring.

The study [69] focused on the impact of wearable sensor devices for the management of obesity through physical exercise and diet control. It highlighted that physical activity monitoring devices not provide benefits over conventional behavioral weight loss methods through visualiza-



tion and graphical feedback. In [64], authors investigated the effects of an intervention through text messaging for observing adolescents' attitudes, self-efficacy, and outcome perceptions about fruit and vegetables. The participants set weekly fruit and vegetable consumption targets, recorded their intake regularly, and received intervention based on progress via text messaging. According to them the active participation in an intervention was crucial for its success.

2.5.2 Just-in-Time Interventions - JITIs

The just-in-time intervention is a prominent model, has a large potential for changing people's health habits [74]. It focuses adaptable support as per individual's status, context, preference and transforming the intervention most likely to be responsive. These can be described as having the appropriate amount of help at the suitable time. The right moment in just-in-time adaptive approaches might take into account the person's state of insecurity, potential, or receptivity [75]. It is like feedback intervention theory FIT which represents recent actions and gives direction at a crucial moment where a person's mind can need to be redirected back to the goal-directed behavior. The purpose of these interventions is to proactively motivate behavioral changes to minimize or undo the worsening of gaps between actual success and a behavioral goal or aim, allowing the goal or target to be met. As a result, these interventions takes into account the time period in which target success is anticipated. If a person sets a target of physical exercise in a day, intervention guidance will be given till evening of the day to maximize the chances of meeting that goal.

The invention of smart and powerful communication and sensing technologies strengthen the intervention design. It support the quantification and tracking of the individual state and provide real time contextual information in terms of location, and time. These interventions are supporting in adopting healthy behavior such as physical activity, fruit and vegetables intake, obesity control, avoiding addictive use of alcohol and many others. Despite the growing popularity and use of these interventions, research into their production and assessment is still in its early stages. Many interventions have been created without anything in the way of scientific proof, hypothesis, or agreed treatment recommendations.

In [76], authors developed a smartphone based behavioral intervention application (FOCUS)



that supported individuals with schizophrenia for illness management. It intervened three times a day for health status assessment through mood regulation, medication adherence, sleep, dealing with hallucinations, and social contact. Individuals might choose to engage or ignore the prompt after it has been signalled. FOCUS proposed self-management techniques to alleviate the types of problems the person endorsed, otherwise, it included guidance and positive reinforcement.

In [77], authors described a supporting application (ACHESS) that helped people recovery from alcohol addiction. It gave users access to a broad range of supportive resources, including computerized cognitive-behavioral counselling, online links to addiction-related websites, and updates about alcohol-free activities in their neighbourhood, 24 hours a day, seven days a week through communicating device. When a person visited a high-risk spot, such as a location that the individual pre-specified as a place where routinely accessed or drank alcohol in the past, GPS technology detected that and application generate intervention.

The interventions in physical activity domain are discussed in [78]. Authors had developed an application (SitCoach) that uses a smartphone to send messages promoting action. The software on the worker's computer kept track of how much time he or she spent on the computer by using the mouse and keyboard. If the user had 30 minutes of screen time, the mobile sent a convincing message to raise awareness of his or her sedentary actions and facilitate walking; otherwise, no messages are sent. In special case, if the person received a message in the past 2 hours and not able to respond properly, the application did not ping again and again to disturb any meeting or special task.



Chapter 3

Quantification of Contributing Behavior Factors

3.1 Overview

Over the last few decades due to the affluent environment, people's physical activity have become sedentary, their diets malnutrition, and their smoking and alcohol consumption increases. Lifestyle-habits impact the wellbeing, health, and socio-economical condition of individuals [79]. These lifestyle-habits have a significant role in spreading the non-communicable diseases (NCDs). These NCDs are the major cause of premature mortality, disability, and continuous burden on the economy [80, 81].

Studies in the literature have highlighted the four important healthy behaviors i.e. balanced diet, physical activity, nonsmoking and non-alcohol consumption [35, 43].Most epidemiological researches have designed a lifestyle index through the accumulation of risky or non-risky behavioral indicators' level. These mono-dimensional approaches arbitrarily assign behaviors into the 'risky' category and overlook the impact of multi-dimensional behaviors on health [82]. However, in few studies prediction models were used to derive risk indexes for targeted assessment of multiple risk factors on health with specific profiles over a certain period of time [83] and few mortality prediction models for elderly have been developed. These approaches failed to provide information for risk intervention. The prevention of chronic diseases is better achieved through adopting healthy lifestyle habits [82]. Therefore, we aimed to develop healthy behavior index based on modifiable lifestyle factors to prevent or delay in the occurrence of non-communicable chronic diseases.

In this work, we have addressed the index identification challenge to cover the health-behavior status comprehensively. Quantification provides the foundation for the identification of the behavior condition. The behavior condition is mapped to appropriate status through indexing as per



guidelines provided by the healthcare and lifestyle experts. So quantification and indexing support to represent the behavior and without indication, the change in behavior cannot be tracked and evaluated. The impact of unhealthy habits is non-linear, so we have adopted the life expectancy based weight-age for each habit. Hence our proposed methodology is divided into two major processes of Behavior Weight-age Identification (BWI) and Healthy Behavior Quantification and Index (HBQI) modeling. The BWI process mining the health-related concepts through text mining, expert-based filtration of identified concepts for ranking and, life-expectancy based behavior weight-age derivation. Where HBQI, is a mathematical model, derived based on wellness guidelines for quantification and indexing of behavior. The evaluation of the methodology is done through real-world user-centric statistical User Experience Questionnaire (UEQ) method.

The main contribution of the study is three-fold as follows: Firstly, we have applied dictionarybased text mining to extract contributing factors which is verified by experts with agreement value of 0.397. Secondly, we have established the weight-age of the lifestyle behaviors based on life expectancy studies. Lastly, a comprehensive healthy behavior index is derived to depict the status of lifestyle behavior for representing the respected unhealthy, normal, and healthy scale. This is a comprehensive scale with ICT based implementation to enhance the applicability of wellness application through quantification and indexing service.

3.2 Existing work

The wellness management organizations focus on behavior adaptation to improve quality of human health, increase the life span and reduce the burden on society [3]. In [4] authors evaluated the efficacy of sequential and simultaneous intervention for physical activity (PA), diet, and sleep to improve the behaviors. Similarly in [5] authors consider the status of PA, diet, and sleep for generating the intervention and personal motivation messages for behavior improvement.

8 Hee Maive

Generally, health behavior models don't consider the habitual actions, so Self-Report Habit Index (SRHI) synthesis the influence of consistent actions on behavior [39]. Habitual behavior is one that someone usually does or has, especially one that is considered to be a characteristic of the person [40]. In the wellness domain, the behavior related to the activity is defined on the basis of different time duration. Nutrition and smoking behavior are considered on a daily basis, where



physical activity and alcohol are considered on a weekly basis. So we consider the habitual on the basis of quantity in specified time duration. The diverse nature of habits makes them difficult to accurately assess them in a rigorous manner. Therefore, habit reports may be biased due to recall inaccuracies and human memory, which is catered in HBI. The SRHI is related to a specific behavior at a time such as smoking, junk food, and energy drinks, while HBI is based on the multiple behaviors, which are in tern composed of micro factors. In HBI, the index is calculated through the weighted contributing factors based on the life expectancy impact. The SRHI considers the intention and attention of a behavior, ignoring the chance of biasness.

In literature, studies focused on the dietary patterns and assessed dietary behavior through selfreport questions of food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) [39, 41–43] as summarized in Table 3.1 under the section of diet to index the eating habits. Multiple studies summaries in Table 3.1 reflect which identify that most preventable cause of death are tobacco and alcohol which lead to thousands of deaths yearly [44]. 20% adults [45] consumed tobacco and alcohol together [46], which has been associated with fetal diseases [46, 47] are assessed through self-report questionnaires to get related urges index. The discussed literature under the purview of this research, focus on only some specific behaviors related to lifestyle instead of considering an array of pertinent behaviors, holistically. Furthermore, the quantification process depends on gathering explicit feedback in terms of self-reported health related questionnaires ignoring the chance of biasness due to human memory error and some social norm.

The domain analysis literature was performed on Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines followed in [84] with nontrivial alteration such as article types, keywords, duration and search engine. Two reviewers cross-checked these studies through a systematic search of the PubMed, MEDLINE, Web of Knowledge, Google Scholar, IEEE Xplore, and Science Direct databases. The following potential keywords of *healthy behavior, diet, nutrition, sedentary behavior, healthy food, chronic diseases, noncommunicable diseases, alcohol consumption, drinking, smoking, and tobacco were applied for exhaustive search in the operational definition of healthy behavior i.e.physical activity, diet, smoking, alcohol, stress, and sleeping.*

The inclusion criteria were research studies that focused healthy behavior in adult members





Figure 3.1: A survey analysis for document selection

as a dominant variable to at least one health outcome. To consider, research studies were required to (1) comprise adults aged >35 years as subjects of study at baseline; (2) have a mean of at least one facet of healthy behavior (Diet, physical activity, smoking, drinking, stress, sleeping); (3) have observation and assessment of association between healthy behavior components; (4) have published in the English language in peer-reviewed journals; and (5) have published up to and including May 2018. We have selected the potentially relevant articles by (1) titles screening; (2) filtering the abstracts and conclusions; and (3) if abstracts were not sufficient, the entire document was investigated for inclusion criteria. The analysis of related work depicts that studies have targeted the specific behaviors for respective studies. So we have to develop and verify a comprehensive index to quantify the healthy-behavior status. Our proposed methodology adopt the life expectancy based unhealthy behaviors in appropriate proportion [81].



Sr. #	Behavior	Domain	Assessment Process	Refernce
1	TV viewing	Physical Activity	Self Report, Questionnaire	[29,48–50]
2	Total Inactivity	Physical Activity	Self Report, IPAQ: International Physical Activity Questionnaire	[50,51]
3	Leisure Time active sports	Physical Activity	Self Report	[14–16]
4	Bicycle/ Walking for Commuting	Physical Activity	Self Report	[17–19]
5	Fruit	Diet	Self Report,Parent Report, FFQ: Food Frequency Questionnaire	[20,21]
6	Vegetables	Diet	Self Report, Other Questionnaire, FFQ: Food Frequency Questionnaire	[24,25]
7	Soft \Energy Drinks	Diet	24-hour recall, Other Questionnaire, Self Report	[52,53]
8	Energy-dense \Healthy Snacks	Diet	24-hour recall, Other Questionnaire, Self Report, FFQ: Food Frequency Questionnaire	[54,55]
9	Sweets, Chocolates, Candies	Diet	Self Report, FFQ: Food Frequency Questionnaire	[56,57]
10	Total Fat, Saturated Fat, Red Meat	Diet	24-hour recall, Other Questionnaire, Self Report, FFQ: Food Frequency Questionnaire	[23, 26, 28]
11	Carbohydrate, Fiber, Grains	Diet	Self Report, 24-hour recall, FFQ: Food Frequency Questionnaire	[23, 25, 27]
12	Fish, Protein	Diet	24-hour recall, Self Report, FFQ: Food Frequency Questionnaire	[23,28]
13	Dietary Pattern	Diet	Self Report, FFQ: Food Frequency Questionnaire	[29–32]
14	Nicotine Patch\Spray	Smoking	Self Report, Questionnaire of Smoking Urges	[58, 59]
15	Cigarettes	Smoking	Self Report, Questionnaire of Smoking Urges	[33, 35]
16	Oral Alcohol	Drinking	Self Report, Alcohol Urges Questionnaire	[35, 36, 38]

Table 3.1: Lifestyle factor based assessment process.

3.3 Mapping of HBI with behavior understanding and change related theories

The change in behavior to adopt a healthy lifestyle is the key concern of wellness management organizations to improve life quality and span. The change is controlled and understand through multiple behavior change theories. These theories focus on the behavior and attitude of an individual to support a change in lifestyle for healthy behaviors. The HBI service supports multiple theories at different stages as discussed in Table 3.2. The theory of planned behavior determines



an individual's intention of behavior through attitude and subjective norms [85]. The action of a person represents the attitude and change in actions may represents the change in attitude eithier it is positive or negative. So, if the HBI increases , it reflects the positive change in attitude. While, social cognitive theory deals with personal factors, individual ability, and environmental factors [86]. The Transtheoretical model emphasizes multiple stages of behavior change: 1) precontemplation, 2) contemplation, 3) preparation, 4) action, and 5) maintenance [87]. The Fogg Behavior Model focuses on three basic ingredients of behavior occurs: 1) motivation, 2) ability, and 3) trigger [88]. The theory of reasoned action explains that individuals consider the consequences before performing a particular behavior. As a result, attitude and intention are enforcing factors for behavioral change [89].

			11 0	0
Sr. #	Theory	Non-Mapping concepts	Mapping concepts	HBI support
1	Theory of Planned Behavior	Subjective Norm	Attitude	Change in HBI score indicate about the attitude
2	Theory of Reasoned Action	Subjective Norm, Important Norm	Attitude towards factors	Change in level score of factors indicate attitude towards factors
3	Social Cognitive Theory	Environmental Factors	Personal Factors, Ability	HBI's facotrs values, Level of factors
4	Transtheoretical Model	Precontemplation	Contemplation, Preparation, Action, Maintenance	HBI score indicate the status and condition of the ingredient factors.
5	Fogg Behavior Model	Trigger	Motivation, Ability	HBI's sub factor score change indicate the level of motivation and ability to perform.

Table 3.2: HBI service mapping to behavior change theories

3.4 Proposed methodology for healthy behavior index derivation

The proposed methodology consists of three main processes: (1) Factors' Weight-age Identification (FWI), (2) Healthy Behavior Quantification and Index (HBQI) modeling, and (3) Realization and Evaluation as shown in Figure 3.2. The FWI process further consists of three sub-processes: (i) mining of the health-related concepts through text mining, (ii) expert based filtration of identified concepts for ranking and (iii) life-expectancy based factor weight-age derivation.





Figure 3.2: Healthy behavior index derivation and evaluation process

3.4.1 Factors' Weight-age Identification

The FWI process identifies and verifies the most contributing high-ranked factors of health-related behavior. Besides, it derives the weight-age of the identified factors with the help of guidelines.

Text mining for candidate factors identification

We have adopted the dictionary-based methodology to scrutinies the documents using synonyms, hyponyms, hypernyms, and other contextual texts, which increases the success rate of documents categorization [90]. The concept mining approach identifies the frequency of multiple health-related behaviors discussed in the literature. In this way, we are able to obtain the behaviors which are highly studied. It supports us in finding out their importance, which lays the foundation for our baseline concept list. The obtained list is further finalized with the agreement of experts. The workflow of the knowledge extraction methodology is shown in Figure 3.3, which consists of four modules, namely *document database, text preprocessing, dictionary based analytics*, and *visualization*.

The *Text Preprocessing* performs *Preliminary Transformation*: identification and marking of sentences, *Tokenization*: dividing the given text into pieces (tokens) and tag them as a parts-of-speech, *Filtration and Stopword Removal*: excluding the non informative words, stopwords and connecting words, and *Stemming*: for identifying the root of the word. The dictionary consists of terms related to habits and behavior obtained from the National Diet and Nutrition Survey (NDNS





Figure 3.3: Work-flow of text mining methodology for concept identification

nutrient Databank), Composition of Foods Integrated Dataset(CoFID- Version 2015), 2018 Physical Activity Guidelines (PAG) Advisory Committee Scientific Report, the lexical database Word-Net, and A guide to smoking cessation in Scotland 2010- updated 2017. It performs (1-3)-gram based filtration on the bag of words (document) and the term frequency is calculated to determine the critical factors from literature as shown in Figure 3.3.

Expert based health behavior candidate factors evaluation

The Experts Based Evaluation (EBE) of the identified factors is quite necessary to verify the key impact factors and their sub-factors. Seven experts from the wellness domain have registered their agreement or disagreement intensity through a psychometric scale "Likert" questionnaire [91] to grade 20 identified attributes. The experimentation was performed with the collaboration of wellness support organization. The organization has experts who are supporting elderly people and persons with lifestyle-based chronic diseases. These experts have at-least more than three years of experience and education of post-graduation level in the human health and wellness domain. The mean of assigned grades has been utilized to map the factors' importance level as shown in Table 3.3.

Kappa is a statistical measure for estimating the agreement reliability between a fixed numbers of raters when using categorical ratings to a number of classifying items [92]. Fliess's kappa is a particular type, which contrasts with other kappas. Such as Cohen's kappa, which only works when estimating the agreement between not more than two raters. Kendall coefficient and cohesion kappa are related to measuring the inter-rater agreement reliability. Still, the issue is that these are specific to two raters if the number of raters increases, then Fliess' Kappa supports well.

The Fliess' Kappa is a ratio of the actual degree of agreement achieved above chance, over



Key Factors	Exp 1	Exp 2	Exp 3	Exp 4	Exp 5	Exp 6	Exp 7	Δνσ
Rey I detois		Lik	ert Scale	: Min 1	2345N	Iax		1105
Physical Activity	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5.00
Sedentary Actvitiy	4	4	4	4	5	4	4	4.14
Sleeping	1	3	3	1	3	4	1	2.29
Regularly Eating	5	5	4	5	4	5	5	4.71
Sugar Amount	5	5	5	5	4	5	5	4.86
Dietary Fiber	2	2	3	3	3	2	3	2.57
Carbohydrate Amount	3	1	2	1	3	1	2	1.86
Grain	4	4	3	4	4	4	3	3.71
Fats (Cholestrol)	4	4	4	4	5	4	4	4.14
Saturated Fat	2	2	3	3	2	2	2	2.29
Unsaturated Fat	2	2	2	2	3	2	2	2.14
Protien (Fish, Poultry)	4	3	2	2	3	4	4	3.14
Milk	3	3	4	3	4	4	4	3.57
Vegetables	4	4	4	4	5	4	4	4.14
Fruits	5	5	4	3	5	5	5	4.57
Salt Amount	5	3	5	4	4	5	5	4.43
Balance Diet (5groups)	3	5	4	4	3	5	5	4.14
Smoking	5	5	5	4	5	5	5	4.86
Alcohol	5	5	4	5	4	5	4	4.57
Stress	1	2	2	1nlv	1	2	2	1.57

Table 3.3: Evaluation of key factors from experts

the attainable degree of agreement above chance. Kappa value equal to 1 represents complete agreement among the raters otherwise its value is less than or equal to 0. The Kappa value shown in equation 4 is fair enough to accept the agreement level with multiple categories and among multiple raters as shown in Table 3.4.

$$k = \frac{\bar{P} - \bar{P}_e}{1 - \bar{P}_e} \tag{3.1}$$

$$\bar{P}=0.537$$
 (3.2)

$$P_e = 0.254$$
 (3.3)

$$k=0.379$$
 (3.4)

The Value of kappa will be higher when there are fewer categories and inter-raters have few



Sr #	Key	Evaluation	n Categories	for Inter-	related A	greement	Agree
51. π	Factors	Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agraa	Strongly	Item
		Disagree	Disagice	Reutiai	Agree	Agree	
1	Physical Activity	0	0	0	0	7	1.00
2	Sedentary Actvitiy	0	0	0	6	1	0.71
3	Sleeping	3	0	3	1	0	0.29
4	Regularly Eating	0	0	0	2	5	0.52
5	Sugar Amount	0	0	0	1	6	0.71
6	Dietary Fiber	0	3	4	0	0	0.43
7	Carbohydrate Amount	3	2	2	0	0	0.24
8	Grain	0	0	2	5	0	0.52
9	Fats (Cholestrol)	0	0	0	6	1	0.71
10	Saturated Fat	0	5	2	0	0	0.52
11	Unsaturated Fat	0	6	3 1	0	0	0.71
12	Protien (Fish, Poultry)	0	2	2	3	0	0.24
13	Milk	0	0	3	4	0	0.43
14	Vegetables	0	0	0	6	1	0.71
15	Fruits	0	0	1	1	5	0.48
16	Salt Amount	0	0	0	6	1	0.71
17	Balance Diet (5groups)	0	0	2	2	3	0.24
18	Smoking	0	0	0	1	6	0.71
19	Alcohol	0	0	0	3	4	0.43
20	Stress	3	4	0	0	0	0.43
	AgreeCate	0.06	0.16	0.16	0.34	0.29	

Table 3.4: Evalution of Kappa for expert agreement

options to register their agreement [93]. When we have transformed the responses of the interrater into three categories of agree, neutral and disagree the value of Kappa is 0.52 while when the responses are categorized into agree and disagree the value of kappa is 0.91 which is reasonably acceptable as discussed in Table 3.5.

Life-expectancy based factors' weight-age derivation

The expert's evaluation finalizes the assessment of user's healthy behavior status as shown in Table 3.6 along with the definition.



Sr.#	Attributes	Disagree	Neutral	Agree		Disagree	Agree	
1	Physical Activity	0	0	7		0	7	
2	Sedentary Activity	0	0	7		0	7	
3	Sleeping	ю	ю	1		9	1	<u> </u>
4	Regularly Eating	0	0	7		0	7	
5	Sugar Amount	0	0	7		0	7	5.5
6	Dietary Fiber	3	4	0		7	0	. 11
7	Carbohydrate Amount	5	2	0		7	0	<u>"hh</u>
8	Grain	0	2	5		0	7	<u>a-0</u>
9	Fats and Cholesterol Amount	0	0	7		0	7	usel
10	Saturated Fat	5	2	0	Iransiormauon uransiuon	7	0	
11	Unsaturated Fat	9	$\overline{1}$	0	(Irom 5 categories	7	0	aiu
12	Protein(Fish, poultry	2	2	3	to 2 categories)	2	5	ano
13	Milk	0	3	4		0	7	<u>n 0</u>
14	Vegetables	0	0	L	2 m	0	7	<u> </u>
15	Fruits	0	1	9		0	7	<u></u> -
16	Salt Amount	0	0	L	11 1	0	7	iate
17	Balance Diet (5 groups)	0	2	5		0	7	<u>1 az</u>
18	Smoking	0	0	7		0	7	<u>sinc</u>
19	Alcohol	0	0	7		0	7	inc
20	Stress	7	0	0		7	0	
$ar{P}$ ((relative observed agreement)		0.7445			0.961	-5	
P_e (p:	robability of chance agreement)		0.4584			0.572	22	
	k-(kappa)		0.5282			0.910	00	

Table 3.5: Kappa-based evaluation of inter-rater agreement

CHAPTER 3. QUANTIFICATION OF CONTRIBUTING BEHAVIOR FACTORS

Sr #	Key	Importance level		Pafarancas
51. π	Factors	of factors	Demnition	References
1	Dhusiaal Astivity	5.00	Moderate to vigorous physical activity	[04.05]
1	Filysical Activity	5.00	for at-least 150 mins in a week	[94,95]
2	Sedentary Activitiv	4 14	Spending more waking time in	[96-98]
-	Sedendary Herrity		activity with MET<1.5	[/0 /0]
3	Sleeping	2.29	Activity with MET value <1.0	[99,100]
4	Regularly Eating	4.71	3-5 time with proper duration delay	[101–103]
5	Sugar Amount	4.86	Less then 10 percent of calories	[104, 105]
			per day from added sugar	
6	Dietary Fiber	2.57	25-30 gms of food must be dietary	[106, 107]
			fiber (adults) (unabsorbable plant part)	
7	Carbohydrate Amount	1.86	Major source of energy and 4-5 g/kg/day	[108, 109]
			carbohydrate are recommended	
8	Whole Grain	3.71	3 serving or about 84 gms per day of whole grains are	[110]
0	Esta (Chalastanal)	4.14	recommended to maintain a long-term nealth.	[111 112]
9	Fats (Cholesterol)	4.14	The diet should not contain more then 78 gm of Fat	[111,112]
10	Saturated Fat	2.29	Unhealthy fats from animals (solid at room temperature)	[113,114]
			and body requires about 13 gm per day.	
11	Unsaturated Fat	2.14	rearry facts from plants and fish (liquid at	[115, 116]
			Consumption of Poultry Fish Egg to	
12	Protien (Fish, Poultry)	3.14	fulfill about 56 gm of protein requirements	[117, 118]
			Rich source of calcium vitamin D and	
13	Milk (Dairy)	3.57	essential minerals and recommended 3 servings per day	[119, 120]
			2-3 servings of vegetables (preferably green	
14	Vegetables	4.14	color vegetables) per day.	[120, 121]
		100	1.5-2 servings of fruit(preferably	
15	Fruits	4.57	fresh fruits and juice) per day.	[120, 121]
16	Salt(sodium) Amount	4.43	2.5-5.0 gm of salt is recommended per day.	[122, 123]
17	Palanaa Diat (5grauna)	4.14	Combination of grains, fruits, vegetables, dairy,	[110 118 124]
17	Balance Diet (Sgroups)	4.14	and proteins in appropriate proportion .	[110, 118, 124]
18	Smoking	1.86	Cigarettes, pipe, and cigar all are injurious to health and	[124 125]
10	Shloking	4.80	major preventable risk factor of non-communicable diseases.	[124,123]
19	Alcohol	4 57	Less than 14 units per week keep health and premature	[126 127]
17		1.07	mortality risks to a low level.	[120, 127]
20	Stress	1.57	Mental or emotional pressure threats the quality of working life	[128]
		1107	and can cause aggression, absenteeism and reduced productivity.	[-=0]

Table 3.6: Key factors definition along with expert agreement status

The focus of the assessment criteria is only on the behavior risk factors rather than intermediate or proximal risk factors as shown in Table 3.7.

In study [81, 129] authors had introduced the concept of life expectancy and prediction for future mortality. According to the studies, life expectancy based on recommended healthy behavior was 17.9 years more for people with the most favorable risk-profile compared to the least favorable one as shown in Table 3.8. In study [81], authors have developed a Mortality Population Risk Tool (MPoRT) risk algorithm based on the Cox proportional hazards model to estimate the time to death by the primary risk factors. We have utilized the same technique to



Behavior	Category	Description	Score
Smoking	Heavy smoker	Daily current smoker ($\geq 1 \text{ pack/day}$)	1
	Light smoker	Daily current smoker (<1 pack/day)	3
	Non smoker	Former occasional smoker or never smoker	5
Diet	Poor Diet	Irregular, Imbalanced 5 groups food,	1
Diet	1001 Dict	High Sugar and Salt	1
	Fair Diet	Partial regularity, Partail Balanced 5	3
	I all Dict	groups food	5
	Adequate Diet	Regular, Balanced 5 groups food,	5
	Adoquate Diet	Low Sugar and Salt	5
Alcohol	Heavy drinker	10 to 24 (men) or	1
7 Heolioi	rieuvy urinker	6 to 17 (women) drinks/week	1
	Moderate drinker	5 to 9 (men) or	3
	woderate diliker	3 to 5 (women) drinks/week	5
	Light/No drinker	0 to 4 (men) or	5
	Eight i to dilliker	0 to 2(women) drinks/week	5
Physical activity	Sedentary	0 to <1.5 METs/day	1
	Moderately active	1.5 to 3 METs/day	3
	woderatery active	for 20 to 25 mins)	5
	Active	>=3METs/day	5
	Terive	(for 20 to 25 mins)	5

Table 3.7: Categories of health behavior risks factors

identify the weight-age of risk factors through proportion from a difference of life gain and life loss because of a particular risk factor.

The HBI is categorized into three levels such as healthy, unhealthy and moderate against four primary factors for behavior quantification. So, we have 3^4 total possible cases with a mean value of 23.21 index as shown in Table 3.9. The HBI in the least favorable conditions is 7.75 index while in most favorable conditions is 38.75 index. The standard deviation is about ± 6.73 , so the range of regular HBI lies between 16.50 to 29.95 which is the significant portion of the range, where unhealthy HBI lies between 7.75 to 16.50 index and similarly healthy HBI lies above 29.95 index.

As there are multiple contributing factors to decide the appropriate range we get the values of HBI with all combination of factors while keeping one factor either worst, best, and medium respectively. Initially, we have kept the value of smoking worst and read all possible values of diet,



	ole 5.6. Health		SKS Idetois	weight uge	
Behavior	Average Life	Life Loss	Life Gain	Loss & Gain	Weight-age
	(in yrs.)	(in yrs.)	(in yrs.)	(in yrs.)	
Smoking	82	73	85	12 yrs.	3.00
Poor Diet	82	78	86	8 yrs.	2.00
Alcohol	82	80	86	6 yrs.	1.50
Physical Inactivity	82	81	86	5 yrs.	1.25
Stress	82	79	83	4 yrs.	1.00

Table 3.8: Health behavior risks factors weight-age

Fived Factor	Combinational Factors		Average HBI			
	Combinational Factors	Worst	Medium	Best	Average	
	Diet					
Smoking	Alcohol	17.25	23.25	29.25	23.25	
	Physical Activity	16				
	Smoking					
Diet	Alcohol	19.25	22.80	27.25	23.10	
	Physical Activity					
	Smoking		//			
Alcohol	Diet	20.25	23.25	26.25	23.25	
	Physical Activity	ap	A			
	Smoking		5			
Physical Activity	Diet	20.75	23.25	25.75	23.25	
	Alcohol	Iur.				
	Average	19.38	23.14	27.12	23.21	

Table 3.9: Health Behavior Risks Factors

physical activity and alcohol and get average. In this way we draw the values of HBI to get the appropriate values of worst, medium, and best.

3.4.2 System architecture: healthy behavior quantification and index (HBQI) modeling

The proposed architecture consists of two major components *Behavior Situation Assessment (BSA)* and *Behavior Index Identifier (BII)*. The BSA manages the rules for quantification and assessment of multiple activities. In BSA, *Assessment Rule Manager (ARM)* manages the flow from rule creation to rule orchestration through categorization of rules with the help of *Rule Authoring Interface*





Figure 3.4: Integration Mining Minds framework with HBI methodology

Collection @ khu

(*RAI*), *Rule Categories Identifier (RCI)*, and *Rule Orchestrator (RO)*. The RAI is the convenient access point between the expert and the system to transfer their knowledge in the form of rules for assessment and quantification. The RCI categorizes the rules into monitorable parameters and assessment parameter where the RO is responsible for managing the inter-process communication for assessment and monitoring of the behavior for final behavior index identification. The *Rule Configurator (RF)* configures the rules into two different kinds of knowledge-bases to handle the assessment criteria and monitor-able parameter separately with the help of *Assessment Parameter Configurator (APC)* and *Monitor-able Parameter Configurator (MPC)*. The *Behavior Monitor (BM)* analyzes the behavior and its related situation according to the assessment criteria, if the rule is not matched then there is no need to monitor the behavior parameter through *Assessment Parameter Analyzer (APA)* and *Monitor-able Parameter Analyzer (MPA)*.

The APA manipulates the situation data of the behavior from the user's lifelog and profile which is collected by Lifelog Collector. For a success full behavior assessment, the assessment parameters must match the criteria defined by the Expert. The parameter assessment is modeled as shown below:

Consider,

 $M = \{m_1, m_2, ..., m_j\}$

Collection @ khu

Where *M*={*set of monitor-able Parameter*} *j is the number of monitor-able parameter.*

Now.

 m_i has related subset of assessment parameter which is denoted by S:

$$S = \{s_1, s_2, \dots, s_n\}$$
(3.6)

n is the total number of assessment parameter. The assessment parameter of a monitor-able parametr A_M is defined as:

$$A_M = \{A_{M_{S_1}}, A_{M_{S_2}}, \dots, A_{M_{S_K}}\}$$
(3.7)

Where, $S_K \in S$ *The indication of assessment parameter related to monitor-able parameter is as follows:*

$$I_{MA_j} = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } \bigcap_{i=1}^K A_{MS_i} = 1, i \in A_{Mj} \\ 0, & \text{Otherwise ignore} \end{cases}$$

42

(3.5)

The MPA extracts the parameter values from the lifelog activities to represent the behavior atomically or part of composite behavior. The difference between atomically or part of composite behavior can be distinguished by example. Smoking is a behavior, which can be understood and quantified atomically. However, the nutritional behavior is not quantified atomically; we have to consider the subparts like regularity, the quantity of salt, sugar, fruits, vegetables, etc. For example, smoking is a parameter which represents a single behavior atomically, whereas, the physical activity status is obtained through processing of the multiple physical activities' duration. The assessment of parameters is expressed mathematically as shown below:

$$I_{AM_j} = 1 \tag{3.8}$$

Then

$$M = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left\{ M_{iSCORE} \right\} / time$$

Where

$$time = \{ Day, Week, Month \}$$

But

$$n = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{for simple monitorable parameter} \\ 2 - \infty, & \text{for complex monitorable parameter} \end{cases}$$

The BII manages the aggregate and interprets the behavior index level. It consists of the *Behavior Index Compiler (BIC)*, *Behavior Interpreter (BI)* and *Visualization Enabler (VE)*.

The BIC drives the comprehensive index and ingredient level index. The comprehensive index presents an overall state of smoking, drinking, diet, and physical activity behaviors while ingredient level index represents individual behavior index. According to the guidelines, there are different criteria to evaluate the behaviors based on time duration. Consider the example of nutrition; it consists of further sub ingredients like regular eating, balanced diet, fats consumption, sugar intake, salt status, and vegetable intake. So in the compiler, consider the nutrition data of at least seven consecutive days as given below:



(3.9)

(3.10)

Consider,

$$B = \{ Set of Behavior \mid Smoking, Diet, Alcohol, PhyAct \}$$
(3.11)

Where

 $B_{Smoking} = no.of Packs/day$ $B_{Diet} = (DietryHabit_{SCORE} + DietryNutrient_{SCORE})$ $B_{Alcohol} = no.of Drinks/Week$ $B_{PhyAct} = \frac{\sum(time_{PhyAct}|MET_{PhyAct} \ge 3)}{Week}$

$$HBI = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \{B_i * W t_{Bi}\}$$
(3.12)

The BI maps the behavior-scale to derived-behavior-index, where the VE converts the mappedbehavior into JavaScript Object Notation (JSON) communication format. The values are presented in the form of a key-value pair which is more easily interpretable for the Behavior-Based Wellness Services. The mapping of behavior-scale as per ranges decided in section 3.4.1 is discussed below:

$$Status_{HBI} = \begin{cases} Unhealthy, & \text{if } HBI \leq v - \delta \\ Moderate, & \text{if } v - \delta \leq HBI < v + \delta \\ Healthy, & \text{if } HBI > v + \delta \end{cases}$$

The ranges of HBI in terms of healthy, moderate and unhealthy are verified through six experts from community and general medicine, endocrinology, gynaecology and oncology department dealing with lifestyle based diseases as shown in Table 3.10. These experts evaluate the overall impact based on the individual stage of the behavior. There are total 81 cases with four lifestyle factors having three possible conditions. In the current condition, while considering the marking of the overall behavior conditions is evaluated. The Value of kappa for inter-raters agreement is 0.87 which shows nearly perfect agreement among the raters. Whereas, the %age of matching cases is above 95% with matched cases of 462 out of 486 cases.



Table 5.10. Evaluation of multiple cases nom experts									
Expert #	Experties	Experience (Years)	Matched Cases	Unmatched Cases	% age of Matching				
1	General Physician	17	74	7	91.36				
2	Endocronologist	13	78	3	96.30				
3	Family Medicine	25	79	2	97.53				
4	Gyenacologist	30	78	3	96.30				
5	Oncologist	20	79	2	97.53				
6	Community Medicine	15	74	7	91.36				
	Total		462	24	95.06				

Table 3.10: Evaluation of multiple cases from experts

3.4.3 Integration of healthy behavior index with wellness application

The evaluation of HBI requires to link it with the wellness application. We have selected an open-source and sustainable echo wellness application known as Mining Minds (MM), which is adopted by a wellness organization. It was evaluated in two perspectives; the one targets the comparison with state-of-the-art wellness applications. While the other focused on activity recognition and management, specifically targeting the performance measure as published in our previous works [12, 130, 131]. It is a user-centric wellness management framework to promote a healthy lifestyle through self quantification [132]. It is using state-of-art technologies like wearable devices, smartphones, big data, and Internet-of-things (IoT) to develop lifelog and provides a personalized recommendation [130], as shown in Fig. 3.4. The framework initially obtains the information related to lifestyle behavior through questionnaires to sort out the well-know issue of cold start. After that, it maintains the log related to physical activities, eating, and maintaining the diaries of food, alcohol, and smoking. It consists of Data Curation Layer (DCL), Information Curation Layer (ICL), Service Curation Layer (SCL), Knowledge Curation Layer (KCL), and Supporting Layer (SL). DCL provides the curated data to ICL to determine low-level activities and high-level contexts through two modules Low-Level Context-Awareness (LLCA) and High-Level Context-Awareness (HLCA) [12]. Data generated from multimodal data sources (MDS), is managed, persisted and curated as lifelog by DCL after activity recognition through SCL. The HBI service obtained the activities information from lifelog in the form of temporal, spatial, and responses data to measure the frequency of the activities like physical activities, nutrition, smoking and alcohol based on context. The user's responses and activities log support to identify the status



of the behaviors.

The KCL acquires knowledge either through expert-driven or data-driven for recommendation generation. The Behavior Situation Configuration and Assessment module get the rules from the KCL's knowledge base to verify the constraints of the situation for generation of the health behavior index. The hybrid-CBR technique generates personalized recommendations based on activities' status, user location, user preferences, and user profile information [133]. The SL enriches the overall Mining Minds functionalities through adequate privacy and security mechanisms, interactive and adaptive user interface, and implicit and explicit feedback analysis [134].

3.5 Results and discussion

We have evaluated the user experience and usability of the HBI service that is available to lifestyle curious customers for more than 12 weeks as a part of the MM recommendation and education services. The user experience has been evaluated through validated User Experience Questionnaire (UEQ) which involves pairs of antonyms-adjectives with a seven scale level from -3 to 3 (e.g., annoying vs. enjoyable). The UEQ's 26 pairs are categorized into Attractiveness, Efficiency, Perspicuity, Stimulation, Dependability and Novelty scales. User experience, as well as a change in behavior, is an appropriate way to compare the effectiveness of behavior quantification and adaptation techniques. It is the unique technique that comprehensively covers the essential behavior factors, which are usually not concerned by other applications. Additionally, the six categorized scales are mapped to the three abstract-level: *Attractiveness, Pragmatic quality (Perspicuity, Efficiency, Dependability)* and, *Hedonic quality (novelty, stimulation)* scale.

3.5.1 Study Participants

We have performed the experiments with the collaboration of wellness management organization. There were 103 participants with personal smart devices from wellness management organization, who selected the HBI service voluntarily along with the MM platform as shown in Table 3.11.



Categories	Attributes	No. Of Users	% age of Users				
Age(Years)	35 to 40	25	24.27%				
	41 to 50	52	50.48%				
	Above 50	26	25.24%				
Gender	Male	65	63.10%				
	Female	38	36.89%				
Chronic Diseases	Obesity	33	37.86%				
	Hyperlipidemia	25	24.27%				
	Hypertension	21	20.39%				
	Diabetes	24	20.30%				
Study Completion	Complete	99	96.12%				
	Left	04	03.89%				
Experties inElectronic Gadgets	Proficient	20	19.42%				
	Moderate	76	73.79%				
C	Newbie	07	06.80%				

Table 3.11: Participants demographic Information

3.5.2 Participants experience evaluation

Questionnaires are the most suitable and highly efficient tool of user experience (UX). However, it is not always necessary to benchmark the questionnaires' result to identify the level of effectiveness. The UEQ compares the level of participants' experience, and measured scale means with a benchmark dataset of 4818 persons from 163 studies related to different services. The well-known Cronbach's alpha coefficient guides to evaluate the mean value per item [135]. Figure 3.5 shows that the mean values of 50% items are greater than or equal to 1.5, demonstrating the high impact of the HBI service.

The analysis of UEQ support to calculate the means of attractiveness, perspicuity, efficiency, stimulation, dependability, and novelty scales [135, 136] in the range of -3 to 3 [137] as shown in Figure 3.6. The stimulation scale has a value close to 2.0, reflecting the higher driving impact of service on the participants [137].

The confidence interval (measure for the precision of the mean estimation) has been evaluated through 95% confidence intervals for UEQ scale mean [138]. The confidence for the HBI service were 0.241 (1.411 to 1.653) for attractiveness, 0.238 (1.555 to 1.793) for perspicuity, 0.246 (1.607 to 1.853) for efficiency, 0.240 (1.487 to 1.727) for dependability, 0.222 (1.740 to 1.962) for stimulation and 0.242 (1.503 to 1.745) for novelty as shown in Figure 3.6.





Mean Value per Item

Figure 3.5: Scale mean value per item

The consistency of the UEQ scale is based on reliability, measured through the Cronbach's alpha coefficient. The value of Cronbach's alpha was greater than 0.7 for all six scales. Moreover, the UEQ scales are categorized into Attractiveness (ATT), Pragmatic Quality (PQ), and Hedonic Quality (HQ) dimensions [136]. The UEQ evaluation tool analyzed the HQ (1.62) and PQ (1.55) as good with the mean value higher than 0.80 (Figure 3.7) [137]. As HBI service has a reasonable high PQ score, so it provides evidence that it is easy to use.

The UEQ tool benchmarks it with other services based on user experience [136]. According to the observation of benchmark comparison, the novelty and stimulation aspects of HBI service lie in an excellent range, whereas the attractiveness aspect is in the above average range, and rest are in the range of good as shown in Figure 3.8.





Figure 3.6: UEQ scale value

3.6 Summary

Human behavior quantification for the assessment and adaptation is an active research area in the wellness management community. The root cause analysis of the behavior for the care and cure of the noncommunicable diseases depends on identification of the unhealthy daily routine. The derived HBI covers the comprehensive status of four basic habits like smoking, imbalanced diet, alcohol and physical inactivity. It will help the individuals and experts for root cause analysis of disease. The HBI service is designed independently to work as a service so any other service-enabled wellness management platform can utilize it to evaluate the healthy behavior status for behavior indication, recommendation generation, and behavior adaptation. The change in the HBI is a highly useful indicator for behavior adaptation, which motivates the user of wellness application to utilize it for a longer period. In future, the study can be extended to include persons having





Figure 3.8: Benchmark of HBI service

lifestyle-based chronic diseases such as obesity, diabetes, and hyperlipidemia, where HBI service will support the wellness application to generate intervention based on personalized conditions. Our evaluation showed that hedonic quality was higher than pragmatic quality and attractiveness which depicts that it stimulated the user regarding the behavior status. In future, we want to analyze the impact of HBI service for the healthy behavior adaptation in elderly individuals.



Chapter 4

Behavior Context based Intervention Mapping

4.1 Overview

Behavior related to lifestyle requires continuous guidance to adopt healthy behavior through monitoring and interventions. Unhealthy behavior may cause health complications and consequently, degrade the quality of life hence a burden on the society and economy. The personal awareness about lifestyle status has been revolutionized from last decade due to the advancement in information and communication technologies (ICT). Recently, the e-health and wellness applications have changed the trend of healthcare application from responsive to proactive [139] in terms of services and features involving people of all ages with confidence, motivation, and style to adopt a healthier lifestyle. ICT and smart gadgetries equipped with wearables have stimulated people to involve such valuable wellness applications. These applications collect a variety of data through built-in sensors seamlessly. It is used to determine the target in the form of steps count, weight loss, women's health during pregnancy, and calorie consumption. Now, it is believed that the future of the health domain lies in big data that is nurtured by the Internet of things (IoT). Therefore, a variety of digital well-being applications are taking the role of personalized counselors to guide about risky behaviors and adopt healthy ones [140]. The traditional way of behavior adaptation is changing from long interactions of the physician to just-in-time interventions. These overcome the tedious tasks depending on human memory and polluted through some bias. In wellness management, it is essential to understand what are unhealthy behaviors and their consequences.



4.1.1 Unhealthy Lifestyle Behavior

Multiple lifestyle-related risk factors like unhealthy diet, smoking, physical inactivity, and alcohol consumption have been identified as a cause for the development of Noncommunicable Chronic Diseases (NCD) and the major changeable. The recent emphasis of healthcare has been on promoting a healthy diet, smoking cessation, avoiding alcohol consumption, and regular physical activities. The unhealthy lifestyle not only degrades the quality of life but also increases the economic burden on the community. Hence, the sedentary living is defined as the waking time spent in such activities whose Metabolic Equivalent Task (MET) value is less than 3. The interrupts at regular intervals in sedentary behavior improve the person's metabolic process [141]. So, an indication of prolonged physical inactivity behavior helps in changing the lifestyle for a long healthy life. Similarly, an imbalanced diet consumed for a long time may increase the probability of chronic disease development. A persuasive health agent and an unhealthy diet pattern are one of the causes of chronic diseases and premature death [142]. The balanced diet is a combination of multiple nutrients in different proportions, which is necessary for the nurturing of vital organs, whereas an excess of some nutrients is dangerous also. Smoking and drinking are two most negatively criticized lifestyle habits. Abuse of alcohol and smoking lay a foundation of multiple and critical health issues that range from mild-to-severs life-threatening dangers. The only exception is the moderate consumption of alcohol [143]. The knowledge about the complications of alcohol consumption and smoking on the body can motivate for their reduction and avoid abuse. Innovative interventions and wellness systems are needed to guide an addicted person effectively and efficiently.

4.1.2 Lifestyle impact on Chronic Diseases

Lifestyle patterns such as regular exercise, non-sedentary activities, a balanced diet, not smoking, and controlled alcohol consumption, prevents and manages lifestyle-related NCDs [144], as shown in Table 4.1. The factors that have impact on the diseases are mention through '*' and diseases which are not affected by '-'. The diseases include heart disease, hypertension, stroke, muscles problem, bone disorder, cancer, obstructive lung disease, obesity, diabetes, and chronic back pain. The impact of lifestyle-related factors on the cause of NCDs is significant and by adopting healthy



Table 4.1: Contribution of lifestyle factors in chronic diseases							
Sr.#	lifestyle	Diabetes	CVD	Obesity	Metabolic	Cancer	
	Factors				Syndrome		
1	Physical	*	*	*	*	*	
	Exercise						
2	Quite	*	*	_	_	*	
	Smoking						
3	Maintain	*	*	*	*	*	
	Healthy BMI						
4	Intake	*	*	*	*	—	
	Whole Grain	·					
5	Reduce	*	*	*	*	—	
	Sugar						
6	Reduce	*	-	-	_	_	
	Salt						
7	Fruits		*	*	-	_	
	& Vegetables						
8	Low	*	*	*	*	_	
	Calories	202		Co2			
9	Low	*	*	JA-IV	*	_	
	Fats	MAND I	The world is	Shar			

one, a person can enjoy healthy and a long quality life.

- * : represents that the lifestyle behavior has an impact in the corresponding disease.
- -: represents that the lifestyle behavior has no impact in the corresponding disease

Wellness Management Applications 4.1.3

The design and development of health care and wellness applications are focusing on managing and analyzing the individual's activity log to identify healthy and unhealthy behavior [11]. The recent trend of healthcare for disease management has been shifted from reactive to disease avoidance by identifying a personalized behavior pattern. The behavior patterns support proactively to diagnose the root cause of any undesired chronic health issues. Multiple applications are available like MyFitnessPal, FIIT, Move GB, Sleep++, Headspace, RiseToday, 8Fit, GoogleFit, RunKeeper, and others. These are the current high ranked digital well being applications, which quantify user activities, step counts, calories consumption, and provide visualization of user status to support fulfilling the daily goal and weight management.





Figure 4.1: Abstract flow of UCAI methodology

The literature has highlighted that self-monitoring the critical concept of well-being apps track activities and record feedback but don't focus in habit formation or social support contents. Habit formation is the most important aspect towards behavior change through the conscious use of technology, which ensures long-term impact [145].

4.2 Background

According to the latest World Health Organization (WHO) global status report, non-communicable diseases (NCD) associated with lifestyle habits are currently the major causes of worldwide deaths [154]. In reality, NCDs are responsible for more than 66% of the world's deaths, out of which 40% represents premature deaths under the age of 70. The WHO has identified the invisible epidemic of non-communicable diseases and defined a clear strategy to overcome the impact of the catastrophe tie of the scenario. Most of the measures outlined in these strategies seek change to an unhealthy lifestyle and adverse behaviors, such as alcohol and tobacco use, excessive salt and sugar intake, and poor physical activity, among others, by applying systematic methods of prevention and control. Traditional behavioral change approaches require users to engage in self-monitoring regularly. Notwithstanding the theoretically well-founded self-monitoring systems, many of them have proven to be unsuccessful in practice [141]. The main reason for the ineffectiveness is the lack of motivation, planning, and diligence shown in these self-tracking systems by frequent users. People regularly encounter discomfort when calculating, analyzing, and annotating information, resulting in a lack of interest in the role of reporting [142].


Sr. # Important Factors		Expert	D-6-:4:	Estimation	References
		driven Rank	Demition	Process	
			Cigar, pipe, and cigarettes all are		
1	Tobacco Consumption	4.86	dangerous and a major preventable	SR, QSU	[33–35, 124, 125]
	(Smoking)		risk factor of NCDs.		
			A controlled amount per week keep risk		
2	Alcohol Consumption	4.57	of NCDs and premature mortality at	SR, AUQ	[35–38, 126, 127]
			low level.		
3	Leisure time and daily	5.00	Moderate intensity physical activities	SR	[13_16 94 95]
5	physical activities	5.00	for at least 150 mins in a week	bit	[15 10,74,75]
4	Dietary Regularity	4 71	Daily 3 to 5 times with at-least	SR FFO	[29-32 101-103]
•	and Pattern		4 to 5 hours delay.	510,112	[25 52,101 105]
5	Sugar, Chocolates, and	4 86	Added sugar is not good and less then 10%	SR DSO	[104 105 146]
-	Sweetened Soft Drinks		of daily calories obtain through it.	, x	[]
6	Whole Grains, Fiber,	3.71	Adult food must contain 25 to 30 gms	SR, FFQ,	[23, 25, 27, 106, 107]
-	and Carbohydrate	0/	dietary fiber (unabsorbable plant part)	24RC	[,,,,,,]
7	Saturated and Unsaturate	d 4.14	Saturated fat is not good, and diet	SR, FFQ,	[23, 26–28, 111, 112]
	Fats (Cholesterol)		should contain less then 78 gms of fat	24RC, OQ	[,,]
8	Protein	3.14	It is essential nutrient and adult should	SR, FFQ,	[23, 25, 28, 117, 118]
	(Egg, Fish, Poultry)		take about 0.8 gms per kilogram of body weight.	24RC, OQ	[23,23,20,117,110]
	Doim: (Mille Voquat		It is source of vitamin D, calcium and		
9	Button Chasco)	3.57	essential minerals, at-least daily 3 servings	PR, FFQ	[119, 120, 147]
	Butter, Cheese)		are recommended.		
10	Fruits	4.57	Daily 1.5 to 2 servings of fresh	SR, PR,	[20-22, 120, 121]
			fruits and juice are preferred	FFQ	[,,]
11	Vegetables	4.14	Daily 2 to 3 servings of preferably	SR, FFQ,	[23-25, 120, 121]
			green vegetables are recommended.	OQ	
12	Dietary / External Salt	4.43	Daily, about 2.5 to5.0 gms of salt	RES	[122, 123, 148, 149]
	(sodium) Amount		is recommended for adult without NCDs.		
			Multi-nutrient from proteins, dairy,		
13	Balance Diet (5groups)	4.14	grains, fruits, and vegetables are required	FFQ	[110, 118, 120, 124, 150]
			in an appropriate proportion .		
			Mental pressure causes aggression and threats		
14	Mental Stress	1.57	the working quality as well as	BJSQ, RESTQ	[128, 151–153]
			reduced productivity.		

Table 4.2: Important factors' definition, expert driven rank along with evaluation process

SR: Self Report

- PR: Parents Report
- FFQ: Food Frequency Question
- DSQ:Dietary Screener Questionnaire
- RES:Dietary Sodium Restriction

Collection @ khu

- RESTQ: RecoveryStress Questionnaire
- 24RC: 24 hours Recall
- QSU: Questionnaire of Smoking Urges
- AUQ: Alcohol Urges Questionnaire
- OQ: Other Questionnaire
- BJSQ: Brief Job Stress Questionnaire

The information and communication technologies have shifted the focus of healthcare and wellness applications to facilitate the seamless and automatic monitoring of user's behavior. Usercentric Personalized Interventions (UCPI) can be sufficient to persuade, learn, adapt, and adopt practice towards a healthy lifestyle. The user-centric interventions should be developed by analyzing the user's lifelog data, preferences, context, and health constraints. Notably, in the health and well-being domain, the consideration of user-centric information can be valuable for attaining the user's attention in adopting and maintaining healthy behaviors for a quality and long life [155].

The challenge is to engage and maintain the interest for adopting a healthy lifestyle, it becomes the behavior of the user. The generation of effective user-centric intervention implies, the justification of given recommendation and the adaptation of intervention in response to the modification of users' status and environment. Thus, instead of generalized persuasive features, systems should have adaptive capabilities to provide flexible persuasive interventions to teach a healthy lifestyle in an actionable and feasible manner. The modeling of persuasive mechanism for adoptable and context-dependent intervention is more ambitious than most current approaches on persuasive technologies. The design of a persuasive system for behavior adaptation must ensure the consideration of user behavior status, knowledge, context, preferences, and health conditions [155].

Diverse commonplace technologies, such as GPS or accelerometers sensors, have been embedded in various smart commercial products to assess the most trouble sleeping, the total number of steps taken at a reasonable speed, and prolonged sedentary activities [11, 12]. Activity-based tracking technologies have shifted the phenomenon of "quantified self" from self-reporting to an unobtrusive manner. In literature, multiple studies are found related to self-quantification, as discussed in Table 4.2, depending on different techniques. In self-reporting studies, surveys were conducted related to physical activities, leisure time sports, walking for commuting, and daily habits related to performing different tasks [13–19]. The diet is a composite concept based on different micro nutrients . Every micronutrient has its importance and criteria for assessment, which are discussed in different literature. The evaluation is based on parents and self reported Food Frequency Questionnaire (FFQ) depending on 24-hour recall [20–32]. The addictive behavior of smoking and alcohol had been evaluated through self reporting and specific questionnaires related to urges for these addiction [33–38].



Behavior	Category	Description	Score	
Tobacco Consumption (smoking)	Low	No. of Packs $\geq 1 \text{ pack/day}$	1	
	Medium	No. of Packs <1 pack/day	3	
	High	No smoking or occasional smoker	5	
Alcohol Consumption	Low	10-24 drinks/week (men) or	1	
Action Consumption	LOW	6-17 drinks/week (women)	1	
	Medium	5-9 drinks/week (men) or	3	
	Wiedfulli	3-5 drinks/week (women)		
	High	0-4 drinks/week (men) or	5	
	Ingn	0-2 drinks/week (women)		
Physical Exercise (Waking time activities)	Low	Activities with 0-1.5 METs/day	1	
	Medium	Activities with 1.5-3 METs/day	3	
	Wicdium	(for at-least 20 mins)	5	
	High	Activities with >=3 METs/day	5	
	mgn	(for at-least 20 mins)	5	
Dietary Habits (Food)	Low	Imbalanced , Irregular,	1	
Dictary Habits (Food)	LOW	Unhealthy Fat, Sugar and Salt	1	
	Medium	Partial Balanced and Regular	3	
	wiedlulli	multiple food	5	
1 Style	High	Regular, Balanced food,	5	
1 (257)	ingn	Low Fat, Sugar and Salt	5	

Table 4.3: Categories wise description and score of health behavior risk factors

4.3 User-Centric Adaptive Intervention (UCAI) Methodology for Behavior Change

We have proposed a conceptual framework based on the User-centric Adaptive Intervention (UCAI) for behavior change, which has engaged behavior change theory (BCT) in an actionable manner through ICT, as Figure 4.1. This framework consists of four steps a) Behavior quantification, b) Behavior-context mapping, c) Intervention selection, and d) Feedback evaluation.

The behavior change requires continuous monitoring and guidance according to the user context and preferences. However, the understanding of users' context and the condition is the foundation for generating fruitful interventions. The intervention is adapted concerning the context, preferences, abilities, knowledge, behavior status, and health conditions. The involvement of the user with a little effort to map with the intervention aggravate the behavior successfully by adapting the process. The philosophy of the UCAI is based on multi-steps from expert-based knowledge to personalized, just-in-time intervention, as shown in Figure 4.1. Initially, the quantification of user



lifelog to estimate the condition of users' behavior status. The quantified behavior is mapped with the behavior-context based stage for the assessment of the behavioral stage. Once a behavioral stage is identified, then appropriate intervention is selected based on the expert-defined rule. According to Heron's intervention model, there are two styles of interventions authoritative and facilitative [156], which are further categorized into prescriptive, informative, confronting, supportive, catalytic, and cathartic as discussed in Table 4.7. Finally, the response of the user is evaluated to understand the influence of the intervention on the behavior.

4.3.1 Lifestyle Behavior Quantification (LBQ)

Recently, our lives are over-saturated with data, but we are lacking from exploiting its full potential. Mainly, wellness is one area where this issue is very prevalent. Digital well-being technologies have produced a plethora of data for individuals who want to abandon, adapt, and adopt habits to improve health. Therefore, the selection and quantification of appropriate habits are most non-trivial. We have identified most discussed lifestyle factors from the various guidelines based on the term related to behavior discussed in 2018 Physical Activity Guidelines (PAG) Advisory Committee Scientific Report, A guide to smoking cessation in Scotland 2010- updated 2017, Composition of Foods Integrated Dataset (CoFID- Version 2015), and National Diet and Nutrition Survey (NDNS nutrient Databank). The process of LBQ is discussed in subsequent sections from factors selection to aggregation for behavior quantification.

EXPERT DRIVEN LIFESTYLE FACTORS SELECTION

The scrutiny of contributing factors for the indication of lifestyle is the fundamental step of quantification, as a refinement of crude oil. The lifestyle factors are obtained from multiple wellness guidelines in the domain of physical activity, nutrition, smoking, and alcohol. Experts have graded the identified factors to define the contributing factors and sub-factors. Seven professionals from the wellness domain had mentioned their agreement or disagreement level through a psychometric scale Likert questionnaire [64] to rank the lifestyle factors with Fliess' Kappa. The Kappa agreement value is 0.379, which is fair enough with multiple categories among multiple raters. The lifestyle factors, along with their definition and ranks, are discussed in the Table 4.3.



CATEGORIZATION OF CONTRIBUTING FACTORS

The categorization of factors into different levels is necessary to estimate their impact. It is also essential to distinguish between the different levels of multiple factors that are included in each assessment for the proper quantification of the behavior. The main concern of the evaluation criteria is only the behavioral risk factors rather than proximal or intermediate risk factors, as discussed in Table 3.8. The individual score, based on the severity mention in the definition, has been utilized to generate the index for healthy behavior. Improving health behaviors would result in adding years to life and could reduce the financial burden on the health care system as well as family caregivers [157].

LIFE EXPECTANCY BASED WEIGHT-AGE OF FACTORS

The concept of life expectancy and prediction of mortality drives us to deduce the weight-age of each factor discussed in the study [81,129]. The life expectancy of people with the most favorable risk-profile based on recommended behavior was about 18 years more than the least favorable one [158], as shown in Table 3.8. The Mortality Population Risk Tool (MPoRT), based on the Cox proportional hazards model, was adopted to estimate expected time to death based on the primary risk factors. The proposed technique of risk factors' weight-age also depends on the proportion of life loss and life gain because of a specific risk factor. As the focus is not purely related to life expectancy, but to indicate the users about the status of behavior through the health behavior index to take precautionary measures.

CONTEXT-BASED AGGREGATION

The essence of behavior quantification is to get the value which can easily represent the status of the behavior. Behavior is a very complex qualitative concept based on multiple micro factors. Therefore, comprehensive behavior index is composed of multiple ingredient behaviors, which are smoking, drinking, diet, and physical activity [158]. The nature and metric of the behavior define its context, which helps to aggregate the behavior in an appropriate proportion, as shown in Equation 4.1. The dietary behavior is a complex one based on the habit and consumed nutrients. The aggregation based on the weight-age of respective ingredients to compose a Healthy Behavior



Index (HBI), as shown in Equation 4.2:

$$B = \{ Set of Behavior \mid Smoking, Diet, Alcohol, PhyAct \}$$
(4.1)

Where

 $B_{Smoking} = No.of Packs/day$ $B_{Diet} = (DietHabit_{SCORE} + DietNutrient_{SCORE})$ $B_{Alcohol} = No.of Drinks/Week$ $B_{PhyAct} = \frac{\sum(time_{PhyAct}|MET_{PhyAct} \ge 3)}{Week}$

$$HBI = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \{B_i * W t_{Bi}\}$$
(4.2)

The behaviors are evaluated based on habit frequency: the smoking habit is quantified through the daily number of packs; the alcohol consumption and performing physical activities are assessed weekly; the diet behavior is a composite-behavior and is assessed based on individual nutrients quantity.

4.3.2 Behavior-Context Mapping

In Behavior-Context Mapping (BCM), we have employed the Transtheoretical Model (TTM) to identify the different stages for behavior change through continuous monitoring of HBI. Habitual behaviors lay down the foundation of human health, which impacts the cause of multiple non-communicable chronic diseases [159]. Some behaviors require some instantaneous attention to achieve recommended health outcomes like vaccination, while many behaviors require continuous and repeated efforts and knowledge to attain the recommended outcomes related to routine habits like eating, drinking, exercising, and smoking. For such a condition, behavior change must be considered as a long-term and continuous process, which can be strategically staged from initiation to maintenance.



HEALTHY BEHAVIOR INDEX CATEGORIZATION

The comprehensive HBI is quantified into low, medium, and high at a scale of 1, 3, and 5, respectively, for four primary factors. So, there are 3^4 total possible cases with a mean value of 23.21 index, as shown in Table 3.9. The least favorable condition of HBI is 7.75 when all factors have the lowest values. However, HBI is in the most favorable value of 38.75 when all factors are at the highest. The ranges for the healthy, moderate, and unhealthy status for behavior are set through the standard deviation. The standard deviation is about ± 6.73 , so the moderate behavior lies in HBI range between 16.50 to 29.95 It is a significantly big portion of the range. The healthy behavior lies in HBI greater than 29.95 whereas the unhealthy lies in HBI range between 7.75 to 16.50 index.

MAPPING HEALTHY BEHAVIOR INDEX WITH USER CATEGORIES

Behavior status can be categorized into multiple levels depending on the user's knowledge, mindset, and actions. According to Bloom's taxonomy, which is related to learning, the behavior can be classified into six different levels based on knowledge and comprehension. Similarly, the Transtheoretical Model (TTM) has identified different stages for behavior change and become one of the most widely used models of the healthcare domain. The model is based on multiple strategies used by individuals to adapt unhealthy habits and behaviors. The TTM stages are described as follows:

PRE-CONTEMPLATION

Pre-contemplators don't understand the necessity of behavioral change. They can be distinguished into those who are aware of it but have not decided to pursue it and those who don't know the possibilities and benefits of behavior change.

CONTEMPLATION

Contemplatists consider adaptation in behavior, weighing the pros and cons, or advantages and disadvantages of behavior changing. Ambivalence, the mixed feeling of confusion regarding the change, is the foundation of the contemplation stage. It is essential to overcome the confusion before initiating any successful adaptive therapy.



PREPARATION

Individuals who have resolved the confusion and are about to pursue the change are now in the preparation stage. At this stage, the verbal commitment of change reflects the readiness state of the individual. Even setting up a goal for changing the behavior is possible, because the person is ready to take action.

• ACTION

In this stage, individuals are actively engaged in modifying their respective behavior. It has adopted healthy lifestyle behavior and followed appropriate one form the recent past. The strategy for observing healthy actions is based on the quantification of the behavior nature i.e. the amount of alcohol consumed in a week.

MAINTENANCE

The behavior-maintenance stage is the practice of newly adopted un-intervented behavior in daily routine. The confidence level increases gradually as the adopted behavior is exercised continuously. The permanent habitual change process requires a lot of user's determination and patience [160].

Advanced researches have shaped the model to represent how individuals perform in adapting various behaviors, including initiating healthy regimens and quitting addictive unhealthy behaviors. It has been largely applied across multiple health-related behaviors, including physical activities, diet, smoking, and alcohol consumption. It provides an organizing framework to facilitate the adaptation of behavior [160]. The framework identified five stages of users concerning their condition and situations.

• DATA PREPARATION

The mode of data acquisition for health behavior stage prediction is a questionnaire-based and lifelog. The lifelog data contains multiple attributes related to nutrition, smoking, alcohol consumption, and physical activities and maintained by Mining Minds (MM) platform. The behavior stage-wise information is obtained through survey questionnaires. The lifestyle data collected





Figure 4.2: Architecture for behavior stage prediction model



through sensors is presented and quantified on the bases of scores, as discussed in Table 3.9. However, the behavior stage data is obtained through the Health Behavior and Stages of Change Questionnaire (HBSCQ) [161]. In the data acquisition process, nearly 87 people used MM for seven days, but the seven persons' responses were not completed. Finally, the individuals are surveyed to provide lifestyle-related stage-wise behavior information through HBSCQ. Since the focus is on the generalized behavior stage prediction model, so we tried to get information from random people, irrespective of ethnicity, gender, culture, environment, education, income, and location. Though few of the elements have impacts on the behavior, our focus is towards basic lifestyle behaviors (diet, physical activity, smoking, alcohol).

Table 4.4: HBSCQ questions related to TTM stages						
Smoking	Physical activity	Nutrition consultation	Alcohol consumption	TTM Stages		
QueID	QueID	QueID	QueID	9		
а	с	-bB 6	a	Pre-contemplation		
b	d	c, g	b, c	Contemplation		
с	b, e	d Mary un antwo	d	Ready		
d, e	a, f, g	e, f	e	Action		
f, g, h	h, i	a, g	f, g	Maintenance		

• The Health Behavior and Stages of Change Questionnaire (HBSCQ) [161] is used.

• The HBSCQ is mapped with different stages of Trans-theoretical Model TTM. It reflects that responses guide us to identity the behavior wise stage of the user.

FEATURE CONSTRUCTION

The FFQ and HBSCQ are used to obtain the responses regarding different lifestyle habits and status of behavior stage. These responses are generally related to 4 main areas of lifestyle habits like physical activity, diet, smoking, and alcohol. The FFQ recorded responses related to the dietary lifestyle behavior of the users. The information related to physical activity, smoking, and alcohol consumption is obtained through different questionnaires, respectively. The HBSCQ consists of multiple questions related to the basic lifestyle habits regarding the level of knowledge,



Sr. #	Intervention Style	Intervention Categories	Definition	Example	ICT Based Interven-
1		Prescriptive	Explicitly direct the user through advice and direction	1: Guide and advice 2: How to react in a sit- uation 3: What should be the behavior	
2	Authoritative	Informative	Provide knowledge to guide about the situa- tion	 Knowledge about the background Explain the experi- ence Make understand- able the consequences 	
3		Confronting	Challenging the user through pros and cons of identification	 Support to avoid mistake repeat Challenge the other person thinking Communicate the shortcomings Make users aware of deficiencies 	 Virtual assistance based reminders Smart Environ- ments Educational Text Messages Video Link Recommendations on instant messages Internet-based Program Emails Just-in-Time Alarm & Alert
4		Cathartic	Help to overcome the doubts and thoughts	1: Help to understand the feelings and fears 2: Empathize with them 1: Encourage for fresh	9: SMS Reminder
5	Facilitative	Catalytic	Help to learn through self awareness	thinking 2: Encourage to adopt new solutions 3: Listen and Summa- rize 1: Tell the value of	
6		Supportive	Build confidence in the user through qual- ities and competences	achievement 2: Praise on the ac- complishment 3: Support to the ful- fillment of commit- ment	

Table 4.5: Intervention categories to stimulate the user for behavior change

Collection @ khu

intention to change, and current status of behavior. The responses of the HBSCQ is quantified to mark the status of the behavior change stage of a user, as discussed in Table 4.4.

The behavior and stage of behavior are two different prospects to understand and correlate with each other. We have collected the lifestyle behavior data of the same volunteers based on the week experience. The lifestyle behavior data is collected through very well known questionnaires related to diet, physical activity, smoking, and alcohol consumption. The responses of the questionnaires are marked through 1-5 Likert scale for the quantification of the contributing features of the lifestyle behavior, as described in Table 3.8.

BEHAVIOR STAGE PREDICTION MODEL

The ensemble learning method is applied for behavior stage classification. It is based on multiple base learners to improve performance over a single learner for the prediction of behavior. So we have used a majority voting technique in conjunction with Support Vector Machine (SVM), Naïve Bayes (NB), and Decision Tree base-learners. Based on the majority voting of base learners, the user behavior is classified into 5 basic stages of behavior: pre-contemplation, contemplation, preparation, action, and maintenance, as shown in Figure 4.2.

4.3.3 Personalization of the Intervention: Intervention Selection

The right intervention at the right stage to the right person is the key concerned of the study. However, the personalization of intervention is the target to attain user attention so that it becomes actionable and enhances the chances of behavior adaptation. The adaptation of modifiable behaviors related to diet, physical activity, alcohol, smoking, stress, and sleeping is necessary to avoid the probability of chronic non-communicable diseases. Literature has highlighted that imbalanced diet, physical inactivity, abuse of alcohol, and smoking are the riskiest factors for non-communicable chronic diseases. The impact of these modifiable behaviors on chronic diseases is discussed in Table 4.1. Every person has a different lifestyle behavior status, so it is necessary to generate personalized intervention, as discussed in Table 4.7.



TRANSTHEORETICAL MODEL-BASED BEHAVIOR STAGES

The behavior stats of the user can be categorized according to the Transtheoretical Model (TTM), which divides the For the personalization, the quantification of behaviors, and habits to understand the status and refinement of interventions. The quantification is performed on the basis of health standards set by different organizations. The quantification needs the targeted behavior and then converted into an appropriate scale as per the standard way or through expert-defined guidelines.



Figure 4.3: The Mining Minds conceptual architecture with integration of lifestyle behavior monitoring framework

4.3.4 Feedback Evaluation

The response evaluation of the intervention is a very non-trivial task to improve the content as well as understand the context of the situation. There are two possibilities to record the responses either through user satisfaction or through user actions. The direction of the latest research is shifting towards implicit feedback from explicit feedback.

• EXPLICIT FEEDBACK

The level of satisfaction against the intervention from the system is obtained after an appropriate time. The satisfaction level is graded based on the Likert scale from 1-5, representing strongly disagree to strongly agree regarding the different kinds of interventions. The challenge is to obtain feedback from elderly people in a regular manner and avoid memory and emotion-based bias.



Finally, we have obtained the user experience through survey questionnaire discussed in appendix A.

• IMPLICIT FEEDBACK

Implicit feedback data is obtained on the basis of the action performed by the customers maintained in the lifelog. The implicit feedback data is much cheaper and easier to obtain as it requires no extra effort from the customers. The challenge is to map the response actions with the interventions for effectiveness measurement. So our methodology has utilized the change in comprehensive HBI over time with respect to the behavior context for the evaluation of interventions' effectiveness. The computation of HBI is totally dependent on lifelog and the responses of the behavior-evaluation questionnaire.

4.4 Realization of Methodology through Wellness Management Platform

The goal of the user-centric behavior context-based intervention methodology is to enhance the efficiency of a wellness platform that can handle the information of user behavior related to lifestyle. This platform has the capability to curate the user information and generate the appropriate recommendation. For the evaluation of the methodology, we have selected our ongoing wellness management project. It has the capability to obtain raw data from multi-modal sensors and process the data to build context for recommendation generation.

4.4.1 Mining Minds in a nut shell

Mining Minds (MM) is an open-source and person-centric wellness platform that is designed to gather lifestyle data through multi-modal sensors and build context to generate recommendations for lifestyle adaptation [12], [134]. The primary focus of the framework is digital health and well-being through daily activities based on recommendations and educational facts. It comprises state of the art wearables, Internet-of-things (IoT), big data, and ontological inferencing technologies to provide personalized healthcare and wellness services. The smartphone and watch's sensory data





Figure 4.4: Functional diagram of lifestyle behavior monitoring framework

is utilized to recognize activities, emotions, and location, which is persisted into an intermediate database, as shown in Figure 4.3. The platform manages the complete life cycle from raw data to personalized recommendations through data curation, information curation, knowledge curation, service curation, and supporting layers.

The Supporting Layer (SL) is responsible for managing the access of the application for endusers as well as experts. It provides interactive interfaces for analytics, recommendations, and feedback. The Service Curation Layer (SCL) orchestrates the personalized requirements of the user through context, emotion, preferences, demographics, and physiological factors based recommendations. It manages the pull and push-based recommendations' communication for justin-time interventions as well as circadian rhythm-based diet plan. It also considers the goal-based calorie requirement through personalized MET and BMI values. The Knowledge Curation Layer (KCL) provides intelligent rule authoring toolkit to support expert for transforming their experiences and wellness knowledge in the form of recommendations rules [140]. These rules guide the kind of recommendation provided to the user based on the situation context identified from the lifelog. These rules consider the list of unhealthy and risky habits at a particular time to target specialized recommendations as compare to general recommendations for change in lifestyle.

The data curation and information curation layers play a vital role in providing the foundation



	True. Contemplation	True. Precontemplation	True. Ready	True. Action	Class Precision
Pred. Contemplation	49	1	0	0	98.00%
Pred. Precontemplation	0	20	0	0	100.00%
Pred. Ready	0	0	26	1	96.30%
Pred. Action	0	0	0	4	100.00%
Class Recall	100.00%	95.24%	100.00%	80.00%	

Table 4.6: Classification recall and precision through behavior context prediction model

of activity recognition, context building, emotion identification, and lifelogging. The Data Curation Layer (DCL) manages the data in raw as well as processed format through data acquisition and synchronization, lifelog representation and mapping, lifelog monitoring and big data storage processes [12]. Information Curation Layer (ICL) identifies user's activities and context from multimodal sensory data managed in hierarchical models. It employs emotion, location, and multiple activity recognizers, respectively. These recognizers generate the low-level context, and the fusion of this context builds a high-level context that is curated in DCL. The developed Lifestyle Behavior Monitoring Framework (LBMF) is integrated with DCL to obtained data from intermediate databased. The intermediate database comprises of lifelog, and profile information.

4.4.2 Lifestyle Behavior Monitoring Framework

The scope of this study is the Lifestyle Behavior Monitoring Framework (LBMF) which enhances the functionality of DCL, as shown in Figure 4.3; the components represented by dotted lines are not covered in detail here. The figure shows a conceptual view of the user-centric behavior context-based intervention process, whose work-flow is explained in the simulation section. The proposed architecture is divided into off-line and on-line processes on the basis of their working situation. The off-line process has two sub-processes known as lifelog metadata extraction and rule management, as shown in Figure 4.4. While the on-line process consists of three sub-processes, know as lifelog quantification, behavior context mapping, and lifelog based behavior monitoring, as shown in Figure 4.4. The functionality of each component under different processes is described as follows:

META DATA EXTRACTION PROCESS

The metadata extraction is an off-line process and provides the foundation for understanding



the nature of the data available for behavior processing. Lifelog and activities data is too much based on the requirements, so it is necessary to understand the structure of the existing database. At the initial stage, the database identifier fetches all the available databases, and then the lifelog authorizer access the specific lifelog data through valid credentials. Moreover, the entities and attributes extractors retrieve the tables and corresponding attributes, including data types, respectively.

BEHAVIOR-ASSESSMENT RULE MANAGEMENT PROCESS

The behavior-assessment rule management is an off-line process that supports the experts to define the rule for the assessment of behavior conditions. Every behavior has independent criteria for assessment based on the nature of behavior. The lifelog concept model loader loads the schema obtained from the metadata extraction, which is available for selecting the behavior for rule definition. The expert selects the domain and attributes which indicate the behavior. After that, the expert defines the assessment criteria by expressing multiple conditions on the basis of the metadata analysis of the attribute. Finally, the conclusion against the behavior is defined as the assessment status of the behavior. The Rule Manager is responsible for persisting and retrieving the specific assessment rule from the knowledge base. In the knowledge base, rules are stored in the form of a key-value pair with a specific identifier. The rule is communicated in the JSON format.

LIFELOG BASED BEHAVIOR QUANTIFICATION PROCESS

The behavior quantification is an on-line process that utilized the assessment rule to convert the activities' data to quantify the behavior. The Assessment Rule Loader fetches the rule of the appropriate behavior through rule manager from the knowledge base. The query builder and executor then convert the rule into an executable query through a dynamic query structure. The query retrieved data from the lifelog and handover it to the lifelog Loader and Aggregator—the Aggregator than accumulate the activity data according to the requirement defined in the rule.

BEHAVIOR CONTEXT MAPPING PROCESS



The Individual behavior commuter uses the aggregated data of specific activity to map the behavior status based on the quantified value of that behavior. The Comprehensive behavior builder uses individual behavior to build the HBI to present the overall behavior status of the person at a specific time. The HBI is mapped with the behavior context, which is responsible for the status of the user behavior. The context helps the wellness services to personalized the interventions for effective feedback. The behavior communicator is responsible for the communication of the behavior index, ingredient behavior status, and behavior context in a common communication format.

LIFELOG BASED BEHAVIOR MONITORING

The just-in-time interventions are managed through lifelog-based behavior monitoring, which identifies the unhealthy behavior in the lifestyle and generates intervention so that behavior can be avoided. These interventions are for short term behavior like sedentary behavior and the total quantity of fats consumed. The monitoring rule loader fetches the rule related to the current ongoing activity; from these rules, the monitoring condition is identified, and constraints are verified against the specif user. After verification, the rule-based monitor continuously monitors the activity status to generate intervention in a specific situation. These interventions, along with the situation, are handover to behavior indicator, which communicates the information of intervention to wellness services in the form of a common communicator format.

4.5 Experimentation and Results: Evaluation of proposed Methodology

The evaluation of the proposed methodology is performed through two ways for proving the worth of the methodology, along with the evaluation of the behavior context prediction model. In this section, we will describe the experimental setup as well as the execution of the application in a real environment. The focus is to evaluate the impact of behavior context-based intervention over simple interventions for behavior change through healthy behavior index. Additionally, implicit and explicit feedbacks are analyzed from persons who are registered with the wellness management organization.



Sr. #	Classifier	Accuracy
1	Support Vector Machine	87.57%
2	Naive bayes	93.63%
3	Decision Trees	96.74%
4	Ensemble	98.02%

Table 4.7: Accuracy of multiple classifier to predict behavior context

4.5.1 Prediction Model Accuracy and Recall

We have utilized set of classifiers to classify the stages of behavior on the basis of the data obtained through questionnaires, as shown in Table 4.6. We obtained the highest accuracy with Ensemble classifier, whereas Naive bayes and Decision trees also had accuracy greater than 90%. The accuracy of the Support Vector Machine was 87%. The precision and recall of the behavior context prediction model are discussed in Table 4.7. The classification precision of the precontemplation, contemplation, and action was more than 98%, whereas for the ready stage was about 96%. Similarly, classification Recall for precontemplation, contemplation, and ready was more than 95%, whereas for action was 80%.

4.5.2 Experimental setup

We have evaluated our proposed methodology over the dataset collected from employed volunteers. Initially, we recruited 6 volunteers with an age range between 33 and 41.

The 4 volunteers completed a lifestyle-adaptation cycle of 24 weeks in such a manner that for the first 12 weeks they got simple interventions and for next 12 weeks they obtained behaviorcontext based interventions. The purpose of the pilot study was to estimate the usage and effectiveness of the wellness application without and with the proposed methodology.

These volunteers had a different status of multiple lifestyle habits, which helped us to cover comprehensive scenarios as mentioned in Table 4.8. The few habits are unhealthy, but a certain level of the habits may be considered as an addiction. Addiction to everything is bad and very difficult to overcome. A total of 4 scenarios were covered from the lifestyle of the volunteers. The physical activity and diet habits are complex, and no volunteer had a healthy one, while alcohol consumption and smoking have all three possibilities of normal, healthy, and unhealthy.





Volunteer 1:

Physical activity status: Sedentary; Smoking status: Normal; Alcohol consumption: Unhealthy; Diet status: Unhealthy



Volunteer 2

Physical activity status: Sedentary; Smoking status: Unhealthy; Alcohol consumption: Unhealthy; Diet status: Unhealthy



Volunteer 3

Physical activity status: Normal; Smoking status: Normal; Alcohol consumption: Unhealthy; Diet status: Unhealthy



Figure 4.5: Behavior status of volunteers for comparison

Physical activity status: Sedentary; Smoking status: Healthy; Alcohol consumption: Normal; Diet status: Unhealthy

Collection

Table 4.8: Multiple scenarios for the evaluation						
Scenario #	Physical Activity	Smoking	Alcohol	Diet		
S1	Unhealthy	Unhealthy	Unhealthy	Unhealthy		
S2	Normal	Normal	Normal	Unhealthy		
S 3	Unhealthy	Normal	Unhealthy	Normal		
S4	Normal	Healthy	Healthy	Normal		

The change in smoking habits and alcohol consumption, however, are the most difficult tasks.

• IMPLICIT FEEDBACK BASED EVALUATION

We equipped the volunteers with smartphone with pre-installed MM wellness application. We also provided a short training as how to use this application. It provided time to time intervention to avoid unhealthy habits and communicated the personalized recommendations. The system provided the interventions over 12 weeks and recorded the activities in lifelog, as shown in Figure 4.5(a,b,c,d).

The lifelog supported to track back and mapping the effectiveness of interventions. In the 2nd phase, the same persons were provided with the extended MM application (MM++), where interventions are based on the proposed methodology. The comparison of implicit feedback obtained from the recorded activities and the quantified index was drawn to obtain the view of behaviors as shown in Figure 4.5(a',b',c',d').

The HBI not only supports to represent the status of the behavior but also helps the experts to understand the change in behavior. From the initial pilot study results, we obtained the change in HBI over a period of time, as shown in Figure 4.6. The change in healthy behavior index gain is obtained through the difference of the base healthy behavior index to the current healthy behavior index of a respective period. We consider the base HBI when the system is providing services to the volunteers without behavior-context and current HBI when the system is considering the interventions based on personalized behavior-context.

• UTILIZATION OF EXTENDED WELLNESS MANAGEMENT SERVICE

The volunteers had access to the wellness management service 24/7, where they could visualize their behavior status as well as crawl time-based recommendations. The availability of





Figure 4.6: Relative change in healthy behavior index gain

information avoids the mental stress of memorizing the pattern for the whole week as well give freedom to access the education material whenever and where ever they want to access. After 12 weeks of study, we found that volunteers with obesity and diabetes accessed the service about double the time of the volunteers with hypertension and hyperlipidemia, as shown in Figure 4.7.

• EXPLICIT FEEDBACK BASED EVALUATION

The explicit feedback-based evaluation depends on user experience (UX). It is a well-known and widely employed process to estimate the subjective perception of end-users towards the application. Generally, end-users have a different experience for the same application due to personal abilities, knowledge, liking, and requirements. So, in order to estimate the UX, questionnaire-based surveys are the most appropriate tool. In the literature, multiple state-of-art UX research frameworks like Questionnaire for User Interaction Satisfaction (QUIS), System Usability Scale (SUS), Post Study System Usability Questionnaire (PSSUQ), Computer System Usability Questionnaire (CSUQ), Standardized User Experience Percentile Rank Questionnaire (SUEPRQ), Software Usability Measurement Inventory (SUMI), AttrakDiff, and User Experience Questionnaire (UEQ) are utilized for UX estimation [134, 162].

The SUS delivers a "quick and dirty", trustworthy tool for assessing the usability of application [163]. It has become a highly cited industry standard⁹ that consists of a 10 five-items (from the Strongly agree to Strongly disagree) questionnaire. The benefits of using SUS are that (1) It is a simple scale to manage participants' responses (2) It can support small sample sizes with trust-



worthy results (3) It can successfully distinguish between practical and non-practical applications, (4) it can evaluate wide variety (hardware and software) of applications, products, and services. The constituent's questionnaire evaluates more precisely as compared to PSSUQ and CSUQ when participants are more than 8 [134, 164].

The AttrakDiff is a widely recognized online accessible questionnaire [165] to estimate UX, which is based on the UEQ research framework. The pragmatic qualities (PQ) of AttrakDiff correlate with the dependability, efficiency, and perspicuity scale of UEQ while hedonic-stimulation quality (HQ-S) has a correlation with novelty and stimulation scales of UEQ. Whereas, both have identical adjective-pairs in attraction quality (ATT) [166]. The AttrakDiff provides a limited free online service (only 20 users) to investigate the pragmatic, hedonic, and attractiveness qualities of applications [167]. It consists of 28 contrasting adjective-pairs, which are clustered into PQ, HQ (Identity, Stimulation), and ATT [165].

Thus, we have adopted multiple procedures to evaluate the application MM++ for its effectiveness and usability. For effectiveness, we have studied the change in lifestyle pattern covering multiple scenarios based on lifestyle factors. The change in lifestyle is observed through implicit feedback recorded in the lifelog for an appropriate duration. The UX and usability assessment is performed through SUS, organization-defined questionnaire as discussed in appendix-A and AttrakDiff with the help of eSURVEY Tool¹⁰.

DEMOGRAPHIC DATA

For this study, we have collaborated with wellness management organization, which provides lifestyle based support to registered persons. The organization recruited 103 volunteers for evaluation. These were divided based on gender, age group, electronic gadgets expertise, medical ailment and study completion. These volunteers consisted of 37% of females and 63% of males who suffered with medical issues like obesity, diabetes, hypertension, and hyperlipidemia (lifestyle-based chronic diseases) as shown in Table 3.11. There were 99 volunteers who completed the course and 4 volunteers left the study in middle due to some unavoidable circumstances. Along with medication, these persons wanted to get recommendations from professional lifestyle experts. In

⁹Google Scholar based Citation 9449 (viewed on 15/08/2020)



¹⁰ https://esurvey.uid.com/project!overview



Figure 4.7: Disease wise service utilization comparison

general, the wellness-management experts are contacted through a phone call to get feedback on their weekly activities to get recommendations. So we had provided the wellness management application to these volunteers, which recorded their activities and gave knowledge, personalized recommendations, support through educational videos and questionnaires for explicit feedback in order to evaluate the services.

PARTICIPANTS EXPERIENCE TO WELLNESS SERVICE

The volunteers utilized the service for 12 weeks, where they got interventions according to their behavior status and personalized context. It is very necessary to evaluate the service through volunteers' explicit feedback. For this, we made a questionnaire, related to satisfaction, usefulness, attention, motivation, and knowledge, as shown in appendix A. There are multiple questions related to the different categories and are marked on the Likert scale, where 1 means least agree and 5 means most agree. The disease ailment wise evaluation result of the services are shown in Figure 4.8, which shows that nearly 70% volunteers enjoyed and exhibited their trust on the application where nearly 10% of users somehow are not fully agreed with the support provided by the service. The overall grading of user experience criteria like satisfaction, usefulness, and knowledge lay between 68% to 74% where user psychological experience criteria like attention and motivation lay between 60% to 66% after the usage of 12 weeks. The results show a very comprehensive agreement level of the population, which required a lot of knowledge, and motivation to change lifestyle for the support of medication.





Figure 4.8: Questionnaire based survey result obtained from volunteers



Figure 4.9: Categories wise assessment of the wellness application from volunteers

The MM++ application was installed on mobile phone of the volunteers for evaluation purpose. The volunteers utilized the application for 12 weeks, where they got interventions according to their behavior status and personalized context. It is very necessary to evaluate the service through volunteers' explicit feedback. The end-users' experience and system usability along with organizational questionnaire are used to evaluate the system efficiency and usability.

(i). System Usability Evaluation:- There were 64 end-users who recorded their responses



Collection @ khu



Figure 4.10: The system usability score of MM++.

against the SUS 10 questions in a range from 1 to 5 presenting *strongly disagree* to *strongly agree* respectively. The SUS items perceive the efficiency of the MM++ functionality through complexity, ease-of-use, consistency, learnability, and confidence-in-use as shown in Figure 4.10. The overall score for SUS based evaluation is 81.95%, which is marked as *B* and ranked as *Good*. It depicts that end-users' efficiency increased with the behavior adaptation support of the MM++. Thus, the usability-level of MM++ has significant impact on end-users behavior adaptation. The behavior analysis according to the end-users' context support the enhancement of behavior adaptation.

(ii). User Experience Evaluation:- The AttrakDiff provides the anonymous evaluation of the product and gauges it based on usability, appearance, and attractiveness from experienced end-users. We had created an assessment project with the name MM++ using the eSURVEY tool to measure the end-user's experience. After creating the project, the URL was shared to the well-ness organization, which sent an invitation email to the wellness end-users and asked them to





Figure 4.11: MM++ portfolio analysis based on Hedonic and Pragmatic qualities.

evaluate the MM++ directly based on their judgments. The organization had selected only those end-users who had experienced it for at least 10 weeks. After receiving the responses of maximum allowed participants, the results were compiled using the eSURVEY tool as shown in Figures 4.11, 4.12, 4.13. The portfolio diagram summarizes the performance through pragmatic and hedonic qualities of MM++ as shown in Figure 4.11. It highlights task-oriented, too task-oriented, superfluous, too self-oriented, self-oriented, desired, and neutral confidence regions. HQ's top values are regarded higher than the bottom ones, and PQ's right values are marked as higher than the left ones. Based on the aforementioned categorization of UX, the "Desired" category is assigned to MM++ when both PQ and HQ take on values 1.79 (with confidence internal 0.49) and 1.54 (with confidence interval 0.52), respectively.

Figure 4.12 represents the average scores of PQ, HQ-I, HQ-S, and ATT. The PQ reflects the product's usability and demonstrates how well end-users achieve their goals; HQ-S deals innovation, interesting and relaxing functions, content, and styles of presentation like supporting features; HQ-I demonstrates end-users' expertise to communicate the system; and ATT reflects the





Figure 4.12: AttrakDiff dimensions' average values for the MM++.

perceived system performance as a whole. The MM++ is in the "over-average" zone, where enduser measurements of all four dimensions lie between 1 and 2. The attractiveness aspect of the MM++ is more appreciated than the other three and it lies in *Good* category.

The comprehensive rating view of the four dimensions through the *Adjective-Pair* questions of AttrakDiff is presented in Figure 4.13. The average score of four measurements of all *Adjective-Pairs* are between 5 and 7 except "*Premium Cheap*". The end-users may misinterpret it based on the cost, otherwise, end-users' experience overall has been rated as good.

(iii). Organizational Questionnaire-based Evaluation:-The organization-defined questionnaire is related to satisfaction, usefulness, attention, motivation, and knowledge, as shown in appendix A. There are multiple questions related to the different categories and are marked on the Likert scale, where 1 means least agree and 5 means most agree. The disease ailment wise evaluation results of the services are shown in Figure 4.8, which shows that nearly 70% volunteers enjoyed and exhibited their trust on the application whereas nearly 10% of end-users somehow are not fully agreed with the support provided by the service. The overall grading of end-user experience criteria like satisfaction, usefulness, and knowledge lie between 68% and 74% where end-user psychological experience criteria like attention and motivation lie between 60% and 66% after the usage of 12 weeks. The results show a very comprehensive agreement level of the population, which require a lot of knowledge, and motivation to change lifestyle for the support of





Figure 4.13: AttrakDiff adjective-pairs' mean values for MM++ [2].

medication.

4.5.3 Discussion

Lifestyle adaptation is a very challenging task, especially when concerned with elderly people. Multiple triggers, motivational booster, and context-based interventions are required to achieve desired targets. The chronic diseases, which are too much affected through lifestyle are the main concern of the wellness organizations and nations. The population affected by these diseases are the major burden on the economy of the country and required special attention to overcome, or



at least reduces the impact of these preventable lifestyle-based diseases. The challenge is that the population usually leave the wellness applications after approximately 4 weeks due to a lack of interest and generalized recommendation.

In this study, the focus is on the identification of the behavior state of our participants that can be dealt with appropriate interventions. At the initial phase, the behavior context prediction model supports identifying the behavior status of the participants through lifestyle data obtained from an initial questionnaire, which helps to overcome the issue of cold start. According to the behavior status, specific intervention not only reduces the number of interventions but also increases the effectiveness of the interventions. The personalization through behavior context support steady learning, based on BCTs, and induce adaptive behavior strategically. The extended methodology of MM++ has a slow impact at the initial stage, whereas the respective intervention style tries to enhance the knowledge about unhealthy behaviors. This is the reason that the proposed methodology did not performed well in the initial weeks, but with the passage of time and with the improvement of the behavior status, the intervention style change from *prescriptive and informative* to *cathartic* and catalytic. As a result of just-in-time interventions after education, the response of behavior improves a lot lead to change in behavior, which is expressed through HBI. The relative gain in HBI, depicts that usually wellness applications have exponential impact, but with the passage of time, the change in behavior reduces due to lack of interest and personalization. However, the proposed methodology has a little steady impact, which not only increases the end-users' knowledge but also supports to handle the unhealthy behavior in an appropriate way based on behavior context. As a result, the end-users gradually adapt the harmful behavior, and hence the HBI improves with the passage of time and retains even without catalytic interventions due to knowledge and routine induction. This is the reason that the change in HBI gain becomes steady with in the last few weeks.

Multiple surveys were conducted related to the usability, satisfaction, attention, motivation, attraction, knowledge, hedonic and pragmatic qualities through SUS, AttrakDiff, and organizationdefined questionnaire. The SUS and AttrakDiff results showed that proposed methodology had enhanced the attractiveness and adaptability. In the organization-oriented evaluation, on average, 67% of end-users registered their responses as agreeing, whereas only 9% of end-users showed



disagreement with the service provided by an extended application, as shown in Figure 4.9(a). The overall service had satisfied the 74% of end-users where 7% of end-users registered unsatisfactory status, as shown in Figure 4.9(b). Considering the knowledge related to behavior and action plan, 72% of end-users registered their consensus in its favor whereas 8% of end-users were not convinced with the provided knowledge. The perceived usefulness affected the motivation of the end-users, and hence the level was about 65%, where the registered attention level was about 61% that is quite reasonable for the engagement with wellness applications in a long duration.

It can be depicted that persons with diabetes recorded the highest agreement level, which is more than 70% whereas persons with hyperlipidemia, obesity, and hypertension registered their agreement level 68%, 66%, and 63% respectively. On the other hand, nearly about 24% of end-users remain neutral regarding the application, while about 9% of end-users were unconvinced with the application. There may be multiple reasons like financial constraints, social, environmental, emotion, and age, which affected these 9% end-users to get the full benefit from the application to adapt unhealthy behavior.

4.6 Summary

Human behavior quantification for the assessment and adaptation is the targeted research area in the wellness domain due to its complex nature. The adaptation requires identification of unhealthy behavior as well as personalized interventions at the right time with feasible action. The derived methodology not only identifies the behavior status through HBI but also uses a behavior-context prediction model for the selection of appropriate prescriptive intervention. In this work, we have focused on the comprehensive status of the four most important and fundamental habits like smoking, imbalanced diet, alcohol, and physical inactivity. It has helped the individuals and experts for root cause analysis of noncommunicable lifestyle-based chronic disease. The proposed methodology is designed as a framework to support any other service-enabled wellness management platform for the evaluation of healthy behavior status for behavior indication, behavior-context prediction, recommendation generation, and behavior adaptation. Extensive experimentation is performed that is comprised of a set of factors such as adaptiveness, satisfaction, usability, stimulation, attractiveness, usefulness, and motivation. In experimentation, both implicit and explicit



feedback methods are employed. A healthy behavior index gain is observed throughout the evaluation adherence with the proposed methodology. Furthermore, feedback data are also gathered from a large number of registered users through a widely used survey tool such as SUS and AttrakDiff. The evaluation of the wellness application based on the user feedback resulted in encouraging results. It is observed that both the user experience and the usability aspects of the application are highly promising while the reported overall user satisfaction is also favorable. The study can be extended in a number of directions such as it is worthwhile to investigate the impact of financial and emotional distress on behavior adaption. We would also like to extend the scope of the study to include a wider user base such as the younger population having no prior health conditions.







Chapter 5

Adaptation of Intervention for Behavior Change

5.1 Overview

In recent years, there has been a shift in the way healthcare and its support services are approached. This change has had a significant impact on how traditional models of healthcare delivery are framed - these models emphasize preventative personalized wellbeing rather than tardy disease management and cure. As a result, healthcare providers may focus on ensuring that resources and treatments are delivered to a specific patient or service client. [131, 168]. The cause of this change is the increasing financial pressures that health systems are facing to meet the growing demand for their services. [169]. As a result, service providers are promoting wellness-based models and conducting studies to determine their effectiveness. According to the latest research in biomedical health care, the most common diseases are caused or exacerbated in part by an unhealthy, long-term lifestyle. Unhealthy and junk foods, sedentary lifestyles with little exercise, tobacco addiction and alcohol abuse are all possible factors in the development of disease and limit the effectiveness of medical treatments. [170–172].

With the introduction of personalized smart devices, healthcare professionals and biomedical researchers can make people aware of their health and lifestyle by providing personalized, persistent, and timely help [173]. As a result, the demand for fitness wearables with mobile apps that promote health status and wellness display has exploded [174]. Several wellness platforms and apps such as Withings Activite, Fitbit Surge, Garmin Vivofit, Misfit Shine, Apple Health Kit, Samsung Gear, Google Fit, Microsoft Band and LG smartwatches with Microsoft Health are mainly sensor-based apps that support basic health tips based on tracked step count, calories and sleep hours. Meanwhile, research institutions are focusing on health and wellness programs that can detect physical symptoms and send alerts [175] or detect chronic diseases [176]. De-



spite immense efforts by industry and researchers, most existing applications are device-specific with limited range [131]. Therefore, these are not able to build a context-rich lifelog to provide a comprehensive picture of daily routine [177]. Lifelog-based self-quantification is an essential and cost-effective way of evolutionary wellness system for successful intervention [178].

5.2 Existing Work

In the boom of health and wellness services, several systems have been proposed to collect and analyse sensory data for human health and well-being. For research purposes, we categorised these structures into three groups: (i) Mobile Health, where the development of smartphones and their embedded sensors is the subject of implementation; (ii) Wearable Fitness, where wristbands and watches are used in conjunction with smartphones; and (iii) Data Acquisition, where the implementation aims to collect and analyse data from sensors. The following paragraphs elaborate on the different categories.

5.2.1 Mobile Health

The use of smartphones in our daily lives has increased dramatically in the last decade. These smartphones are equipped with a variety of multimodal sensors, such as accelerometers, PPGs, and GPS, which, when used intelligently, can collect real-time activity data from the user for later use. Consequently, the convergence of smartphone devices and online services offers healthcare systems more potential for growth at a lower cost. New criteria and trends, researchers say, are embedded in mobile platforms [179]. In [180], the authors showed the potential of smart devices with a Web service-oriented approach to health service delivery. In addition, mobile phones are now helping in the provision of health services among the elderly [181]. In [182], the authors propose a mobile phone-based portal for mental health research that collects the user's psychological, physiological, and activity data. In [183], they provided a mobile version of a data processing toolbox originally developed for computational architectures and mainly used for human behavior modelling. The [184] proposed a middleware that integrates multiple interfaces for monitoring multi-parameter physiological measurements.



In [185], the authors introduced UbiqLog, a lightweight lifelogging platform. It provided a customizable interface to enable and disable mobile sensors. While more sensors can be added due to the framework's data model compatibility, the sensors need to be integrated into the smartphone device form factor. UbiqLog's lifelog was not shareable or reusable by other systems and did not allow for data tracking. Similarly, in [186] AWARE, the authors presented an open-source toolkit for collecting sensory data via smartphones. AWARE stored all collected data locally on the smartphone when conducting smaller studies; however, when conducting larger studies, the data were uploaded to the cloud. The toolkit included a context plugin that could analyse the accumulated data in the background.

In [187], the DigMem framework was proposed to create rich and interactive HDMs by combining distributed mobile networks, linked data, and machine learning (Human Digital Memory). An HDM generated a complex and data-rich memory when data from ubiquitous devices in the user's environment were used to build it. It was possible to determine details such as how the user felt, where they were, and the context of the environment. It needed a compatible environment to transmit and search information, although it collected data from a variety of sources.

5.2.2 Wearable Health

Wearables have transformed from a medical necessity to an individual accessory in the last decade. Physiological data are collected using galvanic skin resistance, a biaxial accelerometer, heat flow, and body temperature in projects such as SenseWare(SWA). In [188], the authors used SWA compared with healthy adults to estimate energy expenditure and step counts in individuals with fibrosis disease. In [189], the SWA was also used to monitor adherence in women with rheumatoid arthritis. Microsoft's SenseCam [190] was considered a revolutionary pervasive device [191]. It has been used in several studies, for example in [192], the authors used the technology to record daily routines. The images were mapped as a lifelog and presented in a timeline format. In [193], the SenseCam was used to monitor sedentary activity. However, the primary goal of these applications was to capture and monitor activity data.

In [194], InSense scheme was presented by the author to perform real-time context recognition using accelerometer, audio and visual sensing. It collected real-time data from a larger collection of



data sources for a context-rich lifelog. Users manually explained and evaluated the data after it was obtained to create an interest operator. This was an offline process that was very time consuming for a consumer who had reported an event for a few hours. Moreover, the lifelog became richer with the declaration, but users could not perform real-time monitoring.

The use of multimodal sensor-based technology has evolved in recent years into customised smartphone-based accessories. The wearable wrist sensor stores and transmits sensory data to a health management system via the smartphone. However, because these devices are focused on a single source of data, such as a wristband sensor, they are unable to infer the proper background of what a consumer is doing. Despite extensive research and development of wellness and health applications, there are few implementations that function as autonomous platforms for dealing with complicated and practical scenarios. Commercial applications such as Apple's HealthKit, Microsoft Health, and Google Fit have transformed the strategy from an application to an ecosystem, but these applications are mostly based on a single device or data integration.

5.3 Wellness Management Platforms

Today's healthcare focuses on prevention rather than cure. To support this theory, healthcare and its support services are undergoing significant changes from their previous implementations [12]. These changes are having a significant impact on the nature of traditional healthcare delivery models. Rather than a late cure for disease, these models are converging toward preventive, personalised healthcare [131, 168]. Moreover, the inability of health systems to cope with unprecedented financial stress at the same time that demand for their services is increasing contributes to this convergence [169]. Recent studies have confirmed that the most common diseases are exacerbated or partially caused by poor lifestyle choices people make in their daily lives. Unhealthy and fast food diets, cigarette consumption, and sedentary lifestyles with little exercise are not only risk factors for disease, but also reduce the effectiveness of medical treatments [170, 171]. As a result, the philosophy of wellness has come to the forefront, prompting researchers to develop wellness models and test their effectiveness.

Productivity in health and wellness today is measured by timeliness and ubiquity as well as knowledge, help, and power [173]. Information and communication technology has collaborated


Sr.#	Application	Data sources	Domain	Support	Recommendations
				Running, Walking,	
1	Google Fit	Sensory, IoT	Wellness	Cycling, Goal-based	Generic & Expert-based
				weight-loss	
				Running, Nutrition,	
2	Samsung Healthkit	Sensory, User Profile, IoT	Wellness	Indoor & Outdoor activities,	Personalized
				Sleep	
				Running, Walking,	
				Nutrition, Exercises,	
3	Apple Healthkit	Sensory, User Profile, IoT	Wellness & Healthcare	Indoor & Outdoor activities,	Personalized & Expert-based
				Sleep, Water intake,	
				Meditation	
4	Noom Coach	Sensory, User Profile	Wellness	Step counting	Personalized & Expert-based
5	MvFitnessPal	Nutrition and Food Database	Wellness & Healthcare	Calories Intake,	Personalized & Goal-based
	ingradessi di	Function and 1000 Database	menness & ficatheare	Nutrition	reisonanzea a Goar-based

Table 5.1: Summary of most utilized wellness platforms

with biomedical researchers to develop innovative health and wellness solutions. The care industry has recently shown an unusual interest in developing targeted implementations based on individual and community health. As a result, the influx of wearable and mobile technology in the market has grown exponentially [174]. These devices and systems are specifically designed to provide wellness services for overall health management. Moreover, these services complement users' daily routines in the form of exercise and nutritional guidance with personalization as a gateway to chronic disease management [195]. With cutting-edge technology as wearables, researchers have evaluated these devices to alert in case of a physical condition [175], detect chronic diseases [176] and even contact emergency services for assistance.

Traditional healthcare services are evolving alongside wellness, augmented by information technology and connectivity. Intelligent decision-making is being used in modern healthcare systems to supplement physician prognosis. Currently, there is a shortage of about seven million physicians and paramedical professionals worldwide. In terms of health assistants, diagnoses and recommendations for treatment plans, this growing gap can be filled with advanced AI technology to address current and potential challenges. This work aims to examine existing advanced health and wellness platforms and their key offerings and supporting technologies. It also compares the selected implementations to identify their vulnerabilities and potential research areas. We also discussed our contribution to the open source healthcare and wellness program, the Mining Minds platform.



5.4 Mining Minds

This is an innovative health and wellbeing network with a layered architecture as seen in Figure 5.1. Each layer deals with the abstraction of raw sensory data coming from a variety of sources. From top to bottom, Service Curation Layer (SCL) is responsible for curating recommendationdriven services based on user activities and nutrition-related scenarios. Knowledge Curation Layer (KCL) is responsible for curating data- and expert-driven information, which is then extracted and used as rules to track user lives and generate recommendations. The Information Curation Layer (ICL) is responsible for determining the user's meaning based on the raw sensory data. The defined context is then divided into two categories: High-Level and Low-Level Context. The Data Curation Layer (DCL) is the foundation of the platform and is responsible for both real-time data acquisition and non-volatile data persistence. In addition, DCL continuously monitors the user background defined by ICL based on the rules provided by KCL to identify situations where a user may require assistance in the form of recommendations from SCL. To provide cross-platform, usage-based support, the Supporting Layer (SL) is defined to include concepts such as distributed security and privacy, user interface and user experience (UI/UX), visualisation, and analytics. Additional technical information about these layers can be found here and their services are described in [131].

The latest implementation of the Mining Minds platform supports service scenarios based on operations and nutrition. It also integrates a philosophy of consumer education and health awareness into its offerings, such as providing workout guides with digital content for its customers. The current implementation integrates three data sources, i.e. smartwatch, smartphone and a Kinect-based depth camera. The sensors used by these data sources with their respective context are listed in Table 5.2.

Mining Minds components are built according to the software engineering principles of reusability and extensibility to help and contribute to the open source community. To support library and service reusability, each part is designed with two interfaces. Because of its reusability, the Mining Minds platform can be reused not only at the platform level, but also at a finer level of layers and individual components. DCL, for example, is intended to be a standalone application. By using DCL's raw sensory data collection, health and wellness platforms that are user-specific



can support a wider variety of multimodal sensory devices. It will be easier for these systems to connect to a range of multimodal sensory data sources that report to a specific user. As a result, these platforms will be able to operate in an IoT-based health and wellness environment. DCL can also curate the raw sensory data as a user's lifelog with continuous monitoring capabilities to detect irregularities that require automated assistance or support from the health and wellness network. KCL, like DCL, is intended as a stand-alone information-gathering tool that can be used to extract expert-driven knowledge through an authoring interface. This expert knowledge has been formalised so that it can be shared across a variety of health and wellness channels. Another important concept promoting open source is the extensibility of the platform by design. Bioinformatics researchers who want to extend the functionality of their current implementation need the components of the platform to be extensible and development friendly. For this reason, industry-proven object-oriented design patterns are used in the implementation of Mining Minds. For example, ICL's low-level context awareness component uses the Strategy pattern to identify different types of context. This architecture allows bioinformaticians to extend the current implementation with additional and customised algorithms to support a broader range of activities based on their service scenarios. The organic growth of any open source platform depends on the reliability of the source code. Mining Minds 2.5 has been evaluated and tested on many levels using software engineering techniques to support this. Black-box and white-box testing methods as well as unit and integration testing are used in all developed components. In addition, the implementation includes exception management to enable graceful recovery in the event of a malfunction. A group of 20 researchers from various fields of computer science, fitness and wellness are working on the Mining Minds network. Following research and software industry standards, the iterative approach to the open source release of this framework is strictly followed. This process is illustrated in Figure 5.2.

The Mining Minds platform consists of 15 components that are loosely coupled but highly coherent. Each component is designed to run as an independent library or service. Components are built under the supervision of a team leader and a build engineer, and are regularly reviewed by experts to ensure high quality source code. A two-stage process was used to develop the platform. In the first stage, the two team build engineers compile layered builds and create a local build with the help of a native-to-local build engineer. The local build is supported by continuous integration



Data sources	Sensors	Context
Smartphone	Accelerometer Gyrodscone	Activity(running, walking,
Smartphone	Acceleroniciei, Gyrouscope	climbing, cycling)
		Location(home, office, gym,
Smartwatch	Accelerometer Gyroscone GPS	school, restaurant)
Smartwaten	Acceleronicies, Gyroscope, Gr S	Emotion(anger, sadness,
		happiness)
		Activity(eating, sitting,
Depth Camera	Video	standing, stretching,
		sweeping, lying down)

Table 5.2: Data sources and sensors utilized in mining minds.

of layers and materials. In the second phase, the local build is replicated via a publicly available open source repository, in our case GitHub. This is a routine phase that occurs when a new platform is built or a major release is marked for researchers and developers. In addition to continuous integration, this two-step construction process supports the platform's large heterogeneous code base Mining Minds. It also helps the Mining Minds research team create a pre-configured virtual test machine for the open source community, saving time on repetitive deployment settings and configurations.

On December 30, 2016, version 2.5 of the Mining Minds platform was released on GitHub under the Apache 2.0 licence. Although the release is still at an early stage, the team has managed to complete 194 successful commits.

5.5 Methodology

The three main phases of our proposed approach are behavioral observation, behavioral assessment, and adaptive approaches. Sedentary, active, and sleeping behaviors can all be categorised as part of daily life. Sleep behaviors are overly influenced by the frequency and intensity of active and sedentary behaviors. It is important to maintain a healthy balance of physical activity throughout life, with adequate breaks from sedentary activities. Similarly, frequent breaks must be taken from sedentary activities to avoid prolonged sitting and lying down.





Figure 5.1: Stage wise intervention for adaptation of behavior.

Based on healthcare guidelines, sedentary and active activities can be further characterized into safe and unhealthy activities. These lifestyle activities are associated with physical activity level, activity style, dietary habits and routines, type of nutrients, smoking dependence, and alcohol consumption. Changing these lifestyle behaviors requires an understanding of the actions, identification of the unhealthy habits, and finally, help to adjust the unhealthy behavior. Behavioral adjustment is a step-by-step process in which personalization of the intervention and a thorough understanding of the behavior serve as the foundation for successful efforts.

The process of behavioral adaptation occurs in three steps There are three steps to the behavior adaptation process. During the first process, habits are observed and regular education about unhealthy activity is provided. Most of the education focuses on the negative effects of the unhealthy actions and how to prevent them. In the intermediate process, the consumer is guided step-by-step on how to change their dysfunctional actions to healthy ones. Personalization is done by defining unhealthy and harmful habits. The intervention is adaptive and is created based on the user's current risky actions. The user receives the intervention on a regular basis to change their dysfunctional behavior. In the final process, the behavior is observed at rest to decide whether to repeat the education or recommendation phases based on satisfactory behavioral adaptation.





Figure 5.2: Real-life personalized intervention generation steps based on behavior stage.

The key steps of the methodology are as follows:

- 1. *Step 1:* It is an offline procedure where volunteers had registered their responses against HBSCQ. It is used to obtain the responses related to various lifestyle habits and behavioral stage status. These responses are generally related to 4 main areas of lifestyle habits such as physical activity, diet, smoking, and alcohol. The questionnaire consists of several questions related to the basic lifestyle habits and the level of knowledge, intention to change and current status of the behavior. The HBSCQ responses are quantified to mark the status of a user's behavior change stage.
- 2. Step 2: Users' lifestyle habits such as eating, physical activities, smoking, and alcohol were



recorded for 1 week to understand actual behaviors and to capture users' knowledge level and intention to change. It is an offline process that forms the basis of a predictive model for behavioral assessment and intervention generation.

- 3. *Step 3:* The log of lifestyle behaviors is quantified to clearly distinguish between multiple levels of behavior with understandable manners. Since the protocol consists of many activities over an extended period of time, the activities are accumulated on a weekly basis to quantify the behavior.
- 4. *Step 4:* In the feature selection steps, not all behaviors are used to train the model, but only particularly recommended and identified ones. These behaviors are identified based on criticality level. The highly ranked behaviors are selected for model training and use for behavior level assessment.
- 5. *Step 5:* This is the final step of the off-line process, where the behavioral stage prediction model is trained based on the selected behavior, its stages, and its relationship to the HBSCQ-based behavioral stage.
- 6. *Step 6:* It is an online process where lifestyle activities are logged in the lifelog of registered users. These activities are logged through the smartphone application which has a dual mode of data entry. Manual entry through a well-defined user interface for smoking, alcohol and eating, with sensor-based recording of activities.
- 7. *Step 7:* The log of lifestyle behaviors is quantified to clearly distinguish between multiple levels of behavior with understandable manners. Since the protocol consists of many activities over an extended period of time, the activities are accumulated on a weekly basis to quantify the behavior.
- 8. *Step 8:* In this step, a behavioral index is created from the registered log of lifestyle activities. The index is an accumulation of activities based on their quantification context. Some activities are accumulated on a weekly basis and some on a daily basis.
- 9. *Step 9:* The behavioral index is then passed to the trained behavioral stage prediction model to identify the stage so that the appropriate intervention style is selected to personalize the



intervention.

- 10. *Step 10:* In the process of adaptive intervention generation, the behavioral stage, behavioral status, health profile, expert knowledge, and preferences are used to adapt the general intervention to the personal one.
- 11. *Step 11:* The manager of the intervention is responsible for scheduling the right intervention to right person at right time.
- 12. *Step 12:* Finally, the adaptive interventions are provided to the user through their communicating devices that support the adaptive user interface.

5.5.1 Realization of Methodology through Wellness Management Platform-Mining Minds

Mining Minds (MM) is an open-source wellness platform that assists in obtaining data from multiple sensors, analyzing it, and generating recommendations [12], [134]. The collected data is related to detected activities, emotions, and locations, which are persisted in an intermediate database and Big Data for immediate recommendations and analysis, as shown in Figure 5.2. It consists of multiple layers to curate data, information, knowledge and services to assist the user with wellness recommendations in real time.

On-Line Process

The Supporting Layer SL interacts with users and provides analytics. Based on access permission, graphical views of lifestyle habits, activity status, and health statistics are provided to the expert and users. The Service Curation Layer (SCL) orchestrates the personalized recommendations based on demographic, contextual, emotional, preference and physiological factors. The recommendations are customizable based on the user's lifestyle status. The orchestrator in the SCL manages the communication of pull- and push-based recommendations for just-in-time interventions, as well as a diet plan based on circadian rhythms. The SCL creates and refines the recommendations using high-level context, SNS data, and expert-provided guidelines to address





Figure 5.3: Realization of intervention generation through behavior observation and assessment.

Collection @ khu

each unhealthy habit. It also considers the amount of calories needed and calories consumed based on MET and BMI values.

Off-Line Process

The Knowledge Curation Layer (KCL) helps experts transform their experiences and wellness knowledge into rules via an authoring environment [140]. These rules guide over wellness contextbased situational awareness and identification in the lifelog. Furthermore, these rules support the recommendation in a specific unhealthy situation to adapt a healthy lifestyle. The suggestions are the action plan for the targeted risky and unhealthy lifestyle habit, so instead of general recommendations, we have adaptive recommendations based on only harmful habits.

The Information Curation Layer (ICL) identifies user activities and context from multimodal sensory data managed in hierarchical models. It employs emotion, location and multiple activity recognizers. These recognizers generate the low-level context and the fusion of these contexts forms the high-level context curated in Data Curation Layer (DCL). The DCL manages the data in both raw and processed formats through data acquisition and synchronization, lifelog representation and mapping, lifelog monitoring, and Big Data storage processes [12].

The working of MM platform from the application point of view is divided into three execution modules related to education, recommendations and Q&A selection. The execution modules support real-time customization of education, recommendation, and Q&A selection.

5.5.2 Adaptive Education

Education regarding healthy behavior is an important aspect and a necessity for behavior change. There are two ways to do education: 1) Generalized education, 2) Adaptive education. Initially, the system is not able to understand the user's condition. The users's state depends on the lifelog data collected by multiple sensors in the smartwatch, smartphone and Kinect depth camera [12]. Lifelog generation is a time-consuming process, and at least a week's worth of lifelog data is required to understand the consumer's activity status. The challenge of the cold-start-based lifelog data-less condition is overcome by an initial questionnaire survey to obtain the knowledge of users' habits and behaviors.



Adaptive Education Workflow

Wellness users are registered in the application and given a unique identifier for further data processing and indexing. At the time of the educational intervention, the users' profile and lifestyle information is retrieved from the intermediate database, as shown in Figure 5.4. The lifestyle factors are examined and filtered to obtain the MET-based calorie requirement and BMI-based calorie consumption. The status of risk factors in the form of risky, moderate and normal is evaluated and available to retrieve appropriate rules from the expert driven knowledge base.

Since several factors are involved, a set of rules is available to generate the intervention. The maximum specificity technique is used to identify the rule with the highest value over the matching profile, living conditions and constraints as mentioned in Algorithm 1. It supports reasoning about the situation for which a particular intervention is generated based on the focused group of the rule. The identified risk factors based on the matched rule support the interpretation of the context. The index is generated based on the status of the factors, which helps in understanding the content. The interpreted content and context help to retrieve certain data from the knowledge base through the index generated by the content interpretation process. Finally, the adaptation of the intervention is done using risk factors, preferences, context and expert driven rules. The intervention is communicated through an adaptive, user-friendly interface and stored in the user profile for later use.



Algorithm 1: Adaptive education algorithm

```
Input: UserId_i, Lifelog_i, Profile_i, KB_{Bule_i}
   // i = \{1, 2, \dots n\}
   Output: R_{Edu}
   Data: Users, Lifelog, Profile & Knowledgebase
1 UId_i \leftarrow UserId_i / / UId_i = \{u_1, u_2, \dots, u_n\}
2 X_i \leftarrow Lifelog_i \quad // \quad X_i = \{x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n\}
3 Y_i \leftarrow Profile_i \quad // \quad Y_i = \{y_1, y_2, \dots, y_n\}
4 R_i \leftarrow KB_{Rule_i} // R_i = \{r_1, r_2, \dots, r_n\}
5 R_i \leftarrow RulewithMaxSpecificity(UId_i, X_i, Y_i)
6 for j \leftarrow 1 to length (X_i) do
7
       x_{j_{Status}} \leftarrow QuantifyLifelogFactor(x_j) // 1=Risky, 3= Moderate,
            5=Healthy
       if (x_{j_{Status}} == 1) then
8
          Focused_{Group} \leftarrow Concatenate(Focused_{Group}, x_{j_{Status}})
 9
10
       end
       else
11
           Ignore x_{j_{Status}}
                               // Do not consider normal factors
12
       end
13
14 end
15 for j \leftarrow 1 to length (X_i) do
       x_{jStatus} \leftarrow QuantifyLifelogFactor(x_i)
16
17
       Factor_{index} \leftarrow Factor_{index} + x_{istatus}
18 end
   /* Refinement of the education matiral as per user context
        */
19 if Factor_{index} == Recouse_{index} then
       Edu_{content} \leftarrow ContentOnIndex(Factor_{index}) // this is another
20
            comment
       R_{Edu} \leftarrow AdaptableEducation(Edu_{content}, Focused_{Group}, Y_i)
21
22 end
23 else if Factor_{index} \neq Recouse_{index} then
       int n \leftarrow Factor_{index}.length()
24
       while (SubString(Factor_{index}, n)! = SubString(Recouse_{index}, n)) do
25
           n \leftarrow n-1
26
       end
27
       Edu_{content} \leftarrow ContentOnIndex(subString(Factor_{index}, n)) // this is
28
            another comment
       R_{Edu} \leftarrow AdaptableEducation(Edu_{content}, Focused_{Group}, Y_i)
29
30 end
```





Figure 5.4: Workflow of Adaptive Education and Q&A Selection.

5.5.3 Adaptive Recommendations

The adaptive just-in-time recommendations regarding unhealthy behavior are an important aspect and a necessity for adaptation in behavior. Behavior change is an ongoing process in which the just-in-time recommendations play an important role. The general recommendations affect the human behavior for a few days, but the adaptive recommendations maintain the interest of the customer until it matches with the condition and situation of the customer, with the appropriate tracking capability as shown in Figure 5.5. Recommendation generation is based on the user's lifelog, preferences, environmental context, calorie consumption, calorie requirement, and disease status [133]. The driving information for recommendation generation is obtained from the expert in the form of rules that consider the multiple state of the contributing factors to build a situation for recommendation.





Figure 5.5: Adaptive Recommendation for diet.



Figure 5.6: Work flow of Adaptation Recommendation for diet.

Adaptive Recommendation Workflow

Wellness users are registered in the application and given a unique identifier for further data processing and indexing. At the time of referral, the users' profile and lifestyle information is retrieved





Figure 5.7: Work flow of Adaptive Recommendation for Physical Exercise.

from the intermediate database. The lifestyle factors are examined and filtered to obtain the METbased calorie requirement and BMI-based calorie consumption. The status of risk factors in the form of risky, moderate and normal is evaluated and used to obtain adjustment rules from the expert driven knowledge base.

1. Diet Recommendation

Diet is a complex lifestyle factor consisting of type, amount and habits of eating. The regularity of dietary habits is assessed by the weekly state of the user's routine. Whereas the type and quantity of diet is assessed on the basis of daily and time intake of food. It is very important to assess the diet and routine for the appropriate interventions.

All matching rules are loaded to identify the most appropriate one, as shown in Figure 5.6. The maximum specificity technique is used to identify the rule with the highest value with respect to the matching profile and the conditions and constraints of the dietary protocol. The daily nutritional target is calculated based on BMI, which provides the target calorie requirement based on height and weight. It supports reasoning about the situation for which



a particular intervention is generated based on the nutrition focused group of the rule. The identified risky dietary factors based on the matched rule support the interpretation of the context. The index is generated based on the status of the factors that help to understand the content of the behavior. The interpreted content and context help to retrieve appointed data from the knowledge base through the index generated by the process of interpreting the nutritional content.

The generated index helps in finding the food items from the different menu sets. The refinement of the food items takes into account the high-risk and cultural current food trends obtained from recent SNS data. Finally, a menu set for the intervention is organized by calorie needs, risk factors, preferences, SNS trends, disease-friendly and expert-driven rules. The intervention is communicated through a customizable, user-friendly interface and stored in the nutrition profile for future use.

2. Physical Activity Recommendation

Physical activities can be divided into low, moderate, and vigorous based on their MET values, as described in Table 5.1. The duration of these activities is taken into account when defining body requirements and calorie burning necessities. User information is obtained from life history and profile data. Calorie consumption during a day is measured from the MET values of the activities and their duration, as described in Table 5.3. At the time of intervention creation, a personalized specific target is calculated.

The goal-based rules are retrieved from the expert-driven knowledge base. The rules provide the specific activities to meet the requirements of the daily goal under certain constraints and conditions, as shown in Figure 5.7. The daily goal for physical activity can be achieved by a multiple combination of activities with different durations, as mentioned in Algorithm 3. The fitted rule based on the constraints and conditions is finalized for calculating the duration. The MET values of the activities are used to evaluate the duration for performing a particular activity as described in Algorithm 3. A few activities require a specific context for their execution. The context is based on the location, time and weather.

In the interpretation process, the feasibility of the activities is assessed to finalize the phys-



Algorithm 2: Adaptive diet recommendation algorithm

Input: $UserId_i$, $Lifelog_i$, $Profile_i$, $K\overline{B_{Rule_i}}$ $// i = \{1, 2, \dots n\}$ **Output:** R_{Food} Data: Users, Lifelog, Profile & Knowledgebase 1 $UId_i \leftarrow UserId_i / / UId_i = \{u_1, u_2, \dots, u_n\}$ 2 $X_i \leftarrow Lifelog_i / X_i = \{x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n\}$ **3** $Y_i \leftarrow Profile_i \quad // \quad Y_i = \{y_1, y_2, \dots, y_n\}$ 4 $R_i \leftarrow KB_{Rule_i}$ // $R_i = \{r_1, r_2, \dots, r_n\}$ **5** $R_i \leftarrow RulewithMaxSpecificity(UId_i, X_i, Y_i)$ 6 Behavior_{Status}enum \leftarrow {Risky, Moderate, Healthy} B_s 7 $BMR_{men\parallel women}$ 10× weight (kg) + 6.25× height (cm) – 5× age (y) + [5|| – 161] **8 for** $j \leftarrow 1$ to length (X_i) **do** 9 $x_{iStatus} \leftarrow Quantify NutritionFactor(x_i)$ // 1=Risky, 3= Moderate, 5=Healthy if $(x_{j_{Status}} == 1)$ then 10 $Focused_{Group} \leftarrow Concatenate (Focused_{Group}, x_{j_{Status}})$ 11 end 12 13 else Ignore $x_{j_{Status}}$ // Do not consider normal factors 14 15 end 16 end 17 for $j \leftarrow 1$ to length (X_i) do $x_{iStatus} \leftarrow QuantifyFoodFactor(x_i)$ 18 $Factor_{index} \leftarrow Factor_{index} + x_{jStatus}$ 19 20 end /* Refinement of the education matiral as per user context */ 21 $Calories_{Target} \leftarrow \{BMR_{Men|Women} \times Behavior_{PhysicalActivities}\} - \sum_{Cal=1}^{m}$ 22 int $n \leftarrow Factor_{index}.length()$ 23 while $(SubString(Factor_{index}, n)! = SubString(Recouse_{index}, n))$ do 24 $n \leftarrow n-1$ 25 end **26** $Food_{Menu} \leftarrow FoodMenuOnIndex(subString(Factor_{index}, n)) // this is$ another comment 27 $SNS_{Food} \leftarrow SNSBasedFood (CurrentTimeStamp)$ **28** $Food_{Menu} := SNS_{Food} \cap Food_{Menu}$ **29** $R_{Food} \leftarrow AdaptableNutrition(Food_{Menu}, Focused_{Group}, Y_i, Calories_{Target})$



Sr.#	Activity Name	MET Value
1	Sitting	1.5
2	Standing	3.0
3	Walking	3.5
4	Cycling	6.0
5	Jogging	8.0
6	Running	8.0
7	Dancing	7.0
8	Stretching	2.3
9	Eating	1.5
10	Sleeping	0.9

Table 5.3: Activities with MET values

ical activity intervention. The user preference regarding the physical activity is very important to transform the intervention into an implementable one. Therefore, the activities are filtered based on the user preferences, and then the training material related to these activities is retrieved from the knowledge base. Finally, a complete set of activities along with duration and educational material is communicated as a physical activity intervention. The communication is done through a customizable, user-friendly interface and is logged in the





activity profile for performance and feedback analysis.

Algorithm 3: Adaptive physical activity recommendation algorithm **Input:** $UserId_i$, $Lifelog_i$, $Profile_i$, KB_{Rule_i} $// i = \{1, 2, \dots n\}$ **Output:** R_{PA} Data: Users, Lifelog, Profile & Knowledgebase 1 $UId_i \leftarrow UserId_i \quad // \quad UId_i = \{u_1, u_2, \dots u_n\}$ 2 $X_i \leftarrow Lifelog_i \quad // \quad X_i = \{x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n\}$ 3 $Y_i \leftarrow Profile_i \quad // \quad Y_i = \{y_1, y_2, \dots, y_n\}$ $\mathbf{4} = f_{Cal} := \frac{MET_{PA} \times 3.5 \times Weight\,(kg)}{200}$ **5** $Cal_{burned} \leftarrow \sum_{i=1}^{m} t_i \times f_{Cal} (MET_{PA_i}, Weight)$ 6 $Cal_{Target} \leftarrow Cal_{Recommended} - Cal_{burned}$ 7 $R_i \leftarrow RulewithMaxSpecificity(UId_i, X_i, Y_i)$ 8 for $j \leftarrow 1$ to length (R_i) do $R_i[j] = \frac{Cal_{Target}}{f_{Cal}\left(MET_{PA_{R_i}}, Weight\right)}$ 9 10 end 11 $ContxtFiltered_{PA} \leftarrow GetContextBasedFilteredPA(R_i, CurrentTimeStamp)$ 12 $Feasible_{PA} \leftarrow GetFeasible_{PA}(ContxtFiltered_{PA})$ 13 $R_{PA} := Feasible_{PA} \cap PreferredPA(Y_i)$ 14 $PA_{Edu} \leftarrow PAContects(R_{PA})$

15 $FinalRec_{PA} \leftarrow PhysicalActivity(R_{PA}, Cal_{Target}, PA_{Edu})$

5.5.4 Adaptive Q&A Selection

An appealing and challenging aspect of behavior management applications is keeping customers interested. Redundancy and irrelevance of information to users are the key issues. To overcome this challenge, the framework must understand the situation and consider the personalization of the customer. Questionnaires are an important way to get the personal details and preferences [134]. The problem is asking the same questions every time to extract the information. Therefore, in



Algorithm 4: Adaptive Q&A selection algorithm **Input:** $UserId_i$, $Lifelog_i$, $Profile_i$, KB_{Rule_i} $// i = \{1, 2, \dots n\}$ **Output:** R_{Que} Data: Users, Lifelog, Profile & Knowledgebase 1 $UId_i \leftarrow UserId_i / / UId_i = \{u_1, u_2, \dots, u_n\}$ 2 $X_i \leftarrow Lifelog_i \quad // \quad X_i = \{x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n\}$ 3 $Y_i \leftarrow Profile_i \quad // \quad Y_i = \{y_1, y_2, \dots, y_n\}$ **4** $R_i \leftarrow KB_{Rule_i}$ // $R_i = \{r_1, r_2, \dots, r_n\}$ **5** $R_i \leftarrow RulewithMaxSpecificity(UId_i, X_i, Y_i)$ 6 for $j \leftarrow 1$ to length (X_i) do $x_{j_{Status}} \leftarrow QuantifyLifelogFactor(x_i)$ 7 // 1=Risky, 3= Moderate, 5=Healthy if $(x_{j_{Status}} == 1)$ then 8 $Focused_{Group} \leftarrow Concatenate (Focused_{Group}, x_{j_{Status}})$ 9 10 end 11 else Ignore $x_{j_{Status}}$ // Do not consider normal factors 12 13 end 14 end 15 for $j \leftarrow 1$ to length (X_i) do $x_{j_{Status}} \leftarrow QuantifyLifelogFactor(x_j)$ 16 $Factor_{index} \leftarrow Factor_{index} + x_{iStatus}$ 17 18 end /* Refinement of the education matiral as per user context */ 19 int $n \leftarrow Factor_{index}.length()$ 20 while $(SubString(Factor_{index}, n)! = SubString(Recouse_{index}, n))$ do 21 $n \leftarrow n-1$ 22 end 23 $Que_{content} \leftarrow QuestionOnIndex(subString(Factor_{index}, n)) // this is$ another comment 24 $R_{Que} \leftarrow AdaptableQuestion(Que_{content}, Focused_{Group}, Y_i)$

110

Collection @ khu



Figure 5.8: Multi-phases adaptive intervention management life cycle.



behavioral adaptation, it is very important that questionnaires are adaptive with respect to user conditions. That is, if a certain behavior corresponds to the recommended status, this behavior does not need to be asked.

Adaptive Q&A Selection Workflow

Wellness users are registered in the application and given a unique identifier for further data processing and indexing. At the time of explicit feedback evaluation, the users' profile and lifestyle information is retrieved from the intermediate database. The lifestyle factors are examined and filtered to get the factors with risky and alarming status. The status of the factors is defined into risky, moderate and normal based on the guidelines and expert driven rules. The factors with risky status are filtered out to target the explicit questionnaires to improve them through root cause analysis.

There are multiple factors are involved, a set of rules is available to evaluate behavior. All the matching rules are loaded to identify the most appropriate one as shown in Figure 5.4. The maximum specificity technique is used to identify the rule with the highest value over the matching profile and lifelog conditions and constraints, as described in Algorithm 4. It supports the conclusion about the behavior for which a particular score is generated based on the focused group of the rule. The identified risk factors based on the matched rule support the interpretation of the context. The index is generated based on the status of the factors, which helps in understanding the content. The interpreted content and context help in selecting appropriate questions from the knowledge base through the index generated by the content interpretation process. Finally, filtering of questions is done using risk factors, preferences, context and expert driven rules. The questionnaire is communicated through an adaptable, user-friendly interface and responses are logged in the user profile for future use.

5.6 Evaluation of methodology

We have several possible scenarios for evaluating the proposed methodology, as there are multiple attributes and multi-phase situation for that of the intervention based on the registered-duration of the user. Each user has different stages of different behaviors, so we have drawn the proposed healthy behavior index to represent the state of the user. The whole intervention period was di-





Figure 5.9: User interfaces of designed application.





Figure 5.10: HBI results.



Reference	Goal Oriented	Self Monitoring	Behavior Adaptation	Behavior Education	Behavior Formation & Ale Analysis	rt Focus Factors	Behavioral Feedback	Recommendation & Remarks
[196] Gonzalez-Sanchez et al.(2019)	User Based	>	×	×	× ×	Dietary habits, Physical activity	>	End of day Report along with full day recommendation
[197] Arrogi et al. (2019)	×	>	×			Sedentary Behavior	>	No recommendation, visualization of prolonged sitting
[198] Brindal et al.(2019)	×	>	ng J		A A A	Diet & Physical Activity	>	Feedback driven recommendation on entry data
[199] Dunn et al. (2019)	×	>	ee 1	`	The work is a second	Dietary habits	×	Generic podcasts for recommendation twice weekly
[200] Baskerville et al.(2018)	User Based	>	Inive	Ŗ	×	Smoking cessation	>	Graphical and tabular report to highlight the status of smoking
[201] Crane et al. (2018)	×	>	×		×	Alcohol consumption	>	Daily progress and mission indicator
[202] Kliemann et al. (2019)	User Based	>	×	>	2	Dietary habits	>	Promote self-regulatory eating skills through goal diary
Proposed	Expert Based	>	>	>	>	Diet, Physical activity, Smoking, Alcohol	>	Personalized context based just-in-time recommendation

Table 5.4: Comparative analysis of the proposed methodology.

vided into education, recommendation and evaluation stages as shown in Figure 5.8. We obtained the information regarding lifestyle through the initial questionnaire at registration, as shown in Figure 5.9, and through the later life log. The status of the contributing factors supports the adaptation of the interventions.

These three stages of behavior change support the slow but steady change in the person's behavioral status, as shown in Figure 5.10. In stage-I, participants have knowledge about the unhealthy behavior obtained after evaluating their lifelog and responses. The frequency of intervention is almost once a day to prepare the mind to understand the impact of these unhealthy behaviors and adopt healthy behaviors for quality living. The lifelog continuously helps to understand the change in behaviors and habits due to the educational interventions.

The adaptive questionnaire is used after every 4 weeks to analyze the causes of the unhealthy behavior and refine the interventions. In the Stage-II, participants receive comprehensive step-by-step support to adopt healthy habits based on context and personal situation. This is the training stage where participants learn the steps for physical activity not only through text messaging but also with supportive videos, as well as identify their foods to meet nutritional requirements.

Multiple wellness applications focus on various techniques to help end users for managing the fitness, but they are not sufficient to promote healthy behaviors throughout life. Several Behavior Change Techniques (BCTs) have been used in the literature to address end-users in terms of self-quantification, education, feedback, interventions, and many more, as shown in Table 5.4. The comparisons of these BCTs along with focused fitness perspectives are elaborated, which mainly lack understanding of end-users' behavioral context and treat them with the same philosophy to improve fitness. In particular, habit formation could play an essential role in digital wellbeing applications by supporting behavior change towards more effective use of technology and ensuring the long-term impact of adapted behavior.

5.6.1 Statistical Analysis of methodology evaluation

The results are evaluated statistically to highlight the effective change in behavior following the delivery of the adaptive interventions over a 12-week period based on behavioral context and preferences. The purpose of conducting this paired t-test is to determine if the values obtained





Figure 5.11: Change comparison of behavior and fitness factors.



using the proposed methodology are significantly different from the values obtained without using the methodology. The data is obtained in relation to physical activities, diet and body weight. The population (103 participants) are divided into 4 groups based on non-communicable chronic diseases such as obesity, hypertension, hyperlipidemia and diabetes.

The results of paired-samples t-test of HBI, nutrition, physical activity behaviors and weight fitness factor are discussed in 5.11(a, b, c, d) respectively. The main cause to draw the t-test is to determine the effectiveness of user centric adaptive intervention methodology for nutrition behavior change over a period of three months. In this case, the Before-mean score for the Nutrition behavior (M = 22.22, SD = 3.28) is lower than the After-mean score of Nutrition behavior (M = 33.33, SD = 3.12), with a statistically standard error of difference of 0.435 (95% confidence interval: -11.97 to -10.24, t(102) = 25.5083, p < 0.0001). The Before-mean score for the Physical Activity behavior (M = 4312.88, SD = 767.22) is lower than the After-mean score of Physical Activity behavior (M = 6774.16, SD = 1007.73), with a statistically standard error of difference of 91.987 (95% confidence interval: -2643.73 to -2278.82, t(102) = 26.7568, p < 0.0001). The Before-mean score for the Weight fitness factor (M = 81.087, SD = 12.299) is lower than the After-mean score of Weight fitness factor (M = 79.378, SD = 11.615), with a statistically standard error of difference of 0.252 (95% confidence interval: 1.209 to 2.210, t(102) = 6.7756, p > 0.05). Since p i .05 which shows that the proposed methodology results are statistically significantly different from the results of existing methodologies.

Disease-wise change comparison of behavior and fitness factor

The results of paired-samples t-test of physical activity behaviors with respect to the diabetes, obesity hyperlipidemia and hypertension are discussed in 5.12(a, b, c, d) respectively. The main cause to draw the t-test is to determine the effectiveness of user centric adaptive intervention methodology for physical activity behavior change over a period of three months. The Beforemean score: for the diabetic patient (M = 4206.1, SD = 582.43); for obesity patient (M = 4027.3, SD = 640.32); for hypertension patient (M = 3971.5, SD = 515.2); for hyperlipidemia patient (M = 4027.3, SD = 640.32) are lower than the After-mean score : for the diabetic patient (M = 7326, SD = 740.85) with a statistically standard error of difference of 153.498 (95% confidence interval: -







d) The change in physical activity behavior of hypertension patients.



Collection @ khu



a) The change in nutrition behavior of diabetic patients.





c) The change in nutrition behavior of hyperlipidemia patients. d) The change in nutrition behavior of hypertension patients.

Figure 5.13: Disease-wise change comparison of nutrition behavior of patients.

3449.15 to -2790.71, t(102) = 20.322, p < 0.0001); for obesity patient (M = 6183.8, SD = 575.83) with a statistically standard error of difference of 143.923 (95% confidence interval: -2447.82 to -1865.10, t(102) = 14.983, p < 0.0001); for hypertension patient (M = 5918.6, SD = 491.8) with a statistically standard error of difference of 163.353 (95% confidence interval: -2287.80 to -1606.30, t(102) = 11.919, p < 0.0001); for hyperlipidemia patient (M = 7942.5, SD = 498.44) with a statistically standard error of difference of 164.681 (95% confidence interval: -3256.54 to -2580.74, t(102) = 17.723, p < 0.0001) respectively. Since p_i .05 which shows that the proposed methodology results are statistically significant.

The results of paired-samples t-test of nutrition behaviors with respect to the diabetes, obesity hyperlipidemia and hypertension are discussed in 5.13(a, b, c, d) respectively. The main cause to draw the t-test is to determine the effectiveness of user centric adaptive intervention methodology



for nutrition behavior change over a period of three months. The Before-mean score: for the diabetic patient (M = 23.13, SD = 3.2); for obesity patient (M = 22.13, SD = 3.52); for hypertension patient (M = 21.24, SD = 2.76); for hyperlipidemia patient (M = 22.61, SD = 3.29) are lower than the After-mean score : for the diabetic patient (M = 37, SD = 3.74) with a statistically standard error of difference of 0.792 (95% confidence interval: -15.57 to -12.17, t(102) = 17.5079, p <0.0001); for obesity patient (M = 37.1, SD = 3.45) with a statistically standard error of difference of 0.824 (95% confidence interval: -16.64 to -13.31, t(102) = 18.166, p <0.0001); for hypertension patient (M = 37.38, SD = 3.11) with a statistically standard error of difference of 0.952 (95% confidence interval: -18.13 to -14.16, t(102) = 16.95, p <0.0001); for hyperlipidemia patient (M = 37.82, SD = 2.37) with a statistically standard error of difference of 0.755 (95% confidence interval: -16.76 to -13.67, t(102) = 20.15, p<0.0001) respectively. Since p < .05 which shows that the proposed methodology results are statistically significant.

The results of paired-samples t-test of weight fitness factor with respect to the diabetes, obesity hyperlipidemia and hypertension are discussed in 5.14(a, b, c, d) respectively. The main cause to draw the t-test is to determine the effectiveness of user centric adaptive intervention methodology for weight change over a period of three months. The Before-mean score: for the diabetic patient (M = 77.427, SD = 4.403); for obesity patient (M = 88.018, SD = 11.79); for hypertension patient (M = 79.719, SD = 9.177); for hyperlipidemia patient (M = 74.421, SD = 12.676) are lower than the After-mean score : for the diabetic patient (M = 75.887, SD = 6.818) with a statistically standard error of difference of 0.467 (95% confidence interval: 0.539 to 2.541, t(102) = 3.299, p> 0.05); for obesity patient (M = 77.5, SD = 7.307) with a statistically standard error of difference of 0.602 (95% confidence interval: 0.963 to 3.475, t(102) = 3.6851, p> 0.05); for hyperlipidemia patient (M = 73.071, SD = 12.428) with a statistically standard error of difference interval: 0.249 to 2.451, t(102) = 2.517, p> 0.05) respectively. Since p> 0.05 which shows that the proposed methodology results are statistically not significant for fitness factor.





c) The change in weight factor of hyperlipidemia patients.

d) The change in weight factor of hypertension patients.





Collection @ khu

5.7 Summary

Smart ubiquitous computing plays an important role in preventing and indicating preventable lifestyle-related chronic diseases. It focuses on healthy lifestyle through the convergence of science and technology in this digital world to improve health and quality of life. Since the last decade, the development of wellness applications has supported personalization and self-quantification. These applications facilitate users to adopt healthy behaviors through activity tracking and monitoring based on raw sensory data. The challenge in behavior change is not only to display the problems but also to provide step-by-step coaching and guidance in real time. The implementation of behavior change theories through digital technology has revolutionized lifestyle change in a systematic and measurable way. Our methodology understands behavior to generate just-in-time interventions for healthy lifestyle adoption. The wellness platform-based behavioral analysis is conducted using an unbiased lifelog and a questionnaire to qualitatively assess behavior. Behavioral contextual interventions will be provided to adapt behaviors to improve quality of life and increase socioeconomic conditions. Personalized education is provided to understand the importance of healthy behaviors and motivate users, while just-in-time context-based recommendations have supported the incremental adjustment of unhealthy behaviors. The real focus is to correlate the primary linked habits in an appropriate proportion through the healthy behavior index (HBI) for personalized wellness support services. The healthy behavior index and behavior change theories through smart technologies have improved the functionality of the wellness management system and support the outlining of behavioral status to adopt healthy activities to improve long life. The results show that education and recommendations are appealing and attractive according to the stage of the person to retain the attention of customers.



Chapter 6

Conclusion and Future Direction

Human behaviour is a qualitative in nature depending on several factors to define the context. Quantifying lifestyle behaviour is a challenging task and many efforts are made to transfer behaviour comprehensively. Self-quantification is one of the approaches to register and manage the daily diary of activities performed, visits to places, eating, work schedules and many others. Lifestyle behaviours have an impact on the development of non-communicable diseases and premature mortality and morbidity. So, this chapter concludes the dissertation work and discusses future directions in this research area. Finally, the possible applications of the proposed methodology are listed.

6.1 Conclusion

Quantifying human behavior for assessment and adaptation is an active area of research in the wellness management community. Root cause analysis and prevention of non-communicable diseases depends on early identification and modification of unhealthy daily routines. Fortunately, information and communication technology (ICT) is hailed as a pillar of the modern digital health era that has the potential to empower people to take charge of their health and wellness by providing personalized information, encouragement, and control on a timely and ubiquitous basis. Indeed, the industry has a strong interest in developing specific technologies and systems for health and wellness management, fueled in part by the rise of wearable and mobile technology. Healthy lifestyle services, particularly in the fitness space, are the immediate target of these solutions, which essentially allow users to monitor their daily routines and provide them with feedback. In particular, habit formation could play an essential role in digital wellbeing applications to support behavioral change towards more effective use of technology and ensure the long-term impact of



adapted behavior.

Behavioral adaptation requires both identification of unhealthy habits and personalized interventions at the right time with feasible actions. The derived methodology not only identifies behavioral status through the Healthy Behavior Index (HBI), but also uses a behavioral context prediction model for selecting appropriate prescriptive interventions. In this work, we focused on the comprehensive status of four major and basic habits such as smoking, unbalanced diet, alcohol, and physical inactivity. It will help the individuals and experts in root cause analysis of diseases. The HBI service is designed to function independently as a service so that any other service-enabled wellness management platform can use it to evaluate the status of healthy behaviors for behavioral indication, recommendation generation, and behavioral adjustment. The change in HBI is a very useful indicator of behavioral adaptation that motivates the user of the wellness application to use it for a longer period of time.

The dissertation laid a foundation of behavior formation through Behavior Change Techniques under the impact of ubiquitous technologies. To achieve this promising goal, following objectives have been achieved:

- Contributing Factors Identification: Examining the factors that contribute to lifestyle indication is the basic step of quantification, like refining crude oil. The lifestyle factors are obtained from several wellness guidelines in the field of physical activity, diet, smoking and alcohol. The Kappa agreement value is 0.5282 and 0.9100 respectively, indicating moderate to perfect agreement between the raters.
- 2. Healthy Behavior Index through Factors Weight-age:

The impact of the factors is not linear, so we used the life expectancy-based weighting algorithm for each factor by Mortality Population Risk Tool (MPoRT), which is based on the Cox proportional hazards model. The risk factor weighting age is derived by proportion from the difference in life gain and life loss due to a given risk factor.

3. Healthy Behavior Index Mapping with Behavior Stage:

Ensemble learning is used for classifying behavioral stages. It is based on multiple base learners to improve performance over a single learner for predicting behavior. Thus, we



used a majority voting technique in conjunction with Support Vector Machine (SVM), Naïve Bayes (NB) and Decision Tree based learners. We achieved the highest accuracy with the Ensemble classifier, while Naive Bayes and Decision trees also had accuracy greater than 90%. The accuracy of Support Vector Machine was 87.57%.

 Personalization of Interventions: The behavior-context of the end user is categorized according to the TTM levels to support refinement of interventions depending on behavioral status, disease conditions, and preferences.

A real-world, user-centric statistical evaluation is conducted using the tools User Experience Questionnaire (UEQ), System Usability Score, and AttrakDiff. The gain in behavioral change is inferred from the implicit feedback, which shows that the context-based methods have steadily improved behavioral adaptation in the long run. The explicit feedback from 99 end users of the wellness application based on the proposed methodology resulted in "Good" and "Desired" status for the widely used tools System Usability Score and AttrakDiff, respectively. The stimulation coefficient of the value 0.86 showed a significant effect. We observed an overall novelty of value 0.88, showing the potential interest of the participants. The adaptive intervention demonstrated a positive user experience in terms of stimulation to adapt healthy behaviors. The HBI service is designed to function independently as a service so that any other platform that provides wellness management services can use it to evaluate the individual's healthy behavior index for generating recommendations, behavior indication, and behavioral adaptations.

6.2 Future Direction

The study can be extended in a number of directions such as it is worthwhile to investigate the impact of financial and emotional distress on behavior adaption. We would also like to extend the scope of the study to include a wider user base such as the younger population having no prior health conditions.

126


Bibliography

- H. Liu and L. Yu, "Toward integrating feature selection algorithms for classification and clustering," *IEEE Transactions on knowledge and data engineering*, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 491– 502, 2005.
- [2] G. Desolda, C. Ardito, M. F. Costabile, and M. Matera, "End-user composition of interactive applications through actionable ui components," *Journal of Visual Languages & Computing*, vol. 42, pp. 46–59, 2017.
- [3] T. C. Pellmar, E. N. Brandt Jr, and M. A. Baird, "Health and behavior: the interplay of biological, behavioral, and social influences: summary of an institute of medicine report," *American Journal of Health Promotion*, vol. 16, no. 4, pp. 206–219, 2002.
- [4] B. Spring, C. Pellegrini, H. McFadden, A. F. Pfammatter, T. K. Stump, J. Siddique, A. C. King, and D. Hedeker, "Multicomponent mhealth intervention for large, sustained change in multiple diet and activity risk behaviors: The make better choices 2 randomized controlled trial," *Journal of medical Internet research*, vol. 20, no. 6, 2018.
- [5] F. Dutheil, M. Duclos, G. Naughton, S. Dewavrin, T. Cornet, P. Huguet, J.-C. Chatard, and B. Pereira, "Wittyfit—live your work differently: Study protocol for a workplace-delivered health promotion," *JMIR research protocols*, vol. 6, no. 4, 2017.
- [6] S. Tabish *et al.*, "Lifestyle diseases: consequences, characteristics, causes and control," *Journal of Cardiology & Current Research*, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 1–4, 2017.



- [7] X. Liu, Z. Mao, Y. Li, W. Wu, X. Zhang, W. Huo, S. Yu, L. Shen, L. Li, R. Tu *et al.*, "Cohort profile: The henan rural cohort: a prospective study of chronic non-communicable diseases," *International journal of epidemiology*, vol. 48, no. 6, pp. 1756–1756j, 2019.
- [8] WHO, Noncommunicable diseases, 2020 (accessed August 03, 2020). [Online]. Available: https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/noncommunicable-diseases
- [9] R. Uddin, E.-Y. Lee, S. R. Khan, M. S. Tremblay, and A. Khan, "Clustering of lifestyle risk factors for non-communicable diseases in 304,779 adolescents from 89 countries: A global perspective," *Preventive medicine*, vol. 131, p. 105955, 2020.
- [10] O. M. Blaga, L. Vasilescu, and R. M. Chereches, "Use and effectiveness of behavioural economics in interventions for lifestyle risk factors of non-communicable diseases: a systematic review with policy implications," *Perspectives in public health*, vol. 138, no. 2, pp. 100–110, 2018.
- [11] M. Ahmad, M. B. Amin, S. Hussain, B. H. Kang, T. Cheong, and S. Lee, "Health fog: a novel framework for health and wellness applications," *The Journal of Supercomputing*, vol. 72, no. 10, pp. 3677–3695, 2016.
- [12] M. B. Amin, O. Banos, W. A. Khan, H. S. Muhammad Bilal, J. Gong, D.-M. Bui, S. H. Cho, S. Hussain, T. Ali, U. Akhtar *et al.*, "On curating multimodal sensory data for health and wellness platforms," *Sensors*, vol. 16, no. 7, p. 980, 2016.
- [13] N. L. Chatzisarantis and M. S. Hagger, "Mindfulness and the intention-behavior relationship within the theory of planned behavior," *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, vol. 33, no. 5, pp. 663–676, 2007.
- [14] R. Rhodes, G.-J. de Bruijn, and D. H. Matheson, "Habit in the physical activity domain: Integration with intention temporal stability and action control," *Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 84–98, 2010.
- [15] S. P. Kremers, M. A. Dijkman, J. S. de Meij, M. E. Jurg, and J. Brug, "Awareness and habit: Important factors in physical activity in children," *Health Education*, vol. 108, no. 6, pp. 475–488, 2008.



- [16] B. Verplanken and O. Melkevik, "Predicting habit: The case of physical exercise," *Psychology of sport and exercise*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 15–26, 2008.
- [17] G.-J. de Bruijn, S. P. Kremers, A. Singh, B. Van den Putte, and W. Van Mechelen, "Adult active transportation: adding habit strength to the theory of planned behavior," *American journal of preventive medicine*, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 189–194, 2009.
- [18] M. Lemieux and G. Godin, "How well do cognitive and environmental variables predict active commuting?" *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, vol. 6, no. 1, p. 12, 2009.
- [19] B. Gardner, "Modelling motivation and habit in stable travel mode contexts," *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 68–76, 2009.
- [20] G.-J. De Bruijn, "Understanding college students' fruit consumption. integrating habit strength in the theory of planned behaviour," *Appetite*, vol. 54, no. 1, pp. 16–22, 2010.
- [21] G.-J. De Bruijn, S. P. Kremers, E. De Vet, J. De Nooijer, W. Van Mechelen, and J. Brug, "Does habit strength moderate the intention-behaviour relationship in the theory of planned behaviour? the case of fruit consumption," *Psychology and Health*, vol. 22, no. 8, pp. 899– 916, 2007.
- [22] J. Brug, E. de Vet, J. de Nooijer, and B. Verplanken, "Predicting fruit consumption: cognitions, intention, and habits," *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, vol. 38, no. 2, pp. 73–81, 2006.
- [23] F. B. Hu, M. F. Leitzmann, M. J. Stampfer, G. A. Colditz, W. C. Willett, and E. B. Rimm, "Physical activity and television watching in relation to risk for type 2 diabetes mellitus in men," *Archives of internal medicine*, vol. 161, no. 12, pp. 1542–1548, 2001.
- [24] M. Shields and M. S. Tremblay, "Sedentary behaviour and obesity," *Health Reports*, vol. 19, no. 2, p. 19, 2008.



- [25] F. B. Hu, T. Y. Li, G. A. Colditz, W. C. Willett, and J. E. Manson, "Television watching and other sedentary behaviors in relation to risk of obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus in women," *Jama*, vol. 289, no. 14, pp. 1785–1791, 2003.
- [26] G.-J. de Bruijn, W. Kroeze, A. Oenema, and J. Brug, "Saturated fat consumption and the theory of planned behaviour: exploring additive and interactive effects of habit strength," *Appetite*, vol. 51, no. 2, pp. 318–323, 2008.
- [27] S. A. Bowman, "Peer reviewed: Television-viewing characteristics of adults: Correlations to eating practices and overweight and health status," *Preventing chronic disease*, vol. 3, no. 2, 2006.
- [28] D. B. Panagiotakos, C. Pitsavos, Y. Lentzas, Y. Skoumas, L. Papadimitriou, A. Zeimbekis, and C. Stefanadis, "Determinants of physical inactivity among men and women from greece: a 5-year follow-up of the attica study," *Annals of epidemiology*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 387–394, 2008.
- [29] J. L. Harris and J. A. Bargh, "Television viewing and unhealthy diet: implications for children and media interventions," *Health communication*, vol. 24, no. 7, pp. 660–673, 2009.
- [30] J. F. Hayes, E. E. Fitzsimmons-Craft, A. M. Karam, J. Jakubiak, M. L. Brown, and D. E. Wilfley, "Disordered eating attitudes and behaviors in youth with overweight and obesity: Implications for treatment," *Current obesity reports*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 235–246, 2018.
- [31] S. Zhou, M. A. Shapiro, and B. Wansink, "The audience eats more if a movie character keeps eating: An unconscious mechanism for media influence on eating behaviors," *Appetite*, vol. 108, pp. 407–415, 2017.
- [32] V. Pala, L. A. Reisch, and L. Lissner, "Dietary behaviour in children, adolescents and families: The eating habits questionnaire (ehq)," in *Instruments for Health Surveys in Children* and Adolescents. Springer, 2019, pp. 103–133.
- [33] T. Udo, E. L. Harrison, J. Shi, J. Tetrault, and S. A. McKee, "A preliminary study on the effect of combined nicotine replacement therapy on alcohol responses and alcohol selfadministration," *The American journal on addictions*, vol. 22, no. 6, pp. 590–597, 2013.



- [34] S. A. McKee, S. S. O'Malley, J. Shi, T. Mase, and S. Krishnan-Sarin, "Effect of transdermal nicotine replacement on alcohol responses and alcohol self-administration," *Psychopharmacology*, vol. 196, no. 2, pp. 189–200, 2008.
- [35] S. P. Barrett, P. Collins, and S. H. Stewart, "The acute effects of tobacco smoking and alcohol consumption on video-lottery terminal gambling," *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, vol. 130, pp. 34–39, 2015.
- [36] C. W. Kahler, J. Metrik, N. S. Spillane, A. Day, A. M. Leventhal, S. A. McKee, J. W. Tidey, J. E. McGeary, V. S. Knopik, and D. J. Rohsenow, "Acute effects of low and high dose alcohol on smoking lapse behavior in a laboratory analogue task," *Psychopharmacology*, vol. 231, no. 24, pp. 4649–4657, 2014.
- [37] S. A. McKee, E. L. Harrison, and J. Shi, "Alcohol expectancy increases positive responses to cigarettes in young, escalating smokers," *Psychopharmacology*, vol. 210, no. 3, pp. 355– 364, 2010.
- [38] A. R. Braun, A. J. Heinz, J. C. Veilleux, M. Conrad, S. Weber, M. Wardle, J. Greenstein, D. Evatt, D. Drobes, and J. D. Kassel, "The separate and combined effects of alcohol and nicotine on anticipatory anxiety: A multidimensional analysis," *Addictive behaviors*, vol. 37, no. 4, pp. 485–491, 2012.
- [39] B. Gardner, G.-J. de Bruijn, and P. Lally, "A systematic review and meta-analysis of applications of the self-report habit index to nutrition and physical activity behaviours," *Annals* of *Behavioral Medicine*, vol. 42, no. 2, pp. 174–187, 2011.
- [40] B. Verplanken and S. Orbell, "Habit and behavior change," in *Social psychology in action*. Springer, 2019, pp. 65–78.
- [41] M. Reicks, J. Banna, M. Cluskey, C. Gunther, N. Hongu, R. Richards, G. Topham, and S. S. Wong, "Influence of parenting practices on eating behaviors of early adolescents during independent eating occasions: implications for obesity prevention," *Nutrients*, vol. 7, no. 10, pp. 8783–8801, 2015.



- [42] N. Pearson and S. J. Biddle, "Sedentary behavior and dietary intake in children, adolescents, and adults: a systematic review," *American journal of preventive medicine*, vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 178–188, 2011.
- [43] S. Schoeppe, S. Alley, W. Van Lippevelde, N. A. Bray, S. L. Williams, M. J. Duncan, and C. Vandelanotte, "Efficacy of interventions that use apps to improve diet, physical activity and sedentary behaviour: a systematic review," *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, vol. 13, no. 1, p. 127, 2016.
- [44] M. Stahre, J. Roeber, D. Kanny, R. D. Brewer, and X. Zhang, "Peer reviewed: contribution of excessive alcohol consumption to deaths and years of potential life lost in the united states," *Preventing chronic disease*, vol. 11, 2014.
- [45] D. E. Falk, Y. Hsiao-Ye, and S. Hiller-Sturmhöfel, "An epidemiologic analysis of cooccurring alcohol and tobacco use and disorders," *Alcohol Research*, vol. 29, no. 3, p. 162, 2006.
- [46] S. A. McKee and A. H. Weinberger, "How can we use our knowledge of alcohol-tobacco interactions to reduce alcohol use?" *Annual review of clinical psychology*, vol. 9, pp. 649– 674, 2013.
- [47] M. Hashibe, P. Brennan, S. Benhamou, X. Castellsague, C. Chen, M. P. Curado, L. D. Maso, A. W. Daudt, E. Fabianova, V. Wünsch-Filho *et al.*, "Alcohol drinking in never users of tobacco, cigarette smoking in never drinkers, and the risk of head and neck cancer: pooled analysis in the international head and neck cancer epidemiology consortium," *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, vol. 99, no. 10, pp. 777–789, 2007.
- [48] M. Thomson, J. C. Spence, K. Raine, and L. Laing, "The association of television viewing with snacking behavior and body weight of young adults," *American Journal of Health Promotion*, vol. 22, no. 5, pp. 329–335, 2008.
- [49] C. D. Rehm, T. D. Matte, G. Van Wye, C. Young, and T. R. Frieden, "Demographic and behavioral factors associated with daily sugar-sweetened soda consumption in new york city adults," *Journal of Urban Health*, vol. 85, no. 3, pp. 375–385, 2008.



- [50] D. J. Barr-Anderson, N. I. Larson, M. C. Nelson, D. Neumark-Sztainer, and M. Story, "Does television viewing predict dietary intake five years later in high school students and young adults?" *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, vol. 6, no. 1, p. 7, 2009.
- [51] A. Lake, T. Townshend, S. Alvanides, E. Stamp, and A. Adamson, "Diet, physical activity, sedentary behaviour and perceptions of the environment in young adults," *Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics*, vol. 22, no. 5, pp. 444–454, 2009.
- [52] G.-J. de Bruijn and B. van den Putte, "Adolescent soft drink consumption, television viewing and habit strength. investigating clustering effects in the theory of planned behaviour," *Appetite*, vol. 53, no. 1, pp. 66–75, 2009.
- [53] S. P. Kremers, K. van der Horst, and J. Brug, "Adolescent screen-viewing behaviour is associated with consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages: the role of habit strength and perceived parental norms," *Appetite*, vol. 48, no. 3, pp. 345–350, 2007.
- [54] M. A. Adriaanse, D. T. de Ridder, and C. Evers, "Emotional eating: Eating when emotional or emotional about eating?" *Psychology and Health*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 23–39, 2011.
- [55] L. Tam, R. P. Bagozzi, and J. Spanjol, "When planning is not enough: The self-regulatory effect of implementation intentions on changing snacking habits." *Health Psychology*, vol. 29, no. 3, p. 284, 2010.
- [56] B. Verplanken and S. Orbell, "Reflections on past behavior: A self-report index of habit strength 1," *Journal of applied social psychology*, vol. 33, no. 6, pp. 1313–1330, 2003.
- [57] M. T. Conner, M. Perugini, R. O'Gorman, K. Ayres, and A. Prestwich, "Relations between implicit and explicit measures of attitudes and measures of behavior: Evidence of moderation by individual difference variables," *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, vol. 33, no. 12, pp. 1727–1740, 2007.
- [58] A. S. Attwood, I. S. Penton-Voak, C. Goodwin, and M. R. Munafò, "Effects of acute nicotine and alcohol on the rating of attractiveness in social smokers and alcohol drinkers," *Drug* and alcohol dependence, vol. 125, no. 1-2, pp. 43–48, 2012.



- [59] J. A. Oliver, M. D. Blank, K. J. Van Rensburg, D. A. MacQueen, T. H. Brandon, and D. J. Drobes, "Nicotine interactions with low-dose alcohol: Pharmacological influences on smoking and drinking motivation." *Journal of abnormal psychology*, vol. 122, no. 4, p. 1154, 2013.
- [60] L. Pavey, P. Sparks, and S. Churchill, "Proscriptive vs. prescriptive health recommendations to drink alcohol within recommended limits: effects on moral norms, reactance, attitudes, intentions and behaviour change," *Alcohol and alcoholism*, vol. 53, no. 3, pp. 344–349, 2018.
- [61] R. R. Bailey, "Goal setting and action planning for health behavior change," *American jour-nal of lifestyle medicine*, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 615–618, 2019.
- [62] Q. Yang, "Are social networking sites making health behavior change interventions more effective? a meta-analytic review," *Journal of health communication*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 223–233, 2017.
- [63] S. A. Mummah, M. Mathur, A. C. King, C. D. Gardner, and S. Sutton, "Mobile technology for vegetable consumption: a randomized controlled pilot study in overweight adults," *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, vol. 4, no. 2, p. e51, 2016.
- [64] S. Pedersen, A. Grønhøj, and J. Thøgersen, "Texting your way to healthier eating? effects of participating in a feedback intervention using text messaging on adolescents' fruit and vegetable intake," *Health education research*, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 171–184, 2016.
- [65] G. B. Chapman, H. Colby, K. Convery, and E. J. Coups, "Goals and social comparisons promote walking behavior," *Medical Decision Making*, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 472–478, 2016.
- [66] J. Choi, J. hyeon Lee, E. Vittinghoff, and Y. Fukuoka, "mhealth physical activity intervention: a randomized pilot study in physically inactive pregnant women," *Maternal and child health journal*, vol. 20, no. 5, pp. 1091–1101, 2016.
- [67] A. Prestwich, M. Conner, R. Hurling, K. Ayres, and B. Morris, "An experimental test of control theory-based interventions for physical activity," *British journal of health psychol*ogy, vol. 21, no. 4, pp. 812–826, 2016.



- [68] J. C. Walsh, T. Corbett, M. Hogan, J. Duggan, and A. McNamara, "An mhealth intervention using a smartphone app to increase walking behavior in young adults: a pilot study," *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, vol. 4, no. 3, p. e109, 2016.
- [69] J. M. Jakicic, K. K. Davis, R. J. Rogers, W. C. King, M. D. Marcus, D. Helsel, A. D. Rickman, A. S. Wahed, and S. H. Belle, "Effect of wearable technology combined with a lifestyle intervention on long-term weight loss: the idea randomized clinical trial," *Jama*, vol. 316, no. 11, pp. 1161–1171, 2016.
- [70] S. Willey and J. K. Walsh, "Outcomes of a mobile health coaching platform: 12-week results of a single-arm longitudinal study," *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, vol. 4, no. 1, p. e3, 2016.
- [71] S. Lim, S. M. Kang, K. M. Kim, J. H. Moon, S. H. Choi, H. Hwang, H. S. Jung, K. S. Park, J. O. Ryu, and H. C. Jang, "Multifactorial intervention in diabetes care using real-time monitoring and tailored feedback in type 2 diabetes," *Acta diabetologica*, vol. 53, no. 2, pp. 189–198, 2016.
- [72] D. Almirall, I. Nahum-Shani, N. E. Sherwood, and S. A. Murphy, "Introduction to smart designs for the development of adaptive interventions: with application to weight loss research," *Translational behavioral medicine*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 260–274, 2014.
- [73] D. B. Fassnacht, K. Ali, C. Silva, S. Gonçalves, and P. P. Machado, "Use of text messaging services to promote health behaviors in children," *Journal of nutrition education and behavior*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 75–80, 2015.
- [74] I. Nahum-Shani, S. N. Smith, B. J. Spring, L. M. Collins, K. Witkiewitz, A. Tewari, and S. A. Murphy, "Just-in-time adaptive interventions (jitais) in mobile health: key components and design principles for ongoing health behavior support," *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, vol. 52, no. 6, pp. 446–462, 2018.
- [75] S. M. Schembre, Y. Liao, M. C. Robertson, G. F. Dunton, J. Kerr, M. E. Haffey, T. Burnett, K. Basen-Engquist, and R. S. Hicklen, "Just-in-time feedback in diet and physical activity interventions: systematic review and practical design framework," *Journal of medical Internet research*, vol. 20, no. 3, p. e106, 2018.



- [76] D. Ben-Zeev, C. J. Brenner, M. Begale, J. Duffecy, D. C. Mohr, and K. T. Mueser, "Feasibility, acceptability, and preliminary efficacy of a smartphone intervention for schizophrenia," *Schizophrenia bulletin*, vol. 40, no. 6, pp. 1244–1253, 2014.
- [77] D. H. Gustafson, F. M. McTavish, M.-Y. Chih, A. K. Atwood, R. A. Johnson, M. G. Boyle, M. S. Levy, H. Driscoll, S. M. Chisholm, L. Dillenburg *et al.*, "A smartphone application to support recovery from alcoholism: a randomized clinical trial," *JAMA psychiatry*, vol. 71, no. 5, pp. 566–572, 2014.
- [78] S. Van Dantzig, G. Geleijnse, and A. T. Van Halteren, "Toward a persuasive mobile application to reduce sedentary behavior," *Personal and ubiquitous computing*, vol. 17, no. 6, pp. 1237–1246, 2013.
- [79] A. Kankanhalli, M. Saxena, and B. Wadhwa, "Combined interventions for physical activity, sleep, and diet using smartphone apps: A scoping literature review," *International Journal* of Medical Informatics, 2018.
- [80] L. M. Akhu-Zaheya and Y. S. Wa'ed, "The effect of short message system (sms) reminder on adherence to a healthy diet, medication, and cessation of smoking among adult patients with cardiovascular diseases," *International journal of medical informatics*, vol. 98, pp. 65–75, 2017.
- [81] D. G. Manuel, R. Perez, C. Sanmartin, M. Taljaard, D. Hennessy, K. Wilson, P. Tanuseputro, H. Manson, C. Bennett, M. Tuna *et al.*, "Measuring burden of unhealthy behaviours using a multivariable predictive approach: life expectancy lost in canada attributable to smoking, alcohol, physical inactivity, and diet," *PLoS Medicine*, vol. 13, no. 8, p. e1002082, 2016.
- [82] J. Liao, G. Muniz-Terrera, S. Scholes, Y. Hao, and Y.-m. Chen, "Lifestyle index for mortality prediction using multiple ageing cohorts in the usa, uk and europe," *Scientific reports*, vol. 8, 2018.
- [83] K. G. Moons, A. P. Kengne, M. Woodward, P. Royston, Y. Vergouwe, D. G. Altman, and D. E. Grobbee, "Risk prediction models: I. development, internal validation, and assessing the incremental value of a new (bio) marker," *Heart*, vol. 98, no. 9, pp. 683–690, 2012.



- [84] A. Biswas, P. I. Oh, G. E. Faulkner, R. R. Bajaj, M. A. Silver, M. S. Mitchell, and D. A. Alter, "Sedentary time and its association with risk for disease incidence, mortality, and hospitalization in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis," *Annals of internal medicine*, vol. 162, no. 2, pp. 123–132, 2015.
- [85] D. Dürr and U.-C. Klehe, "Using the theory of planned behavior to predict faking in selection exercises varying in fidelity," *Journal of Personnel Psychology*, 2018.
- [86] K. Oyibo, R. Orji, and J. Vassileva, "Developing culturally relevant design guidelines for encouraging physical activity: a social cognitive theory perspective," *Journal of Healthcare Informatics Research*, vol. 2, no. 4, pp. 319–352, 2018.
- [87] A. J. Romain, C. Horwath, and P. Bernard, "Prediction of physical activity level using processes of change from the transtheoretical model: experiential, behavioral, or an interaction effect?" *American Journal of Health Promotion*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 16–23, 2018.
- [88] F. P. de Toledo, S. Devincenzi, V. Kwecko, F. P. Mota, and S. S. da Costa Botelho, "A framework for modeling persuasive technologies based on the fogg behavior model," in 2018 IEEE Frontiers in Education Conference (FIE). IEEE, 2018, pp. 1–5.
- [89] E. Dahl, M. J. Tagler, and Z. P. Hohman, "Gambling and the reasoned action model: Predicting past behavior, intentions, and future behavior," *Journal of gambling studies*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 101–118, 2018.
- [90] C. R. Aydın, A. Erkan, T. Güngör, and H. Takçı, "Dictionary-based concept mining: An application for turkish," arXiv preprint arXiv:1401.2663, 2014.
- [91] A. Barua *et al.*, "Methods for decision-making in survey questionnaires based on likert scale," *Journal of Asian Scientific Research*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 35–38, 2013.
- [92] K. L. Gwet, *Handbook of inter-rater reliability: The definitive guide to measuring the extent of agreement among raters.* Advanced Analytics, LLC, 2014.
- [93] J. Sim and C. C. Wright, "The kappa statistic in reliability studies: use, interpretation, and sample size requirements," *Physical therapy*, vol. 85, no. 3, pp. 257–268, 2005.



- [94] G. O'donovan, I.-M. Lee, M. Hamer, and E. Stamatakis, "Association of "weekend warrior" and other leisure time physical activity patterns with risks for all-cause, cardiovascular disease, and cancer mortality," *JAMA internal medicine*, vol. 177, no. 3, pp. 335–342, 2017.
- [95] J. T. Hall, M. Ebeling, J. R. Shary, N. Forestieri, and C. L. Wagner, "The relationship between physical activity and vitamin d status in postpartum lactating and formula-feeding women," *The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology*, vol. 177, pp. 261– 265, 2018.
- [96] S. Luo, S. G. O'Connor, B. R. Belcher, and K. A. Page, "Effects of physical activity and sedentary behavior on brain response to high-calorie food cues in young adults," *Obesity*, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 540–546, 2018.
- [97] D. M. Ostendorf, K. Lyden, Z. Pan, H. R. Wyatt, J. O. Hill, E. L. Melanson, and V. A. Catenacci, "Objectively measured physical activity and sedentary behavior in successful weight loss maintainers," *Obesity*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 53–60, 2018.
- [98] M. W. O'Brien, S. A. Robinson, R. J. Frayne, S. Mekary, J. R. Fowles, and D. S. Kimmerly, "Achieving canadian physical activity guidelines is associated with better vascular function independent of aerobic fitness and sedentary time in older adults." *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism*, no. ja, 2018.
- [99] F. Ghilotti, A.-S. Pesonen, S. E. Raposo, H. Winell, O. Nyrén, Y. T. Lagerros, and A. Plymoth, "Physical activity, sleep and risk of respiratory infections: A swedish cohort study," *PloS one*, vol. 13, no. 1, p. e0190270, 2018.
- [100] L. Lan, Z. J. Zhai, and Z. Lian, "A two-part model for evaluation of thermal neutrality for sleeping people," *Building and Environment*, vol. 132, pp. 319–326, 2018.
- [101] F. M. Cachelin, C. Thomas, A. Vela, and V. Gil-Rivas, "Associations between meal patterns, binge eating, and weight for latinas," *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 32–39, 2017.



- [102] J. Lin, S. Lin, Y. Wu, X. Wang, S. Wu, and H. Li, "Hypomethylation of the angiotensin ii type i receptor (agtr1) gene along with environmental factors increases the risk for essential hypertension," *Cardiology*, vol. 137, no. 2, pp. 126–135, 2017.
- [103] R. V. García-Mayor and F. J. García-Soidán, "Eating disoders in type 2 diabetic people: Brief review," *Diabetes & Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Research & Reviews*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 221–224, 2017.
- [104] J. Erickson, B. Sadeghirad, L. Lytvyn, J. Slavin, and B. C. Johnston, "The scientific basis of guideline recommendations on sugar intake: a systematic review," *Annals of internal medicine*, vol. 166, no. 4, pp. 257–267, 2017.
- [105] M. Aragno and R. Mastrocola, "Dietary sugars and endogenous formation of advanced glycation endproducts: Emerging mechanisms of disease," *Nutrients*, vol. 9, no. 4, p. 385, 2017.
- [106] L. Lie, L. Brown, T. E. Forrester, J. Plange-Rhule, P. Bovet, E. V. Lambert, B. T. Layden, A. Luke, and L. R. Dugas, "The association of dietary fiber intake with cardiometabolic risk in four countries across the epidemiologic transition," *Nutrients*, vol. 10, no. 5, p. 628, 2018.
- [107] C. Y. Leung, "Dietary intake and the foods that provide sources of dietary fiber in college students," Ph.D. dissertation, D'Youville College, 2017.
- [108] L. M. Burke, G. R. Cox, N. K. Cummings, and B. Desbrow, "Guidelines for daily carbohydrate intake," *Sports medicine*, vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 267–299, 2001.
- [109] A. D. Association *et al.*, "4. lifestyle management: standards of medical care in diabetes—2018," *Diabetes Care*, vol. 41, no. Supplement 1, pp. S38–S50, 2018.
- [110] B. Zhang, Q. Zhao, W. Guo, W. Bao, and X. Wang, "Association of whole grain intake with all-cause, cardiovascular, and cancer mortality: a systematic review and dose–response meta-analysis from prospective cohort studies," *European journal of clinical nutrition*, vol. 72, no. 1, p. 57, 2018.



- [111] T. L. Gary, K. Baptiste-Roberts, E. W. Gregg, D. E. Williams, G. L. Beckles, E. J. Miller 3rd, and M. M. Engelgau, "Fruit, vegetable and fat intake in a population-based sample of african americans." *Journal of the National Medical Association*, vol. 96, no. 12, p. 1599, 2004.
- [112] S. E. Horton, G. M. Timmerman, and A. Brown, "Factors influencing dietary fat intake among black emerging adults," *Journal of American College Health*, vol. 66, no. 3, pp. 155–164, 2018.
- [113] J. B. German and C. J. Dillard, "Saturated fats: what dietary intake?" *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, vol. 80, no. 3, pp. 550–559, 2004.
- [114] P. Kris-Etherton, B. Eissenstat, S. Jaax, U. Srinath, L. Scott, J. Rader, and T. Pearson, "Validation for medficts, a dietary assessment instrument for evaluating adherence to total and saturated fat recommendations of the national cholesterol education program step 1 and step 2 diets," *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, vol. 101, no. 1, pp. 81–86, 2001.
- [115] M. Weech, H. Altowaijri, J. Mayneris-Perxachs, K. Vafeiadou, J. Madden, S. Todd, K. G. Jackson, J. A. Lovegrove, and P. Yaqoob, "Replacement of dietary saturated fat with unsaturated fats increases numbers of circulating endothelial progenitor cells and decreases numbers of microparticles: findings from the randomized, controlled dietary intervention and vascular function (divas) study," *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, vol. 107, no. 6, pp. 876–882, 2018.
- [116] P. K. Luukkonen, S. Sädevirta, Y. Zhou, B. Kayser, A. Ali, L. Ahonen, S. Lallukka, V. Pelloux, M. Gaggini, C. Jian *et al.*, "Saturated fat is more metabolically harmful for the human liver than unsaturated fat or simple sugars," *Diabetes care*, p. dc180071, 2018.
- [117] R. R. Wolfe, A. M. Cifelli, G. Kostas, and I.-Y. Kim, "Optimizing protein intake in adults: Interpretation and application of the recommended dietary allowance compared with the acceptable macronutrient distribution range-," *Advances in Nutrition*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 266– 275, 2017.



- [118] M. Tieland, J. Beelen, A. C. Laan, S. Poon, L. C. de Groot, E. Seeman, X. Wang, and S. Iuliano, "An even distribution of protein intake daily promotes protein adequacy but does not influence nutritional status in institutionalized elderly," *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 33–39, 2018.
- [119] S. Sahni, K. M. Mangano, D. P. Kiel, K. L. Tucker, and M. T. Hannan, "Dairy intake is protective against bone loss in older vitamin d supplement users: The framingham study-," *The Journal of nutrition*, vol. 147, no. 4, pp. 645–652, 2017.
- [120] R. H. Eckel, J. M. Jakicic, J. D. Ard, J. M. De Jesus, N. H. Miller, V. S. Hubbard, I.-M. Lee, A. H. Lichtenstein, C. M. Loria, B. E. Millen *et al.*, "2013 aha/acc guideline on lifestyle management to reduce cardiovascular risk: a report of the american college of cardiology/american heart association task force on practice guidelines," *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, vol. 63, no. 25 Part B, pp. 2960–2984, 2014.
- [121] L. V. Moore and F. E. Thompson, "Adults meeting fruit and vegetable intake recommendations-united states, 2013." *MMWR. Morbidity and mortality weekly report*, vol. 64, no. 26, pp. 709–713, 2015.
- [122] F. P. Cappuccio and L. D'Elia, "Evaluating population salt reduction programmes worldwide: the risk of cutting corners!" *Public health nutrition*, vol. 21, no. 12, pp. 2161–2163, 2018.
- [123] X. Luta, S. Hayoz, C. G. Krause, K. Sommerhalder, E. Roos, P. Strazzullo, and S. Beer-Borst, "The relationship of health/food literacy and salt awareness to daily sodium and potassium intake among a workplace population in switzerland," *Nutrition, Metabolism* and Cardiovascular Diseases, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 270–277, 2018.
- [124] R. M. Winkels, W. Foo, J. Wiskemann, J. E. Segel, S. Mama, and K. H. Schmitz, "Adherence to lifestyle recommendations regarding physical activity, diet, smoking and bmi in cancer survivors: 2867 board# 150 june 1 2," *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, vol. 50, no. 5S, p. 706, 2018.



- [125] M. Verbiest, E. Brakema, R. van der Kleij, K. Sheals, G. Allistone, S. Williams, A. McEwen, and N. Chavannes, "National guidelines for smoking cessation in primary care: a literature review and evidence analysis," *NPJ primary care respiratory medicine*, vol. 27, no. 1, p. 2, 2017.
- [126] D. of Health, "Uk chief medical officers' low risk drinking guidelines," 2016.
- [127] A. Britton, "Commentary on shield et al.(2017): The concept of 'acceptable risk' of premature mortality," *Addiction*, vol. 112, no. 9, pp. 1545–1546, 2017.
- [128] A. M. Mosadeghrad, "Factors influencing healthcare service quality," *International journal of health policy and management*, vol. 3, no. 2, p. 77, 2014.
- [129] D. G. Manuel, R. Perez, C. Bennett, L. Rosella, M. Taljaard, M. Roberts, R. Sanderson, M. Tuna, P. Tanuseputro, and H. Manson, "Seven more years: the impact of smoking, alcohol, diet, physical activity and stress on health and life expectancy in ontario," 2012.
- [130] M. Ahmad, M. B. Amin, S. Hussain, B. H. Kang, T. Cheong, and S. Lee, "Health fog: a novel framework for health and wellness applications," *The Journal of Supercomputing*, vol. 72, no. 10, pp. 3677–3695, 2016.
- [131] O. Banos, M. B. Amin, W. A. Khan, M. Afzal, M. Hussain, B. H. Kang, and S. Lee, "The mining minds digital health and wellness framework," *Biomedical engineering online*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 165–186, 2016.
- [132] R. Ali, M. Afzal, M. Hussain, M. Ali, M. H. Siddiqi, S. Lee, and B. H. Kang, "Multimodal hybrid reasoning methodology for personalized wellbeing services," *Computers in biology and medicine*, vol. 69, pp. 10–28, 2016.
- [133] M. Afzal, S. I. Ali, R. Ali, M. Hussain, T. Ali, W. A. Khan, M. B. Amin, B. H. Kang, and S. Lee, "Personalization of wellness recommendations using contextual interpretation," *Expert Systems with Applications*, vol. 96, pp. 506–521, 2018.



- [134] J. Hussain, A. U. Hassan, H. S. M. Bilal, R. Ali, M. Afzal, S. Hussain, J. Bang, O. Banos, and S. Lee, "Model-based adaptive user interface based on context and user experience evaluation," *Journal on Multimodal User Interfaces*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 1–16, 2018.
- [135] H. B. Santoso, S. Fadhilah, I. Nurrohmah, and W. H. Goodridge, "The usability and user experience evaluation of web-based online self-monitoring tool: Case study human-computer interaction course," in *User Science and Engineering (i-USEr)*, 2016 4th International Conference on. IEEE, 2016, pp. 122–127.
- [136] M. Schrepp, A. Hinderks, and J. Thomaschewski, "Construction of a benchmark for the user experience questionnaire (ueq)." *IJIMAI*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 40–44, 2017.
- [137] H. B. Santoso, M. Schrepp, R. Isal, A. Y. Utomo, and B. Priyogi, "Measuring user experience of the student-centered e-learning environment." *Journal of Educators Online*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 58–79, 2016.
- [138] M. Schrepp, "User experience questionnaire handbook. all you need to know to apply the ueq successfully in your projects," 2015.
- [139] J. Kim, M. Hyun, I. Chung, and N. Kwak, "Feature fusion for online mutual knowledge distillation," arXiv preprint arXiv:1904.09058, 2019.
- [140] T. Ali, M. Hussain, M. Afzal, W. A. Khan, T. Hur, M. B. Amin, D. Kim, B. H. Kang, and S. Lee, "Clinically harmonized wellness concepts model for health and wellness services," *IEEE Access*, vol. 6, pp. 26660–26674, 2018.
- [141] G. N. Healy, D. W. Dunstan, J. Salmon, E. Cerin, J. E. Shaw, P. Z. Zimmet, and N. Owen,
 "Breaks in sedentary time: beneficial associations with metabolic risk," *Diabetes care*, vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 661–666, 2008.
- [142] D. Katz and S. Meller, "Can we say what diet is best for health?" Annual review of public health, vol. 35, pp. 83–103, 2014.
- [143] E. Kvaavik, G. D. Batty, G. Ursin, R. Huxley, and C. R. Gale, "Influence of individual and combined health behaviors on total and cause-specific mortality in men and women: the



united kingdom health and lifestyle survey," *Archives of internal medicine*, vol. 170, no. 8, pp. 711–718, 2010.

- [144] W. C. Willett, J. P. Koplan, R. Nugent, C. Dusenbury, P. Puska, and T. A. Gaziano, "Prevention of chronic disease by means of diet and lifestyle changes," in *Disease Control Priorities in Developing Countries. 2nd edition*. The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/The World Bank, 2006.
- [145] A. M. Roffarello and L. De Russis, "The race towards digital wellbeing: Issues and opportunities." in *CHI*, 2019, p. 386.
- [146] P. G. Roy, K. K. Jones, P. Martyn-Nemeth, and S. N. Zenk, "Contextual correlates of energydense snack food and sweetened beverage intake across the day in african american women: An application of ecological momentary assessment," *Appetite*, vol. 132, pp. 73–81, 2019.
- [147] E. Magriplis, P. Farajian, D. B. Panagiotakos, G. Risvas, and A. Zampelas, "The relationship between behavioral factors, weight status and a dietary pattern in primary school aged children: the greco study," *Clinical nutrition*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 310–316, 2019.
- [148] O. Bayomy, S. Zaheer, J. S. Williams, G. Curhan, and A. Vaidya, "Disentangling the relationships between the renin–angiotensin–aldosterone system, calcium physiology, and risk for kidney stones," *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, vol. 105, no. 6, p. dgaa123, 2020.
- [149] N. R. Campbell, R. Correa-Rotter, F. P. Cappuccio, J. Webster, D. T. Lackland, B. Neal, and G. A. MacGregor, "Proposed nomenclature for salt intake and for reductions in dietary salt," *The Journal of Clinical Hypertension*, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 247–251, 2015.
- [150] M. Rondanelli, C. Klersy, S. Perna, M. A. Faliva, G. Montorfano, P. Roderi, I. Colombo, P. A. Corsetto, M. Fioravanti, S. B. Solerte *et al.*, "Effects of two-months balanced diet in metabolically healthy obesity: lipid correlations with gender and bmi-related differences," *Lipids in health and disease*, vol. 14, no. 1, p. 139, 2015.



[151] N. Okawa, D. Kuratsune, J. Koizumi, K. Mizuno, Y. Kataoka, and H. Kuratsune, "Application of autonomic nervous function evaluation to job stress screening," *Heliyon*, vol. 5, no. 2, p. e01194, 2019.

145

- [152] P. Schaffran, J. Kleinert, S. Altfeld, C. Zepp, K. W. Kallus, and M. Kellmann, "Early risk detection of burnout: development of the burnout prevention questionnaire for coaches," *Frontiers in psychology*, vol. 10, p. 714, 2019.
- [153] A. M. Mosadeghrad, E. Ferlie, and D. Rosenberg, "A study of relationship between job stress, quality of working life and turnover intention among hospital employees," *Health Services Management Research*, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 170–181, 2011.
- [154] D. H. Peters, M. A. Peters, K. Wickramasinghe, P. L. Osewe, and P. M. Davidson, "Asking the right question: implementation research to accelerate national non-communicable disease responses," *Bmj*, vol. 365, p. 11868, 2019.
- [155] R. Maimone, M. Guerini, M. Dragoni, T. Bailoni, and C. Eccher, "Perkapp: A general purpose persuasion architecture for healthy lifestyles," *Journal of biomedical informatics*, vol. 82, pp. 70–87, 2018.
- [156] S. A. Qureshi, A. Gele, P. Kour, K. A. Møen, B. Kumar, and E. Diaz, "A community-based intervention to increase participation in cervical cancer screening among immigrants in norway," *BMC medical research methodology*, vol. 19, no. 1, p. 147, 2019.
- [157] C. L. Edelman, C. L. Mandle, and E. C. Kudzma, *Health Promotion Throughout the Life Span-E-Book*. Elsevier Health Sciences, 2017.
- [158] H. S. M. Bilal, M. B. Amin, J. Hussain, S. I. Ali, S. Hussain, M. Sadiq, M. A. Razzaq, A. Abbas, C. Choi, and S. Lee, "On computing critical factors based healthy behavior index for behavior assessment," *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, p. 104181, 2020.
- [159] B. Gardner and A. L. Rebar, "Habit formation and behavior change," in Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Psychology, 2019.



- [160] E. van Leer, E. R. Hapner, and N. P. Connor, "Transtheoretical model of health behavior change applied to voice therapy," *Journal of Voice*, vol. 22, no. 6, pp. 688–698, 2008.
- [161] L. P. Gonzalez-Ramirez, J. M. De la Roca-Chiapas, C. Colunga-Rodriguez, M. de Lourdes Preciado-Serrano, A. Daneri-Navarro, F. J. Pedroza-Cabrera, and R. J. Martinez-Arriaga, "Validation of health behavior and stages of change questionnaire," *Breast Cancer: Targets and Therapy*, vol. 9, p. 199, 2017.
- [162] M. Ali, R. Ali, W. A. Khan, S. C. Han, J. Bang, T. Hur, D. Kim, S. Lee, and B. H. Kang, "A data-driven knowledge acquisition system: An end-to-end knowledge engineering process for generating production rules," *IEEE Access*, vol. 6, pp. 15 587–15 607, 2018.
- [163] J. Brooke, "Sus: a "quick and dirty' usability," Usability evaluation in industry, p. 189, 1996.
- [164] J. R. Lewis, "The system usability scale: past, present, and future," International Journal of Human–Computer Interaction, vol. 34, no. 7, pp. 577–590, 2018.
- [165] I. Díaz-Oreiro, G. López, L. Quesada, and L. A. Guerrero, "Standardized questionnaires for user experience evaluation: A systematic literature review," in *Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute Proceedings*, vol. 31, no. 1, 2019, p. 14.
- [166] A. Hinderks, M. Schrepp, F. J. D. Mayo, M. J. Escalona, and J. Thomaschewski, "Developing a ux kpi based on the user experience questionnaire," *Computer Standards & Interfaces*, vol. 65, pp. 38–44, 2019.
- [167] M. Hashemi and J. Herbert, "Baran: an interaction-centred user monitoring framework," in Proceedings of the 2nd International Conference on Physiological Computing Systems, ESEO, Angers, Loire Valley, France, 11-13 February 2015. SCITEPRESS-Science and Technology Publications, Lda, 2015, pp. 52–60.
- [168] L. Hood and M. Flores, "A personal view on systems medicine and the emergence of proactive p4 medicine: predictive, preventive, personalized and participatory," *New biotechnology*, vol. 29, no. 6, pp. 613–624, 2012.



- [169] T. Hafner and J. Shiffman, "The emergence of global attention to health systems strengthening," *Health policy and planning*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 41–50, 2013.
- [170] E. M. Matheson, D. E. King, and C. J. Everett, "Healthy lifestyle habits and mortality in overweight and obese individuals," *The Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine*, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 9–15, 2012.
- [171] M. M. Gillen, C. N. Markey, and P. M. Markey, "An examination of dieting behaviors among adults: Links with depression," *Eating behaviors*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 88–93, 2012.
- [172] W. Demark-Wahnefried and L. W. Jones, "Promoting a healthy lifestyle among cancer survivors," *Hematology/oncology clinics of North America*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 319–342, 2008.
- [173] M. Swan, "Health 2050: The realization of personalized medicine through crowdsourcing, the quantified self, and the participatory biocitizen," *Journal of personalized medicine*, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 93–118, 2012.
- [174] A. C. Powell, A. B. Landman, and D. W. Bates, "In search of a few good apps," *Jama*, vol. 311, no. 18, pp. 1851–1852, 2014.
- [175] O. Banos, C. Villalonga, M. Damas, P. Gloesekoetter, H. Pomares, and I. Rojas, "Physiodroid: Combining wearable health sensors and mobile devices for a ubiquitous, continuous, and personal monitoring," *The Scientific World Journal*, vol. 2014, 2014.
- [176] J. J. Oresko, Z. Jin, J. Cheng, S. Huang, Y. Sun, H. Duschl, and A. C. Cheng, "A wearable smartphone-based platform for real-time cardiovascular disease detection via electrocardiogram processing," *IEEE Transactions on Information Technology in Biomedicine*, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 734–740, 2010.
- [177] C. Gurrin, A. F. Smeaton, and A. R. Doherty, "Lifelogging: Personal big data," *Foundations and trends in information retrieval*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 1–125, 2014.
- [178] F. Zini, M. Reinstadler, and F. Ricci, "Life-logs aggregation for quality of life monitoring," in *Proceedings of the 5th International Conference on Digital Health 2015*, 2015, pp. 131– 132.



- [179] H. Chen and X. Jia, "New requirements and trends of mhealth," in 2012 IEEE 14th International Conference on e-Health Networking, Applications and Services (Healthcom). IEEE, 2012, pp. 27–31.
- [180] K. Elgazzar, M. Aboelfotoh, P. Martin, and H. S. Hassanein, "Ubiquitous health monitoring using mobile web services," *Procedia Computer Science*, vol. 10, pp. 332–339, 2012.
- [181] H.-S. Kim, K.-H. Lee, H. Kim, and J. H. Kim, "Using mobile phones in healthcare management for the elderly," *Maturitas*, vol. 79, no. 4, pp. 381–388, 2014.
- [182] A. Gaggioli, G. Pioggia, G. Tartarisco, G. Baldus, D. Corda, P. Cipresso, and G. Riva,
 "A mobile data collection platform for mental health research," *Personal and Ubiquitous Computing*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 241–251, 2013.
- [183] G. Spina, F. Roberts, J. Weppner, P. Lukowicz, and O. Amft, "Crntc+: A smartphone-based sensor processing framework for prototyping personal healthcare applications," in 2013 7th International Conference on Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare and Workshops. IEEE, 2013, pp. 252–255.
- [184] P. Chen and H. Chen, "Framework design-integrating an android open platform with multiinterface biomedical modules for physiological measurement," *Journal of Convergence Information Technology*, vol. 7, no. 12, pp. 310–319, 2012.
- [185] R. Rawassizadeh, M. Tomitsch, K. Wac, and A. M. Tjoa, "Ubiqlog: a generic mobile phonebased life-log framework," *Personal and ubiquitous computing*, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 621–637, 2013.
- [186] D. Ferreira, V. Kostakos, and A. K. Dey, "Aware: mobile context instrumentation framework," *Frontiers in ICT*, vol. 2, p. 6, 2015.
- [187] C. Dobbins, M. Merabti, P. Fergus, and D. Llewellyn-Jones, "Creating human digital memories with the aid of pervasive mobile devices," *Pervasive and Mobile Computing*, vol. 12, pp. 160–178, 2014.



- [188] T. J. Dwyer, J. A. Alison, Z. J. McKeough, M. R. Elkins, and P. T. P. Bye, "Evaluation of the sensewear activity monitor during exercise in cystic fibrosis and in health," *Respiratory medicine*, vol. 103, no. 10, pp. 1511–1517, 2009.
- [189] G. J. Almeida, M. C. M. Wasko, K. Jeong, C. G. Moore, and S. R. Piva, "Physical activity measured by the sensewear armband in women with rheumatoid arthritis," *Physical therapy*, vol. 91, no. 9, pp. 1367–1376, 2011.
- [190] S. Hodges, L. Williams, E. Berry, S. Izadi, J. Srinivasan, A. Butler, G. Smyth, N. Kapur, and K. Wood, "Sensecam: A retrospective memory aid," in *International Conference on Ubiquitous Computing*. Springer, 2006, pp. 177–193.
- [191] S. McCarthy, P. McKevitt, M. McTear, and H. Sayers, "Memorylane: An intelligent mobile companion for elderly users," in *Proc. of the 7th Information Technology & Telecommunication Conference: Digital Convergence in a Knowledge Society (IT&T 2007).* Technological University Dublin, 2007, pp. 72–82.
- [192] H. Lee, A. F. Smeaton, N. E. O'connor, G. Jones, M. Blighe, D. Byrne, A. Doherty, and C. Gurrin, "Constructing a sensecam visual diary as a media process," *Multimedia Systems*, vol. 14, no. 6, pp. 341–349, 2008.
- [193] P. Kelly, A. Doherty, E. Berry, S. Hodges, A. M. Batterham, and C. Foster, "Can we use digital life-log images to investigate active and sedentary travel behaviour? results from a pilot study," *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 1–9, 2011.
- [194] M. Blum, A. Pentland, and G. Troster, "Insense: Interest-based life logging," *IEEE Multi-Media*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 40–48, 2006.
- [195] O. Banos, M. B. Amin, W. A. Khan, M. Afzel, M. Ahmad, M. Ali, T. Ali, R. Ali, M. Bilal, M. Han *et al.*, "An innovative platform for person-centric health and wellness support," in *International Conference on Bioinformatics and Biomedical Engineering*. Springer, 2015, pp. 131–140.



- [196] J. Gonzalez-Sanchez, J. I. Recio-Rodriguez, A. Fernandez-delRio, A. Sanchez-Perez, J. F. Magdalena-Belio, M. A. Gomez-Marcos, L. Garcia-Ortiz *et al.*, "Using a smartphone app in changing cardiovascular risk factors: A randomized controlled trial (evident ii study)," *International journal of medical informatics*, vol. 125, pp. 13–21, 2019.
- [197] A. Arrogi, A. Bogaerts, J. Seghers, K. Devloo, V. Vanden Abeele, L. Geurts, J. Wauters, and F. Boen, "Evaluation of stapp: a smartphone-based intervention to reduce prolonged sitting among belgian adults," *Health promotion international*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 16–27, 2019.
- [198] E. Brindal, G. A. Hendrie, J. Freyne, and M. Noakes, "A mobile phone app designed to support weight loss maintenance and well-being (motimate): randomized controlled trial," *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, vol. 7, no. 9, p. e12882, 2019.
- [199] C. G. Dunn, G. M. Turner-McGrievy, S. Wilcox, and B. Hutto, "Dietary self-monitoring through calorie tracking but not through a digital photography app is associated with significant weight loss: The 2smart pilot study—a 6-month randomized trial," *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, vol. 119, no. 9, pp. 1525–1532, 2019.
- [200] N. B. Baskerville, L. L. Struik, G. E. Guindon, C. D. Norman, R. Whittaker, C. Burns, D. Hammond, D. Dash, and K. S. Brown, "Effect of a mobile phone intervention on quitting smoking in a young adult population of smokers: randomized controlled trial," *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, vol. 6, no. 10, p. e10893, 2018.
- [201] D. Crane, H. K. Ubhi, J. Brown, and R. West, "Relative effectiveness of a full versus reduced version of the 'smoke free' mobile application for smoking cessation: An exploratory randomised controlled trial," *F1000Research*, vol. 7, 2018.
- [202] N. Kliemann, H. Croker, F. Johnson, and R. J. Beeken, "Development of the top tips habitbased weight loss app and preliminary indications of its usage, effectiveness, and acceptability: mixed-methods pilot study," *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, vol. 7, no. 5, p. e12326, 2019.



Appendix A

List of Acronyms

Acronyms

In alphabetical order:

- AI Adaptive Interventions
- ATT Attractiveness
- AUQ Alcohol Urges Questionnaire
- **BCT** Behavior Change Techniques
- **BI** Behavioral Informatics
- BMI Basel Metabolic Index
- CH Connected Health
- CoFID Composition of Foods Integrated Dataset
- CT Control Theory
- DCL Data Curation Layer
- FFQ Food Frequency Quentionnaire
- FIT Feedback Intervention Theory
- HBAI Health Behavior Adaptation Intervention
- HBI Healthy Behavior Index



Hee Univ

HBSCQ Health Behavior Stage Change Questionnaire

- HLCA High-Level Context-Awareness
- HQ Hedonic Quality
- ICL Information Curation Layer
- ICT Information And Communication Technologies
- IMB Information Motivation Behavioral Skills Model

IoT Internet-of-Thing

- IPAQ International Physical Activity Questionnaire
- JIT Just-In-Time
- JITAI Just-In-Time Adaptive Intervention
- JSON JavaScript Object Notation
- KCL Knowledge Curation Layer
- LLCA Low-Level Context-Awareness

Hee Mniv

- MET Metabolic Equivalent Task
- **MM** Mining Minds
- MPoRT Mortality Population Risk Tool
- NCDs Non-Communicable Chronic Diseases
- NDNS National Diet and Nutrition Survey
- **OC** Operant Conditioning
- PA Physiocal Activity
- PAG Physical Activity Guidelines



PQ Pragmatic Quality

PRISMA Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses

's Hee Unive

SCL Service Curation Layer

SCogT Social-Cognitive Theory

SRHI Self Report Habit Index

TPB Theory of Planned Behavior

TRA Theory of Reasoned Action

TTM Transtheoretical Model

UCAI User Centric Adaptive Intervention

UEQ User Experience Questionnaire

UX User eXperience

WHO World Health Organization





Appendix **B**

List of Publications

B.1 International Journal Papers [12]

- 1 Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, Muhammad Bilal Amin, Jamil Hussain, Syed Imran Ali, Shujaat Hussain, Muhammad Sadiq, Muhammad Asif Razzaq, Asim Abbas, Chunho Choi and Sungyoung Lee, "On computing critical factors based healthy behavior index for behavior assessment", *International Journal of Medical Informatics*(SCI, IF:2.731), Vol.141, pp.1-13, 2020.
- 2 Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, Muhammad Bilal Amin, Jamil Hussain, Syed Imran Ali, Muahmmad Asif Razzaq, Musarrat Hussain, Asim Abbas Turi, Gwang Hoon Park, Sun Moo Kang, and Sungyoung Lee, "Towards User-Centric Intervention Adaptiveness: Influencing Behavior-Context based Healthy Lifestyle Interventions", *IEEE Access* (SCIE, IF: 3.745), Vol.8, pp.177156-177179, 2020.
- 3 Syed Imran Ali, **Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal**, Musarrat Hussain, Jamil Hussain, Fahad Ahmed Sati, Maqbool Hussain, Gwang Hoon Park, TaeChoog Chung and Sungyoung Lee, "Ensemble feature ranking for cost-based non-overlapping groups: A case study of chronic kidney disease diagnosis in developing countries", *IEEE Access* (SCIE, IF:3.745), Accepted, 2020.
- 4 Syed Imran Ali, Bilal Ali, Jamil Hussain, Musarrat Hussain, Fahad Ahmed Satti, Gwang Hoon Park and Sungyoung Lee, "Cost-sensitive Ensemble Feature Ranking and Automatic Threshold Selection for Chronic Kidney Disease Diagnosis", *Applied Sciences* (SCIE, IF:2.474), Vol.10, No.16, pp.1-25, 2020.



- 5 Muhammad Asif Razzaq, Javier Medina Quero, Ian Cleland, Chris Nugent, Usman Akhtar, Hafiz Syed Bilal Ali, Ubaid Ur Rehman and Sungyoung Lee, "uMoDT: An unobtrusive Multi-occupant Detection and Tracking using robust Kalman filter for real-time activity recognition", *Multimedia Systems* (SCI, IF:1.956), Vol. 26, No.5, pp.553-569, 2020.
- 6 Jamil Hussain, Fahad Ahmed Satti, Wajahat Ali Khan, Muhammad Afzal, Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, Muhammad Zaki Ansaar, Hafiz Farooq Ahmad, Taeho Hur, Jaehun Bang, Jee-In Kim, Gwang Hoon Park, Hyonwoo Seung, and Sungyoung Lee, "Exploring the dominant features of social media for depression detection", *Journal of Information Science* (SCIE, IF: 2.327), DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/0165551519860469, 2019.
- 7 Maqbool Ali, Soyeon Caren Han, Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, Sungyoung Lee, Matthew Jee Yun Kang, Byeong Ho Kang, Muhammad Asif Razzaq, and Muhammad Bilal Amin, "iCBLS: An Interactive Case-Based Learning System for Medical Education", *International Journal of Medical Informatics* (SCI, IF:3.287), Vol.109, pp.55–69, 2018.
- 8 Jamil Hussain, Anees Ul Hassan, Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, Muhammad Afzal, Shujaat Hussain, Jaehun Bang, Oresti Banos and Sungyoung Lee, "Model-based adaptive user interface based on context and user experience evaluation", *Journal on Multimodal User Interfaces* (SCIE, IF: 1.031), Vol.12, Issue 1, pp.1-16, 2018.
- 9 Jamil Hussain, Wajahat Ali Khan, Taeho Hur, Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, Jaehun Bang, Anees Ul Hassan, Muhammad Afzal and Sungyoung Lee, "A Multimodal Deep Log-Based User Experience (UX) Platform for UX Evaluation", *Sensors* (SCIE, IF:2.677), Vol.18, Issue 5, pp.1-31, 2018.
- 10 Maqbool Ali, Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, Muhammad Asif Razzaq, Jawad Khan, Sungyoung Lee, Muhammad Idris, Mohammad Aazam, Taebong Choi, Soyeon Caren Han, and Byeong Ho Kang, "IoTFLiP: IoT-based Flip Learning Platform for Medical Education", *Digital Communications and Networks* (ESCI, Elsevier), Vol.3, pp.188–194, 2017.
- 11 Muhammad Bilal Amin, Oresti Banos, Wajahat Ali Khan, Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, Jinhyuk Gong, Dinh-Mao Bui, Soung Ho Cho, Shujaat Hussain, Taqdir Ali, Usman Akhtar,



Tae Choong Chung and Sungyoung Lee, "On Curating Multimodal Sensory Data for Health and Wellness Platforms", *Sensors* (SCIE, IF: 2.033), vol. 16,no. 7, doi:10.3390/s16070980, 2016.

12 Muhammad Idris, ShujaatHussain, Muhammad Hameed Siddiqi, Waseem Hassan, Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal and Sungyoung Lee, "MRPack: Multi-Algorithm Execution Using Compute-Intensive Approach in MapReduce", *PLoS One*(SCIE, IF:3.234), Vol.10, No.8, DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0136259, 2015.

B.2 Domestic Journal Paper [4]

- 1 이상호, 정수응, Syed Imran Ali, Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, 김영신, 이승룡, "만성 콩 팥병-미네랄 뼈질환 환자 치료를 위한 의사결정 시스템", 한국통신학회지(정보와통신), Vol.37(9), pp.40-46, 2020.
- 2 장동진, Ubaid Ur Rehman, 정윤혜, Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, 이승룡, "자연어처리 기반 진화형 임상의사 결정지원시스템: 녹내장 진단 사례연구", 한국통신학회지(정보와 통신), Vol.37(9), pp.34-39, (2020).
- 3 Wajahat Ali Khan, Syed Imran Ali, Muhammad Bilal Ali, Shujaat Hussain, 허태호, 이 승룡, "헬스케어 표준 상호운용 성", 한국통신학회지(정보와통신), Vol.35(2), pp.73-84, 2018.
- 4 Muhammad Bilal Amin, Wajahat Ali Khan, **Bilal Ali Rizvi**, 방재훈, Taqdir Ali, 허태호, Shujaat Hussain, , Imran Ali, 김도형 , 이승룡 "헬스 및 웰니스 플랫폼: 서비스 및 가용 기술에 관한 연구", *정보과학회지*, Vol.35(7), pp.9-25, 2017.

B.3 International Conference Papers [18]

 Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, Usman Akhtar, Asim Abbas, Muhammad Asif Razzaq, Ubaid Ur Rehman, Jamil Hussain, Sunmoo Kang, Sungyoung Lee, Seong-Bae Park "CbI-M: Context-based Intervention Methodology for Rehabilitation of Persons with NCDs",



The 15th International Conference on Ubiquitous Information Management and Communication (IMCOM 2021), Seoul, Korea, Jan 4-6, 2021.

- 2 Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, Usman Akhtar, Shin Won Chul and Sungyoung Lee, "Just in time Intervention for Personalized Healthcare: Behavior- Context based Intervention Adaptation", *The 34th International Conference on Information Networking (ICOIN 2020)*, Barcelona, Spain, Jan 7-10, 2020.
- 3 Usman Akhtar, Jong Won Lee, **Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal**, Taqdir Ali, Wajahat Ali Khan and Sungyoung Lee, "The Impact of Big Data In Healthcare Analytics", *The 34th International Conference on Information Networking (ICOIN 2020)*, Barcelona, Spain , 7-10 Jan, 2020.
- 4 Fahad Ahmed Satti, Jamil Hussain, Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, Wajahat Ali Khan, Asad Masood Khattak, Ju Eun Yeon, Sungyoung Lee, "Holistic User eXperience in Mobile Augmented Reality Using User eXperience Measurement Index", *Next Generation Computing Applications* 2019, Mauritius, Sept. 19-21, 2019.
- 5 Bilal, Hafiz Syed Muhammad, and Sungyoung Lee. "Right Intervention at Right Time to Right Person for Healthy Behavior Adaptation (poster)." Proceedings of the *17th Annual International Conference on Mobile Systems, Applications, and Services.* 2019.
- 6 Abbas, Asim, Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, and Sungyoung Lee. "Smartphone Based Wellness Application for Healthy Lifestyle Promotion (poster)." Proceedings of the 17th Annual International Conference on Mobile Systems, Applications, and Services. 2019.
- 7 Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, Asad Masood Khattak and Sungyoung Lee, "A journey from Cure to Care- Wellness management for healthy lifestyle: Diabetes management a case study", *APAN-RW 2019*, Putrajaya, Malaysia, July 22-26, 2019.
- 8 Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, Muhammad Asif Razzaq, Muhammad Bilal Amin and Sungyoung Lee, "Context-Based Lifelog Monitoring for Just-in-Time Wellness Intervention", 16th International Conference On Smart homes and health Telematics (ICOST 2018), Singapore, Singapore, July 10-12, 2018.



- 9 Muhammad Sadiq, Muhammad Bilal Amin, Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, Musarrat Hussain, Anees Ul Hassan and Sungyoung Lee, "LogMap-P: On matching ontologies in parallel", 12th International Conference on Ubiquitous Information Management and Communication (IMCOM 2018), Langkawi, Malaysia, Jan 5-7, 2018.
- 10 Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, and Sungyoung Lee, "Integration of Transtheoretical model with wellness Big Data for healthy behavior assessment to adoption", *The 8th International Conference on ICT Convergence (ICTC 2017)*, Jeju Island, Korea, Oct 18-20, 2017.
- 11 Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, Wajahat Ali Khan and Sungyoung Lee, "Unhealthy dietary behavior based user life-log monitoring for wellness services", 15th International Conference On Smart homes and health Telematics (ICOST 2017), Paris, France, Aug 29-31, 2017
- 12 Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, and Sungyoung Lee, "Healthy Lifestyle Induction using Fogg Behavior Model", 39th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC 2017), Jeju island, Korea, July 11-15, 2017.
- 13 Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, and Sungyoung Lee, "Data Curation Layer for Wellness Platforms", 2016 International Symposium on Perception, Action and Cognitive Systems (PACS), Seoul, Korea, Oct 27-28, 2016.
- 14 Bilal Hafiz Syed Muhammad, Asad Masood Khattak and Sungyoung Lee, "Sedentary Behavior-Based User Life-Log Monitoring for Wellness Services", 14th International Conference on Smart Homes and Health Telematics (ICOST). Inclusive Smart Cities and Digital Health, pp.283-292, Wuhan, China, May 25-27, 2016.
- 15 Wajahat Ali Khan, Muhammad Bilal Amin, Oresti Banos, Taqdir Ali, Maqbool Hussain, Muhammad Afzal, Shujaat Hussain, Jamil Hussain, Rahman Ali, Maqbool Ali, Dongwook Kang, Jaehun Bang, Tae Ho Hur, **Bilal Ali**, Muhammad Idris, Asif Razzaq, Sungyoung Lee and Byeong Ho Kang, "Mining Minds: Journey of Evolutionary Platform for Ubiquitous Wellness", *12th International Conference on Ubiquitous Healthcare (u-Healthcare 2015)*, Osaka, Japan, Nov 30- Dec 2, 2015.



- 16 Maqbool Ali, Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, Jamil Hussain, Sungyoung Lee and Byeong Ho Kang, "An Interactive Case-Based Flip Learning Tool for Medical Education", 13th Internation Conference On Smart homes and health Telematics: Inclusive Smart Cities and e-Health (ICOST 2015), Geneva, Switzerland, June 10-12, 2015.
- 17 Oresti Banos, Muhammad Bilal Amin, Wajahat Ali Khan, Muhammad Afzel, Mahmood Ahmad, Maqbool Ali, Taqdir Ali, Rahman Ali, **Muhammad Bilal**, Manhyung Han, Jamil Hussain, Maqbool Hussain, Shujaat Hussain, Tae Ho Hur, Jae Hun Bang, Thien Huynh-The, Muhammad Idris, Dong Wook Kang, Sang Beom Park, Hameed Siddiqui, Le-Ba Vui, Muhammad Fahim, Asad Masood Khattak, Byeong Ho Kang and Sungyoung Lee, "An Innovative Platform for Person-Centric Health and Wellness Support", *3rd International Work-Conference on Bioinformatics and Biomedical Engineering (IWBBIO 2015)*, Granada, Spain, April 15-17, 2015.
- 18 Hussain, Jamil, Maqbool Ali, Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, Muhammad Afzal, Hafiz Farooq Ahmad, Oresti Banos, and Sungyoung Lee. "SNS based predictive model for depression." *In International Conference on Smart Homes and Health Telematics*, pp. 349-354. Springer, Cham, 2015.

B.4 Domestic Conference Papers [5]

- 1 Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, Seoungae Kim, Sungyoung Lee, "Personalization and Adaptation in Lifestyle Intervention for Chronic Disease Management", In *Korea Computer Congress*, 206-208, 2020.
- 2 Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, Sungyoung Lee, "MF-HBI: Multi-Factors based Lifelog monitoring for Healthy Behavior Intervention", In *Korea Computer Congress*, 461-463, 2018.
- 3 Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, Sungyoung Lee, "Intimation based Life-log monitoring for unhealthy diet and physical activities", In *Korea Computer Congress*, 405-407, 2016.



- 4 Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, Sungyoung Lee, "Health Prediction on Sedentary Lifestyle through IoT", In *Korea Computer Congress*, 523-525, 2015.
- 5 Hafiz Syed Muhammad Bilal, Muhammad Asif Razzaq, Sungyoung Lee, "Election Prediction on Basis of Sentimental Analysis in 3rd World Countries", In *Proceedings of the Korea Information Processing Society Conference*, 928-931, 2014.

B.5 Patents [6]

- Sungyoung Lee, Bilal Hafiz Syed Muhammad, "사용자 건강 상태 제공 방법 및 장치", 출원인: 경희대학교 산학협력단, Registration No. 1021666700000, 2020년 10월 12일.
- 2 Sungyoung Lee, Bilal Hafiz Syed Muhammad, "적응적 개입을 위한 행동 상황 기반 생활 방식 모니터링", *출원인: 경희대학교 산학협력단*, 출원번호: 10-2020-0125102, 2020년 09 월 25일
- 3 Sungyoung Lee, Bilal Hafiz Syed Muhammad, "METHOD AND DEVICE FOR PRO-VIDING USER HEALTH STATUS", International Patent Application No. 16/422,788, May 24, 2019
- 4 Sungyoung Lee, **Bilal Hafiz Syed Muhammad**, "행동 추적을 위한 색인 방법", *출원인: 경희대학교 산학협력단*, 출원번호: 10-2018-0061516, 2018년 5월 30일
- 5 Sungyoung Lee, **Bilal Hafiz Syed Muhammad**, "사용자 활동을 모델링하는 방법, 장치 및 컴퓨터 프로그램", *출원인: 경희대학교 산학협력단*, 출원번호: 10-2017-0165588, 2017년 12월 5일
- 6 Sungyoung Lee, Bilal Hafiz Syed Muhammad, "사용자 맞춤형 건강 관리 서비스 제공 방법, 장치 및 컴퓨터 프로그램", 출원인: 경희대학교 산학협력단, 출원번호: 10-2016-0140848, 2016년 10월 27일

